REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JUNE 30, 2011 TO OCTOBER 30, 2011

Last amendment in force on June 30, 2011
This document has official status

c.V-1.1,r.24
REGULATION 51-102 RESPECTING CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS

Securities Act q/Q

(R.S.Q., c. V-1.1, s. 331.1)

PART 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION Qg‘
1.1. Definitions and Interpretation &O@
Q) In this Regulation: O

"acquisition date" has the same meaning as in@ issuer's GAAP;

"AlIF" means a completed Form 51-102R Annual Information Form or, in the
case of an SEC issuer, a completed Form aIN02F2 or an annual report or transition
report under the 1934 Act on Form 10-K oK 20-F;

"approved rating organization" Ns each of DBRS Limited, Fitch Ratings Ltd.,
Moody's Investors Service, Stand@ oor's and any of their successors;

"asset-backed security’ Xeans a security that is primarily serviced by the cash
flows of a discrete pool of tgages, receivables or other financial assets, fixed or
revolving, that by their s convert into cash within a finite period and any rights or

other assets designe@ assure the servicing or the timely distribution of proceeds to
securityholders; Q.

"board irectors” means, for a person that does not have a board of directors,
an individ:ig@ roup that acts in a capacity similar to a board of directors;

'@lness acquisition report" means a completed Form 51-102F4 Business
Acquition Report;

\ "class" includes a series of a class;

"common share” means an equity security to which are attached voting rights
exercisable in all circumstances, irrespective of the number or percentage of securities
owned, that are not less, per security, than the voting rights attached to any other
outstanding securities of the reporting issuer;



"date of transition to IFRS" means the date of transition to IFRSs as that term is
defined in Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

"electronic format" has the same meaning as in Regulation 13-101 respecting
System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) (c. V-1.1, r. 2);

"equity investee" means a business that the issuer has invested |r}\éqd
accounted for using the equity method;

"exchange-traded security” means a security that is listed on Qcognlzed
exchange or is quoted on a recognized quotation and trade reporting sy or is listed
on an exchange or quoted on a quotation and trade reporting syste IS recognized
for the purposes of Regulation 21-101 respecting Marketplace Op n(c. V-1.1, r. 5)
and Regulation 23-101 respecting Trading Rules (c. V-1.1, r. 6)0@

"executive officer" means, for a reporting issuer, an pdiNdual who is
(@) achair, vice-chair or president; O

(b)  a vice-president in charge of a prlr}\p busmess unit, division or function
including sales, finance or production; or

(c) performing a policy-making flﬂoﬂon in respect of the issuer;

4
"financial outlook™ means foer&ooking information about prospective financial
performance, financial position o %h flows that is based on assumptions about future
economic conditions and cour %} action and that is not presented in the format of a
historical statement of fin@ position, statement of comprehensive income or
statement of cash flows;

“financial sta@@vts" includes interim financial reports;

"first IF %nancial statements” has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP
applicable t cly accountable enterprises;

ﬁ or "future-oriented financial information”, means forward-looking
infor bout prospective financial performance, financial position or cash flows,

d on assumptions about future economic conditions and courses of action, and
pNsented in the format of a historical statement of financial position, statement of
comprehensive income or statement of cash flows;

"form of proxy" means a document containing the information required under
section 9.4 that, on completion and execution by or on behalf of a securityholder,
becomes a proxy;



"forward-looking information" means disclosure regarding possible events,
conditions or financial performance that is based on assumptions about future economic
conditions and courses of action and includes future-oriented financial information with
respect to prospective financial performance, financial position or cash flows that is
presented either as a forecast or a projection;

"information circular" means a completed Form 51-102F5 Information Circular';\
03"

(b)  adirector or executive officer of a person that is itself aQ.n,formed person
or subsidiary of a reporting issuer; @Q/

"informed person” means

(&) adirector or executive officer of a reporting issuer;

(c) any person who beneficially owns, or contr Or directs, directly or
indirectly, voting securities of a reporting issuer or a combpaten of both carrying more
than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstagfd voting securities of the
reporting issuer other than voting securities held by th&fperson as underwriter in the
course of a distribution; and &

(d)  a reporting issuer that has purq@ed, redeemed or otherwise acquired
any of its securities, for so long as it holds ?,93 its securities;

"inter-dealer bond broker" meai®\a person that is approved by the Investment
Industry Regulatory Organization o@mada under its Rule 36 Inter-Dealer Bond
Brokerage Systems, as amende is subject to its Rule 36 and its Rule 2100 Inter-
Dealer Bond Brokerage Syste\r%s amended;

"interim period” m n>,

@) in the of a year other than a non-standard year or a transition year, a
period commencj the first day of the financial year and ending 9, 6 or 3 months
before the endof (e financial year;

(a.qgr? the case of a non-standard year, a period commencing on the first day
of the Q cial year and ending within 22 days of the date that is 9, 6 or 3 months
befoer end of the financial year; or

\é (b) in the case of a transition year, a period commencing on the first day of
the transition year and ending

) 3, 6, 9 or 12 months, if applicable, after the end of the old financial
year; or



(i) 12, 9, 6 or 3 months, if applicable, before the end of the transition
year;

"issuer's GAAP" has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (c. V-1.1, r. 25);

"MD&A" means a completed Form 51-102F1 Management's Discussion &
Analysis or, in the case of an SEC issuer, a completed Form 51-102RINor
management's discussion and analysis prepared in accordance with Itemegﬁ of
Regulation S-K under the 1934 Act;

"marketplace" means (bQ K

(@) anexchange; Q/Q‘
X

(b)  aquotation and trade reporting system; &
(c) any other person that OC)

0] constitutes, maintains or prow’{@a market or facility for bringing
together buyers and sellers of securities; N

(i) brings together the o c@;s\for securities of multiple buyers and
sellers; and }1/

orders interact with each other, e buyers and sellers entering the orders agree to
the terms of a trade; or 0

4
(i)  uses establisgeﬁbgnon-discretionary methods under which the

(d)  adealer tha egcutes a trade of an exchange-traded security outside of a
marketplace, but does clude an inter-dealer bond broker;

"material ¢ " means

(@) @%ﬁange in the business, operations or capital of the reporting issuer that
would re ly be expected to have a significant effect on the market price or value
of any securities of the reporting issuer; or

b)  adecision to implement a change referred to in paragraph (a) made by the
bSNd of directors or other persons acting in a similar capacity or by senior management
of the reporting issuer who believe that confirmation of the decision by the board of
directors or any other persons acting in a similar capacity is probable;

"material contract” means any contract that an issuer or any of its subsidiaries is
a party to, that is material to the issuer;



"mineral project" has the same meaning as in Regulation 43-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (c. V-1.1, r. 15);

"new financial year" means the financial year of a reporting issuer that immediately
follows a transition year;

"non-standard year" means a financial year, other than a transition year, that
does not have 365 days, or 366 days if it includes February 29; N

"non-voting security” means a restricted security that does not carry t ht to
vote generally, except for a right to vote that is mandated, in special circuqstances, by
law;

"old financial year" means the financial year of a reé';g issuer that
immediately precedes a transition year;

"operating income" means gross revenue minus royéﬁ&xpenses and production

costs; O

"preference share" means a security to whj @ attached a preference or right
over the securities of any class of equity securities & the reporting issuer, but does not
include an equity security; N

"principal obligor" means, for an as acked security, a person that is obligated
to make payments, has guaranteed pa{Mz\ents, or has provided alternative credit support
for payments, on financial assets,t represent one-third or more of the aggregate
amount owing on all of the finan'é sets servicing the asset-backed security;

"private enterprise” r§he same meaning as in Part 3 of Regulation 52-107
respecting Acceptable A@ ing Principles and Auditing Standards;

"profit or Ios@utable to owners of the parent" has the same meaning as in
Canadian GAAP ICable to publicly accountable enterprises;

"profi %efss from continuing operations attributable to owners of the parent” has
the same ing as in Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;
/PrOxy" means a completed and executed form of proxy by which a

s%it holder has appointed a person as the securityholder's nominee to attend and act
fO¥e securityholder and on the securityholder's behalf at a meeting of securityholders;

"publicly accountable enterprise” has the same meaning as in Part 3 of
Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing
Standards;



"recognized exchange" means

€) in Ontario, an exchange recognized by the securities regulatory authority
to carry on business as a stock exchange;

(a.1) in Québec, a person authorized by the securities regulatory authority to
carry on business as an exchange; and N

(b) in every other jurisdiction, an exchange recognized by the s ies
regulatory authority as an exchange, self-regulatory organization or self- atory
body, or a legal person, a partnership or any other entity authorized by securities
regulatory authority to carry on securities trading in accordance securities

legislation;
&

"recognized quotation and trade reporting system" mean @

€) in every jurisdiction other than British Colupai®, a quotation and trade
reporting system recognized by the securities regul uthority under securities
legislation to carry on business as a quotation and tre@ orting system; and

(b) in British Columbia, a quotation an&tr e reporting system recognized by
the securities regulatory authority under secuy’(e legislation as a quotation and trade
reporting system or as an exchange; Q

"restricted security” means an @it,y security of a reporting issuer, if any of the
following apply:

(@) there is another %55 of securities of the reporting issuer that, to a
reasonable person, appearss arry a greater number of votes per security relative to
the equity security;

(b) the c ns attached to the class of equity securities, the conditions
attached to anot ss of securities of the reporting issuer, or the reporting issuer’'s
constating docgmewts have provisions that nullify or, to a reasonable person, appear to
significantly &t the voting rights of the equity securities; or

@ the reporting issuer has issued another class of equity securities that, to a
reas%& e person, appears to entitle the owners of securities of that other class to
padipate in the earnings or assets of the reporting issuer to a greater extent, on a per
suQurity basis, than the owners of the first class of equity securities;

"restricted security term" means each of the terms "non-voting security”,
"subordinate voting security" and "restricted voting security";



"restricted voting security" means a restricted security that carries a right to vote
subject to a restriction on the number or percentage of securities that may be voted by
one or more persons, unless the restriction is

€) permitted or prescribed by statute; and
(b) is applicable only to persons that are not citizens or residents of Canada

or that are otherwise considered as a result of any law applicable to the reporting K%er
to be non-Canadians; (19

o

(&) areverse takeover; Q.

“"restructuring transaction" means

(b)  an amalgamation, merger, arrangement or reorgarni n;

(c) a transaction or series of transactions i@ing a reporting issuer
acquiring assets and issuing securities that results in O

0] new securityholders owning 9§®1trolling more than 50% of the
reporting issuer’s outstanding voting securities; e}@l

N

(i) a new person, a new Pination of persons acting together, the
vendors of the assets, or new managemen

4
(A) being a Igbgmaterially affect the control of the reporting

issuer; or
(B) h; g more than 20% of the outstanding voting securities

of the reporting issuer, waleds there is evidence showing that the holding of those
securities does not m@y affect the control of the reporting issuer; and

(d) any& transaction similar to the transactions listed in paragraphs (a) to
(c), but does INclude a subdivision, consolidation, or other transaction that does not
alter a secur der’s proportionate interest in the issuer and the issuer’s proportionate
interest inA sets;

'Qrospective" has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to
p@l accountable enterprises;
N\

"retrospectively” has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to
publicly accountable enterprises;



"reverse takeover" means

(&) areverse acquisition, which has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP
applicable to publicly accountable enterprises; or

(b) a transaction where an issuer acquires a person by which the
securityholders of the acquired person, at the time of the transaction, obtain "control" of
the issuer, where, for purposes of this paragraph, control has the same meaning ANin
Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises; Q'\

"reverse takeover acquiree" means the legal parent in a reverse takﬂe‘r;
"reverse takeover acquirer" means the legal subsidiary in a rev@e akeover;

"SEC issuer" means an issuer that @

€) has a class of securities registered under se é\lz of the 1934 Act or is
required to file reports under section 15(d) of the 1934 A

(b) is not registered or required to be rg%:l@red as an investment company
under the Investment Company Act of 1940 of ¥e United States of America, as
amended; y\

"solicit", in connection with a proxy, @des
4
@) requesting a proxy Werber or not the request is accompanied by or
included in a form of proxy; 5

(b) requesting a s@\yholder to execute or not to execute a form of proxy or
to revoke a proxy;

(c) sendi rm of proxy or other communication to a securityholder under
circumstances th %3 reasonable person will likely result in the giving, withholding or

revocation of % y; or

(d) nding a form of proxy to a securityholder by management of a reporting
|ssuer

%ut does not include
NS

(e) sending a form of proxy to a securityholder in response to a unsolicited
request made by or on behalf of the securityholder;

() performing ministerial acts or professional services on behalf of a person
soliciting a proxy;



() sending, by an intermediary as defined in Regulation 54-101 respecting
Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(c. V-1.1, r. 29), of the documents referred to in that regulation;

(h)  soliciting by a person in respect of securities of which the person is the
beneficial owner;

0] publicly announcing, by a securityholder, how the securityholder interR%\Io
vote and the reasons for that decision, if that public announcement is made by Q

0] a speech in a public forum; or Q"

(i) a press release, an opinion, a statement or advertisement
provided through a broadcast medium or by a telephonic, tronic or other
communication facility, or appearing in a newspaper, a magazi other publication

generally available to the public; &

(), communicating for the purposes of obtaﬁ)the number of securities
required for a securityholder proposal under the laws which the reporting issuer is
incorporated, organized or continued or under){ porting issuer’s constating or
establishing documents; or N

(k) communicating, other than '}olicitation by or on behalf of the
management of the reporting issuer, to sec{btyholders in the following circumstances:

4
0] by one or mor é@g%ityholders concerning the business and affairs
of the reporting issuer, inclu ';%/its management or proposals contained in a
management information circu nd no form of proxy is sent to those securityholders
by the securityholder or s yholders making the communication or by a person
acting on their behalf, unlggs#he communication is made by

a securityholder who is an officer or director of the reporting
issuer if the com cation is financed directly or indirectly by the reporting issuer;

nominee ection as a director, if the communication relates to the election of

SQ/ (B) a securityholder who is a nominee or who proposes a
director
(C) a securityholder whose communication is in opposition to an
aNslgamation, arrangement, consolidation or other transaction recommended or
approved by the board of directors of the reporting issuer and who is proposing or
intends to propose an alternative transaction to which the securityholder or an affiliate or
associate of the securityholder is a party;

(D) a securityholder who, because of a material interest in the
subject-matter to be voted on at a securityholder’'s meeting, is likely to receive a benefit



from its approval or non-approval, which benefit would not be shared pro rata by all
other holders of the same class of securities, unless the benefit arises from the
securityholder’'s employment with the reporting issuer; or

(E) any person acting on behalf of a securityholder described in
any of clauses (A) to (D);

(i) by one or more securityholders and concerns the organizatiop\sbia
dissident’s proxy solicitation, and no form of proxy is sent to those securityho@;lr
the securityholder or securityholders making the communication or by a per%h. cting
on their behalf; Q N

or proxy voting advice in the ordinary course of business and c ns proxy voting

advice if
@)

(A) the person discloses to the SEZ ityholder any significant

(i)  as clients, by a person who gives financial, cacga,le governance

relationship with the reporting issuer and any of its affili with a securityholder who
has submitted a matter to the reporting issuer that th rityholder intends to raise at
the meeting of securityholders and any material in r@s the person has in relation to a
matter on which advice is given;

(B)  the person rece '\ny special commission or remuneration
for giving the proxy voting advice onIy m the securityholder or securityholders
receiving the advice; and

(C) the pr. oting advice is not given on behalf of any person
soliciting proxies or on behalf minee for election as a director; or

(iv) bya ebon who does not seek directly or indirectly the power to
act as a proxyholder f@curityholder'

"subordlna%C ing security" means a restricted security that carries a right to
vote, if there a urities of another class outstanding that carry a greater right to vote
on a per se @ba&s

ition year" means the financial year of a reporting issuer or business in
whic Issuer or business changes its financial year-end;

\s "U.S. AICPA GAAS" has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

"U.S. GAAP" has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

10



"U.S. laws" means the 1933 Act, the 1934 Act, all enactments made under those
Acts and all SEC releases adopting the enactments, as amended;

"U.S. marketplace” means an exchange registered as a "national securities
exchange" under section 6 of the 1934 Act, or the Nasdaq Stock Market; and

"U.S. PCAOB GAAS" has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards; N

"venture issuer' means a reporting issuer that, as at the applicable ti d not
have any of its securities listed or quoted on any of the Toronto Stock Exclegqe, a U.S.
marketplace, or a marketplace outside of Canada and the United Staf? f America
other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stoc ange or the
PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Group plc where the&able time" in
respect of

€) Parts 4 and 5 of this Regulation and Form '1<-102F1, is the end of the
applicable financial period; O

(b) Parts 6 and 9 of this Regulation arK m 51-102F6, is the end of the
most recently completed financial year;

N
(c) Part 8 of this Regulation and F®1-102F4, is the acquisition date; and

(d) section 11.3 of this R@llvation, is the date of the meeting of the
securityholders.

(2) In this Regulation, an i%sets an affiliate of another issuer if
(@) one of themg ae subsidiary of the other, or
(b)  each @@n is controlled by the same person.
3) For theﬁe&oses of subsection (2), a person (first person) is considered to

control anot rson (second person) if

indir securities of the second person carrying votes which, if exercised, would
e@ he first person to elect a majority of the directors of the second person, unless
tAQ first person holds the voting securities only to secure an obligation,

ﬂ@ the first person beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or

(b)  the second person is a partnership, other than a limited partnership, and
the first person holds more than 50% of the interests of the partnership, or

11



(c) the second person is a limited partnership and the general partner of the
limited partnership is the first person.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 1.1; M.O. 2005-25, s. 1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 1; M.O. 2007-08, s. 1; M.O.
2008-06, s. 1 and 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 1; M.O. 2010-17, s. 1.

PART 2 APPLICATION

,\'\

(19

“

2.1. Application

This Regulation does not apply to an investment fund.

0P

&
PART 3 LANGUAGE OF DOCUMENTS @

M.O. 2005-03, s. 2.1.

3.1. French or English C)&O

(1) A person must file a document required to&@ed under this Regulation in

French or in English. &

(2) Despite subsection (1), if a person filqs\'} document only in French or only in
English but delivers to securityholders a ve of the document in the other language,
the person must file that other version later than when it is first delivered to
securityholders. (b N

3) In Québec, a reporting is must comply with linguistic obligations and rights

prescribed by Québec law. 0

M.O. 2005-03, s. 3.1; M%&)&OG, s. 11.

3.2. Filings Trané@i into French or English

If a pey, files a document under this Regulation that is a translation of a
document p&d in a language other than French or English, the person must

2 attach a certificate as to the accuracy of the translation to the filed

docu@@ and

N (b) make a copy of the document in the original language available to a
registered holder or beneficial owner of its securities, on request.

M.O. 2006-04, s. 2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11.
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PART 4 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4.1. Comparative Annual Financial Statements and Audit
(1)  Areporting issuer must file annual financial statements that include

(a) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity,

and a statement of cash flows for
Q’\
0] the most recently completed financial year; and q/
)

(i) the financial year immediately preceding the @t recently

completed financial year, if any; Q_
(b) a statement of financial position as at the end ch of the periods

referred to in paragraph (a); &

(c) in the following circumstances, a stateme inancial position as at the
beginning of the financial year immediately prece% e most recently completed

financial year: &

0] the reporting issuer disclo%(%\in its annual financial statements an
unreserved statement of compliance with I(F,@ nd

(i) the reporting issueQ«

(A) appli accounting policy retrospectively in its annual
financial statements; 0

(B) m)&es a retrospective restatement of items in its annual
financial statements; oo@

QQC) reclassifies items in its annual financial statements;

(d) Y e case of the reporting issuer's first IFRS financial statements, the
opening IQ_ tatement of financial position at the date of transition to IFRS; and

Q@ notes to the annual financial statements;
N Annual financial statements filed under subsection (1) must be audited.
(3) If a reporting issuer presents the components of profit or loss in a separate

income statement, the separate income statement must be displayed immediately
before the statement of comprehensive income filed under subsection (1).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 3; M.O. 2010-17, s. 2.
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4.2. Filing Deadline for Audited Annual Financial Statements

The audited annual financial statements required to be filed under section 4.1
must be filed

€)) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, on or before
the earlier of '\'\

0] the 90" day after the end of its most recently completed’l&ncial
year; and Q-

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction Q.nnual financial
statements for its most recently completed financial year; or @

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, on or before the r of

(i) the 120" day after the end of its most reé@/ completed financial year;

O

(i) the date of filing, in a for&gn jurisdiction, annual financial
statements for its most recently completed fina@l year.

and

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 4. (1/

)
4.3. Interim Financial Report (b

(1)  Subject to sections 4.7 .10, a reporting issuer must file an interim financial
report for each interim perio% ed after it became a reporting issuer.

(2)  The interim fin@eport required to be filed under subsection (1) must include

(@) a s&nt of financial position as at the end of the interim period and a
statement of f@ ial position as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year,

if any; C)

Q~a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity
and % ement of cash flows, all for the year-to-date interim period, and comparative
figdxcial information for the corresponding interim period in the immediately preceding
f cial year, if any;

(c) for interim periods other than the first interim period in a reporting issuer's
financial year, a statement of comprehensive income for the 3 month period ending on
the last day of the interim period and comparative financial information for the
corresponding period in the immediately preceding financial year, if any;

14



(d) in the following circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the immediately preceding financial year:

0] the reporting issuer discloses in its interim financial report an
unreserved statement of compliance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim
Financial Reporting; and

(i) the reporting issuer ,\'\

(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in iG[%terim
financial report; Q"

(B) makes a retrospective restatement of it@s In its interim
financial report; or

(C) reclassifies items in its interim finz@report;

(e) in the case of the reporting issuer's first indﬂnancial report required to
be filed in the year of adopting IFRS, the opening IF ement of financial position at
the date of transition to IFRS; and &

() notes to the interim financial repq(\

(2.1) If a reporting issuer presents the Q}mponents of profit or loss in a separate
income statement, the separate incc@« statement must be displayed immediately
before the statement of comprehezi/@)ncome filed under subsection (2).

(3)  An auditor review of a@m financial report must be disclosed as follows:
rks not performed a review of an interim financial report

r subsection (1), the interim financial report must be
e indicating that the interim financial report has not been

@) If an audit
required to be filed
accompanied by a
reviewed by an a,

(b) %/reporting issuer engaged an auditor to perform a review of an interim
financial required to be filed under subsection (1) and the auditor was unable to
e review, the interim financial report must be accompanied by a notice
that the auditor was unable to complete a review of the interim financial report
reasons why the auditor was unable to complete the review.

(©) If an auditor has performed a review of the interim financial report required
to be filed under subsection (1) and the auditor has expressed a reservation of opinion
in the auditor's interim review report, the interim financial report must be accompanied
by a written review report from the auditor.

15



(4) If an SEC issuer that is a reporting issuer

€) has filed an interim financial report prepared in accordance with Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises for one or more interim periods
since its most recently completed financial year for which annual financial statements
have been filed; and

(b) prepares its annual financial statements or an interim financial rep Nor
the period immediately following the periods referred to in paragraph (a) in acc@ ce
with U.S. GAAP,

)
the SEC issuer must (bQ

(c) restate the interim financial report for the peri@E referred to in
paragraph (a) in accordance with U.S. GAAP; and

(d) file the restated interim financial report referr in paragraph (c) by the
filing deadline for the financial statements referred to in aph (b).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 5; M.O. 20%{@ s. 3.
4.4. Filing Deadline for an Interim Financip{'keport

An interim financial report must be fﬂ?

@) in the case of a reporti@)sstjer other than a venture issuer, on or before
the earlier of

(1) the 45™ ?Dafter the end of the interim period; and

(i) th@ of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for a period ending@ last day of the interim period; or

(b) i@ case of a venture issuer, on or before the earlier of

%O (i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
fo%p riod ending on the last day of the interim period.
N\

the 60™ day after the end of the interim period; and

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.
4.5. Approval of Financial Statements

(1) The annual financial statements a reporting issuer is required to file under
section 4.1 must be approved by the board of directors before the statements are filed.
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(2)  The interim financial report a reporting issuer is required to file under section 4.3
must be approved by the board of directors before the report is filed.

3) In fulfilling the requirement in subsection (2), the board of directors may delegate
the approval of the interim financial report to the audit committee of the board of
directors.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.

4.6. Delivery of Financial Statements Q-

(1) A reporting issuer must send annually a request form to the Qaered holders
and beneficial owners of its securities, other than debt instrumentﬁfthe registered
holders and beneficial owners may use to request a copy de reporting issuer's
annual financial statements and MD&A for the annual finangéatements, the interim
financial reports and MD&A for the interim financial reportsc; th.

(2) The reporting issuer must, in accordance i@the procedures set out in
Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication Witk}é&ficial Owners of Securities of a
Reporting Issuer (c. V-1.1, r. 29) send the form Peferred to in paragraph (1) to the
beneficial owners of its securities who are id ﬁfﬁied under that Regulation as having
chosen to receive all securityholder materi%i/@ t to beneficial owners of securities.

3) If a registered holder or be@ieial owner of securities, other than debt
instruments, of a reporting issuer eﬁbests the issuer's annual financial statements or
interim financial reports, the r jng issuer must send a copy of the requested
financial statements to the per at made the request, without charge, by the later of,

@) in the case breporting issuer other than a venture issuer, 10 calendar
days after the filing ne in subparagraph 4.2(a)(i) or 4.4(a)(i), section 4.7, or
subsection 4.10(2), plicable, for the financial statements requested;

(b) i rgcase of a venture issuer, 10 calendar days after the filing deadline in
paragraph 4&) or 4.4(b)(i), section 4.7, or subsection 4.10(2), as applicable, for the
financial @_ ents requested; and

Q@ 10 calendar days after the issuer receives the request.

NN A reporting issuer is not required to send copies of annual financial statements or
interim financial reports under subsection (3) that were filed more than 2 years before
the issuer receives the request.

(5)  Subsection (1) and the requirement to send annual financial statements under

subsection (3) do not apply to a reporting issuer that sends its annual financial
statements to its securityholders, other than holders of debt instruments, within 140
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days of the issuer's financial year-end and in accordance with Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer.

(6) If a reporting issuer sends financial statements under this section, the reporting
issuer must also send, at the same time, the annual or interim MD&A relating to the
financial statements.

,\'\

4.7. Filing of Financial Statements After Becoming a Reporting Issuer (19

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 6; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.

(1) Despite any provisions of this Part other than subsections (2), (3@ 24) of this
section, the first annual financial statements and interim financial rep at a reporting
issuer must file under sections 4.1 and 4.3 are the financial state for the financial
year and interim periods immediately following the perio r which financial
statements were included in a document filed of the issuer &

(@) that resulted in the issuer becoming a repo@ssuer; or

(b) in respect of a transaction that resul'&@the issuer becoming a reporting

issuer.
(2) If a reporting issuer is required to fi ual financial statements for a financial
year that ended before the issuer beca reporting issuer, those annual financial

statements must be filed on or before tI@Iater of
(@) the 20" day after the{gsuer became a reporting issuer; and

(b)  the filing dead|@1 section 4.2.
(3) If a reporting iﬁis required to file an interim financial report for an interim

period that ended the issuer became a reporting issuer, that interim financial
report must be fil or before the later of

(@) 0™ day after the issuer became a reporting issuer; and

@2 the filing deadline in section 4.4.

( reporting issuer is not required to provide comparative interim financial
ikQ¥mation for periods that ended before the issuer became a reporting issuer if

(&) to a reasonable person it is impracticable to present prior-period
information on a basis consistent with subsection 4.3(2);

(b) the prior-period information that is available is presented; and
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(c) the notes to the interim financial report disclose the fact that the prior-
period information has not been prepared on a basis consistent with the most recent
interim financial information.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.7; M.O. 2006-04, s. 7; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.

4.8. Changein Year-End

N

(1) An SEC issuer satisfies this section if Q'\

€)) it complies with the requirements of U.S. laws relating to a ch@g of fiscal
year; and (b

(b) it files a copy of all materials required by U.S. laws re@to a change of
fiscal year at the same time as, or as soon as practicable a@ y are filed with or

furnished to the SEC and, in the case of financial stateme& o later than the filing
deadlines prescribed under sections 4.2 and 4.4. C)

(2) If a reporting issuer decides to change |ts¢5 ial year-end by more than
14 days, it must file a notice as soon as practlcable in any event, not later than the
earlier of

(@) the filing deadline, based on %portlng issuer's old financial year-end,

for the next financial statements required t filed, either annual or interim, whichever
comes first; and Q N

(b) the filing deadline, on the reporting issuer's new financial year-end,
for the next financial statemen uired to be filed, either annual or interim, whichever
comes first. 5

(3) The notice refe@ in subsection (2) must state

(@) thatQ reporting issuer has decided to change its year-end,;
(b) eason for the change;
@Q‘the reporting issuer's old financial year-end;
% d) the reporting issuer's new financial year-end,;
(e) the length and ending date of the periods, including the comparative

periods, of each interim financial report and the annual financial statements to be filed
for the reporting issuer's transition year and its new financial year; and
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() the filing deadlines, prescribed under sections 4.2 and 4.4, for the annual
financial statements and interim financial reports for the reporting issuer's transition
year.

4) For the purposes of this section,
(&) atransition year must not exceed 15 months; and

N

(b)  the first interim period after an old financial year must not e>@ 4
months.

)
(5) Despite subsection 4.3(1)(b), a reporting issuer is not required tcf@an interim
financial report for any period in its transition year that ends not more @.n month

(@)  after the last day of its old financial year; or CD@

(b) before the first day of its new financial year. C'}
(6) Despite subsection 4.1(1), if a transition year i than 9 months in length, the
reporting issuer must include as comparative finan,( formation to its annual financial
statements for its new financial year N

(&) a statement of financial positi '\statement of comprehensive income, a
statement of changes in equity, a statem of cash flows, and notes to the financial
statements for its transition year; Q 5

(b) a statement of fina @position, a statement of comprehensive income, a
statement of changes in equi statement of cash flows and notes to the financial

statements for its old financi ar;

(©) in the fo Ml circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the old fNaicial year:

q; Q the reporting issuer discloses in its annual financial statements an
unreserved @ ent of compliance with IFRS; and

O (i) the reporting issuer

(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its annual
finQncial statements;

(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its annual
financial statements; or

(C) reclassifies items in its annual financial statements; and
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(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first IFRS financial statements, the
opening IFRS statement of financial position at the date of transition to IFRS.

(7) Despite subsection 4.3(2), if interim periods for the reporting issuer's transition
year end 3, 6, 9 or 12 months after the end of its old financial year, the reporting issuer
must include

(@) as comparative financial information in each interim financial report uhﬁg
its transition year, the comparative financial information required by subsectio
except if an interim period during the transition year is 12 months in lengt
reporting issuer's transition year is longer than 13 months, the compafr%e‘ Inancial

information must be the statement of financial position, statement of rehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flow e 12 month
period that constitutes its old financial year;

(b)  as comparative financial information in each int’@nnancial report during
its new financial year C)

0] a statement of financial position6 he end of its transition year;

and &

(i) the statement of compret)%%ive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for the idds in its transition year or old financial
year, for the same calendar months as, or‘ﬁlose as possible to, the calendar months
in the interim period in the new financia%ear;

(©) in the following cir ances, a statement of financial position as at the

beginning of the earliest comp e period:

unreserved statement pliance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim
Financial Reporting;

0] the r§5§(ing issuer discloses in its interim financial report an
(&/Q the reporting issuer

C) (A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its interim
financi ort;

(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its interim
finQncial report; or

(C) reclassifies items in its interim financial report; and
(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first interim financial report required to

be filed in the year of adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at
the date of transition to IFRS.
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(8) Despite subsection 4.3(2), if interim periods for a reporting issuer's transition year
end 12, 9, 6 or 3 months before the end of the transition year, the reporting issuer must
include

(@) as comparative financial information in each interim financial report during
its transition year N

(1 a statement of financial position as at the end of its old @ ial
year; and

(i) the statement of comprehensive income, statemen@ﬂanges in
equity and statement of cash flows for periods in its old financial or the same
calendar months as, or as close as possible to, the calendar W&in the interim
period in the transition year; @

(b)  as comparative financial information in each pieNdm financial report during
its new financial year O

0] a statement of financial positic&@at the end of its transition year;

N

(i) the statement of com \sive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows in its tragegition year or old financial year, or both, as
appropriate, for the same calendar m § as, or as close as possible to, the calendar
months in the interim period in the neWYihancial year;

and

(c) in the following c{ stances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the earliest co tive period:

unreserved statem compliance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim
Financial ReportiQ

C& the reporting issuer

Q (A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its interim
finan@ port;

\s (B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its interim
financial report; or

(1) th @mting issuer discloses in its interim financial report an
@Ed

(C) reclassifies items in its interim financial report; and
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(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first interim financial report required to
be filed in the year of adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at
the date of transition to IFRS.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.8; M.O. 2006-04, s. 8; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.

4.9. Change in Corporate Structure

'\
(19

(@) theissuer becoming a reporting issuer other than by filing a p Rectus or

If an issuer is party to a transaction that resulted in,

(b) if the issuer was already a reporting issuer, in Qg_

) the issuer ceasing to be a reporting issuer, CD@
(i) a change in the reporting issuer’s finane) ear end, or

(i)  achange in the name of the repc@@ssuer

the issuer must, as soon as practicabléy and in any event not later than the
deadline for the first filing required under this I7\ Iatlon following the transaction, file a
notice stating Q
(c) the names of the parties t@we transaction;
(d) a description of the action;

(e) the effective dagb( the transaction;

() the nam&ach party, if any, that ceased to be a reporting issuer after
the transaction and @ h continuing entity;

(90 t ate of the reporting issuer’'s first financial year-end after the
transaction | graph (a) or subparagraph (b)(ii) applies;

the periods, including the comparative periods, if any, of the interim

flnan ports and the annual financial statements required to be filed for the reporting
IS first financial year after the transaction, if paragraph (a) or subparagraph (b)(ii)
ies; and

0] what documents were filed under this Regulation that described the
transaction and where those documents can be found in electronic format, if paragraph
(a) or subparagraph (b)(ii) applies.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.9; M.O. 2006-04, s. 9; M.O. 2010-17, s. 5.
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4.10. Reverse Takeovers

(2) If a reporting issuer must comply with section 4.9 because it was a party to a
reverse takeover, the reporting issuer must comply with section 4.8 unless

(@) the reporting issuer had the same year-end as the reverse takeover
acquirer before the transaction; or N

(b)  the reporting issuer changes its year-end to be the same as tlﬂp f the
reverse takeover acquirer. .

o)

(2) If a reporting issuer completes a reverse takeover, it must

(@) file the following financial statements for the rev, Q(akeover acquirer,
unless the financial statements have already been filed: &

0] financial statements for all annuﬁﬂ interim periods ending
before the date of the reverse takeover and after th of the financial statements
included in an information circular or similar docu;se ) or under Item 5.2 of the Form
51-102F3 Material Change Report, prepared in w ction with the transaction; or

(i) if the reporting issue @'} not file a document referred to in
subparagraph (i), or the document does‘i%t include the financial statements for the

reverse takeover acquirer that would %xequired to be included in a prospectus, the
financial statements prescribed unser)acurities legislation and described in the form of

prospectus that the reverse tak acquirer was eligible to use prior to the reverse
takeover for a distribution of @es in the jurisdiction;

(b)  file the ann I%ancial statements required by paragraph (a) on or before
the later of @

() Q% 20" day after the date of the reverse takeover;
C&/ the 90" date after the end of the financial year; and

2 (i) the 120™ day after the end of the financial year if the reporting
issue{s=d venture issuer; and

\é (c) file each interim financial report required by paragraph (a) on or before the
later of
) the 10™ day after the date of the reverse takeover;

(i) the 45™ day after the end of the interim period:;
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(i)  the 60" day after the end of the interim period if the reporting issuer
is a venture issuer; and

(iv)  the filing deadline in paragraph (b).
(3) A reporting issuer is not required to provide comparative interim financial
information for the reverse takeover acquirer for periods that ended before the date of a

reverse takeover if '\

(@) to a reasonable person it is impracticable to present pler/- eriod
information on a basis consistent with subsection 4.3(2); N

(b)  the prior-period information that is available is presentedQ.n?

(c) the notes to the interim financial report disclose the at the prior-period
information has not been prepared on a basis consistent wj most recent interim
financial information. C)

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.10; M.O. 2006-04, s. 10; M.O. 200£.087s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 6.

4.11. Change of Auditor &

(1)  In this section Q'\
"appointment” means, in relatior@ gr/eporting issuer, the earlier of

(@) the appointment asy ditor of a person; and

holders of qualified secwutie¢s to appoint such person as its auditor to replace its
predecessor auditor; Oé

(b)  the decision by&@ oard of directors of the reporting issuer to propose to
t

"consultati eans advice provided by a successor auditor, whether or not in
writing, to a rgoMing issuer during the relevant period, which the successor auditor
concluded v§dn important factor considered by the reporting issuer in reaching a

decisiong‘Q1~ ning
g@ the application of accounting principles or policies to a transaction,

W, r or not the transaction is completed;
(b) a report provided by an auditor on the reporting issuer's financial
statements;

(c) scope or procedure of an audit or review engagement; or

(d) financial statement disclosure;

25



"disagreement” means a difference of opinion between personnel of a reporting
issuer responsible for finalizing the reporting issuer's financial statements and the
personnel of a predecessor auditor responsible for authorizing the issuance of audit
reports on the reporting issuer's financial statements or authorizing the communication
of the results of the auditor's review of the reporting issuer's interim financial report, if
the difference of opinion N

€)) resulted in a modified opinion in the predecessor auditor's audit r '}t on
the reporting issuer's financial statements for any period during the relevant pe(i"&?

(b)  would have resulted in a modified opinion in the predecé&r\ auditor's
audit report on the reporting issuer's financial statements for any jod during the
relevant period if the difference of opinion had not been resolve he predecessor
auditor's satisfaction, not including a difference of opinion b Qy on incomplete or

preliminary information that was resolved to the satisfaction & predecessor auditor
upon the receipt of further information; C)

(c) resulted in a qualified or adverse comm @ion or denial of assurance in
respect of the predecessor auditor's review of th orting issuer's interim financial
report for any interim period during the relevant R{ri ; or
(d)  would have resulted in a qu%@or adverse communication or denial of
assurance in respect of the predecessor atqjtor's review of the reporting issuer's interim
financial report for any interim perioQuring the relevant period if the difference of
opinion had not been resolved to the(bedecessor auditor's satisfaction, not including a
difference of opinion based on i plete or preliminary information that was resolved
to the satisfaction of the pred% r auditor upon the receipt of further information;

"predecessor audit ")1eans the auditor of a reporting issuer that is the subject
of the most recent ter@n or resignation;

"qualified rties" means securities of a reporting issuer that carry the right to
participate in \@1 on the appointment or removal of the reporting issuer's auditor;

"re@ information circular" means

g@ if a reporting issuer's constating documents or applicable law require
r$ of qualified securities to take action to remove the reporting issuer's auditor or to

h
a int a successor auditor

0] the information circular required to accompany or form part of every
notice of meeting at which that action is proposed to be taken; or

(i) the disclosure document accompanying the text of the written
resolution provided to holders of qualified securities; or
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(b) if paragraph (a) does not apply, the information circular required to
accompany or form part of the first notice of meeting to be sent to holders of qualified
securities following the preparation of a reporting package concerning a termination or
resignation;

"relevant period" means the period

(a0 commencing at the beginning of the reporting issuer's 2 most Q§§ntly
completed financial years and ending on the date of termination or resignation,(Qr/

)
(b)  during which the predecessor auditor was the reporting is auditor, if
the predecessor auditor was not the reporting issuer's auditor thro@.h,out the period

described in paragraph (a); @Q/

"reportable event" means a disagreement, a cons n, or an unresolved
issue; C)
"reporting package" means O

O

(@) the documents referred to in subparagMphs (5)(a)(i) and (6)(a)(i);

(b)  the letter referred to in clau Q (a)(i)(B), if received by the reporting
issuer, unless an updated letter referred t clause (6)(a)(ii))(B) has been received by
the reporting issuer; Q«

(c) the letter referred é clause (6)(a)(ii)(B), if received by the reporting

issuer; and 0

(d) any update Qter referred to in clause (6)(a)(iii)(B) received by the
reporting issuer; O

"resignatio% ans notification from an auditor to a reporting issuer of the
auditor's decis@ resign or decline to stand for reappointment;

"SLQge%or auditor" means the person

QQ appointed;

N\ (b) that the board of directors have proposed to holders of qualified securities
be appointed; or

(©) that the board of directors have decided to propose to holders of qualified
securities be appointed,
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as the reporting issuer's auditor after the termination or resignation of the
reporting issuer's predecessor auditor;

"termination” means, in relation to a reporting issuer, the earlier of
(@ the removal of its auditor before the expiry of the auditor's term of

appointment, the expiry of its auditor's term of appointment without reappointment, or
the appointment of a different person as its auditor upon expiry of its auditor's te,{hspf

appointment; and Q
(b)  the decision by the board of directors of the reporting issuer opose to
holders of its qualified securities that its auditor be removed before, or a different

person be appointed as its auditor upon, the expiry of its auditor's ternQLappointment;

"unresolved issue" means any matter that, in the prede@ auditor's opinion,
has, or could have, a material impact on the financial statem r reports provided by
the auditor relating to the financial statements, for anygAisncial period during the
relevant period, and about which the predecessor augh as advised the reporting

issuer if O
(@) the predecessor auditor was unz{e&to reach a conclusion as to the
matter's implications before the date of termina,t'k or resignation;

(b)  the matter was not resolve‘(-jl/to the predecessor auditor's satisfaction
before the date of termination or resign@m; or

(©) the predecessor a is no longer willing to be associated with any of
the financial statements; 0

(2) For the purposes  tis section, the term "material” has a meaning consistent
with the discussion of m "materiality” in the issuer's GAAP.

(3) This secti%@%s not apply if

(@) ollowing 3 conditions are met:

OS ) a termination, or resignation, and appointment occur in connection
Withﬁl malgamation, arrangement, takeover or similar transaction involving the
r tihg issuer or a reorganization of the reporting issuer;

(i) the termination, or resignation, and appointment have been
disclosed in a news release that has been filed or in a disclosure document that has
been delivered to holders of qualified securities and filed; and

(i)  no reportable event has occurred;
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(b)  the change of auditor is required by the legislation under which the
reporting issuer exists or carries on its activities; or

(c) the change of auditor arises from an amalgamation, merger or other
reorganization of the auditor.

(4)  An SEC issuer satisfies this section if it

N

(@ complies with the requirements of U.S. laws relating to a ch@ of
auditor;

)
(b)  files a copy of all materials required by U.S. laws relating gchange of
auditor at the same time as, or as soon as practicable after, the filed with or
furnished to the SEC,; @

(c) issues and files a news release describing the y{@ ation disclosed in the
materials referred to in paragraph (b), if there are any reporgab®e events; and

(d) includes the materials referred to in r@aph (b) with each relevant
information circular. &6

(5) Upon a termination or resignation of its w{aﬁor, a reporting issuer must
(@)  within 10 days after the date Gi)ermination or resignation

4
0] prepare a chang@)? auditor notice in accordance with subsection

(7) and deliver a copy of it to the cessor auditor; and
(i) requesttgazredecessor auditor to
( eview the reporting issuer's change of auditor notice;

QB'} prepare a letter, addressed to the securities regulatory
authority, stating, ™r each statement in the change of auditor notice, whether the auditor
agrees, disaﬁé and the reasons why, or has no basis to agree or disagree; and

Qz (C)  deliver the letter to the reporting issuer within 20 days after
the dQe termination or resignation;
N\ (b)  within 30 days after the date of termination or resignation

0] have the audit committee of its board of directors or its board of

directors review the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B) if received by the reporting
issuer, and approve the change of auditor notice;
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(i) file a copy of the reporting package with the securities regulatory
authority;

(i) deliver a copy of the reporting package to the predecessor auditor;

(iv)  if there are any reportable events, issue and file a news release
describing the information in the reporting package; and

,\'\
(c) include with each relevant information circular Q
) a copy of the reporting package as an appendix; and Q"
(i) a summary of the contents of the reporting pac with a cross-
reference to the appendix.
(6) Upon an appointment of a successor auditor, a report@uer must
(@)  within 10 days after the date of appointmerbc)
0] prepare a change of auditor in accordance with subsection

(7) and deliver it to the successor auditor and to the predecessor auditor;
(i) request the successor ﬁ)@%r to
(A)  review the r@«ting issuer's change of auditor notice;
(B) prepa g,a letter addressed to the securities regulatory
authority, stating, for each stat in the change of auditor notice, whether the auditor
agrees, disagrees and the re@ns why, or has no basis to agree or disagree; and

eliver that letter to the reporting issuer within 20 days after

O
the date of appoint@ and

%Q request the predecessor auditor to, within 20 days after the date of
appointmen

Qe (A) confirm that the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B) does
not 0 be updated; or

\é (B) prepare and deliver to the reporting issuer an updated letter
to replace the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B);

(b)  within 30 days after the date of appointment,
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(M have the audit committee of its board of directors or its board of
directors review the letters referred to in clauses (6)(a)(ii)(B) and (6)(a)(ii))(B) if received
by the reporting issuer, and approve the change of auditor notice;

(i) file a copy of the reporting package with the securities regulatory
authority;

(i) deliver a copy of the reporting package to the successor ai@‘or
and to the predecessor auditor; and Q

(iv) if there are any reportable events, issue and file a s release

disclosing the appointment of the successor auditor and either ribing the
information in the reporting package or referring to the news rele equired under
subparagraph (5)(b)(iv). @Q/

(7) A change of auditor notice must state &O

(@) the date of termination or resignation; OC)
(b)  whether the predecessor auditor &O

0] resigned on the predecqé\or auditor's own initiative or at the
reporting issuer's request; Q

(i) was removed or isqXeposed to holders of qualified securities to be
removed during the predecessor a%d/ﬁ))s term of appointment; or

(i) was not re@mted or has not been proposed for reappointment;

(c) whether the r}ination or resignation of the predecessor auditor and any

appointment of the sor auditor were considered or approved by the audit
committee of the re g issuer's board of directors or the reporting issuer's board of
directors; <(

(d) her the predecessor auditor's report on any of the reporting issuer's

financial ents relating to the relevant period expressed a modified opinion and, if
so,ad ytion of each modification;

é e) if there is a reportable event, the following information:
0] for a disagreement,

(A) adescription of the disagreement;
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(B)  whether the audit committee of the reporting issuer's board
of directors or the reporting issuer's board of directors discussed the disagreement with
the predecessor auditor; and

(C)  whether the reporting issuer authorized the predecessor
auditor to respond fully to inquiries by any successor auditor concerning the
disagreement and, if not, a description of and reasons for any limitation; N

(i) for a consultation, Q\

(A) a description of the issue that was the ﬂ@gt of the
consultation; (b

(B) a summary of the successor auditor's& advice, if any,
provided to the reporting issuer concerning the issue;

(C) a copy of the successor audj "s written advice, if any,
received by the reporting issuer concerning the issue; ar@

(D)  whether the reporting i consulted with the predecessor
auditor concerning the issue and, if so, a summary ®f the predecessor auditor's advice
concerning the issue; and N

(i) for an unresolved issugl/
4
(A) adescri tQDQof the issue;

(B) thgé the audit committee of the reporting issuer's board
of directors or the reportlng) uer's board of directors discussed the issue with the
predecessor auditor; and

whether the reporting issuer authorized the predecessor
auditor to respon y to inquiries by any successor auditor concerning the issue and,
if not, a descri@ of and reasons for any limitation; and

() ng’there are no reportable events, a statement to that effect.

(8) e successor auditor becomes aware that the change of auditor notice

by this section has not been prepared and filed by the reporting issuer, the
@r must, within 7 days, advise the reporting issuer in writing and deliver a copy of
the letter to the securities regulatory authority.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.11; M.O. 2006-04, s. 11; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 1;
M.O. 2010-17, s. 7.
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PART 4A FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
4A.1. Application

This Part applies to forward-looking information that is disclosed by a reporting

issuer other than forward-looking information contained in oral statements. N
M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. (],Q

. Q .
4A.2. Reasonable Basis

A reporting issuer must not disclose forward-looking mforma@% less the issuer
has a reasonable basis for the forward-looking information.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. &O
O
4A.3. Disclosure O

A reporting issuer that discloses matg{éf\forward-looking information must
include disclosure that N

(@) identifies forward-looking infonation as such;
(b) cautions users of for %onlng information that actual results may vary
from the forward-looking mformag nd identifies material risk factors that could cause

actual results to differ materiall the forward-looking information;

(c) states the t@al factors or assumptions used to develop forward-looking
information; and O§

(d) s% the reporting issuer's policy for updating forward-looking
information |f [ des procedures in addition to those described in subsection 5.8(2).

M.O. 200 - S. 3.
PARQ@ FOFI AND FINANCIAL OUTLOOKS
4B.1. Application

(1) This Part applies to FOFI or a financial outlook that is disclosed by a reporting
issuer.
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(2)  This Part does not apply to disclosure that is

(&)  subject to requirements in Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of
Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (c. V-1.1, r. 23), or Regulation 43-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (c. V-1.1, r. 15); or

(b) made to comply with the conditions of any exemption from the
requirements referred to in paragraph (a) that a reporting issuer received fr
securities regulatory authority unless the securities regulatory authority orders @ hIS
Part applies to disclosure made under the exemption; or

)
(c) contained in an oral statement. (bQ

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. Q/Q‘
OQ)

4B.2. Assumptions &

(1) A reporting issuer must not disclose FOFI or a fir&él outlook unless the FOFI
or financial outlook is based on assumptions that are6 able in the circumstances.

(2) FOFI or a financial outlook that is based on assumptions that are reasonable in
the circumstances must, without limitation, ;\'\

@) be limited to a period for Wﬁ-il;h the information in the FOFI or financial
outlook can be reasonably estimated, a@ N

(b) use the accounting (8ligies the reporting issuer expects to use to prepare
its historical financial stateme r the period covered by the FOFI or the financial
outlook. 5

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. @
4B.3. Dlsclosurg(q =

In adek to the disclosure required by section 4A.3, if a reporting issuer
discloses or a financial outlook, the issuer must include disclosure that

d

(b) explains the purpose of the FOFI or financial outlook and cautions readers
that the information may not be appropriate for other purposes.

@ states the date management approved the FOFI or financial outlook, if the
@n nt containing the FOFI or financial outlook is undated; and

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
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PART 5 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
5.1. Filing of MD&A

(1) A reporting issuer must file MD&A relating to its annual financial statements and
each interim financial report.

(1.1) Despite subsection (1), a reporting issuer does not have to file MD&A relat;gﬁslo
the annual financial statements and interim financial reports required under sectt 4.7
and 4.10 for financial years and interim periods that ended before the issuer ﬂgme a

reporting issuer. Q N
(2) The MD&A required to be filed must be filed on or before the e@ar of

(@) the filing deadlines for the annual financial state and each interim
financial report set out in sections 4.2 and 4.4, as applicable;&

(b) the date the reporting issuer files th()@ancial statements under
subsections 4.1(1) or 4.3(1), as applicable. O

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 12; M.O. -17,s. 9.

N

5.2. Filing of MD&A for SEC Issuers Q

Despite subsection 5.1(2), if an@EC iIssuer that is a reporting issuer is filing its
annual or interim MD&A prepared i ﬁbordance with Item 303 of Regulation S-K under
the 1934 Act, the SEC issuer mu that document on or before the earlier of

(@) the date the sgbissuer would be required to file that document under
section 5.1; and

(b) the d@@ SEC issuer files that document with the SEC.
Z,

M.O. 2005-03@5‘.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.
5.3. Athgﬁal Disclosure for Venture Issuers Without Significant Revenue
(2) ggenture issuer that has not had significant revenue from operations in either of
it st 2 financial years, must disclose in its MD&A, for each period referred to in
shpsection (2), a breakdown of material components of

(@) exploration and evaluation assets or expenditures;

(b)  expensed research and development costs;

(c) intangible assets arising from development;
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(d)  general and administration expenses; and

(e) any material costs, whether expensed or recognized as assets, not
referred to in paragraphs (a) through (d);

and if the venture issuer's business primarily involves mining exploratlon and
development, the analysis of exploration and evaluation assets or expenditures ml'\ e
presented on a property-by-property basis.

(2)  The disclosure in subsection (1) must be provided for the following p@'qu:

(& in the case of annual MD&A, for the 2 most recently c@ggted financial
years; and

(b) in the case of interim MD&A, for the most r @ year-to-date interim
period and the comparative year-to-date period presented | interim financial report.

(3)  Subsection (1) does not apply if the informati uwed under that subsection
has been disclosed in the financial statements to w, @he MD&A relates.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 14; M.C\'?@lO-l?, s. 9.

5.4. Disclosure of Outstanding Share Wa

4
(1) A reporting issuer must disclﬁ@ in its MD&A the designation and number or
principal amount of

(@) each class and) les of voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer
for which there are secu& utstanding;

(b)  each
are securities o
exchangeable@
(c) Ce%\ch class and series of voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer

that ar able on the conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of
ther ng issuer.

and series of securities of the reporting issuer for which there
ding if the securities are convertible into, or exercisable or
oting or equity securities of the reporting issuer; and

(2&% For the application of paragraph (1)(c), if the exact number or principal amount of
voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer that are issuable on the conversion,
exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of the reporting issuer is not
determinable, the reporting issuer must disclose the maximum number or principal
amount of each class and series of voting or equity securities that are issuable on the
conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of the reporting issuer and, if
that maximum number or principal amount is not determinable, the reporting issuer
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must describe the exchange or conversion features and the manner in which the
number or principal amount of voting or equity securities will be determined.

(3)  The disclosure under subsections (1) and (2) must be prepared as of the latest
practicable date.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9. N

Q’\
(1) The annual MD&A that a reporting issuer is required to file under t@ E’allrt must
be approved by the board of directors before being filed. (b

5.5. Approval of MD&A

(2)  The interim MD&A that a reporting issuer is required to file @this Part must
be approved by the board of directors before being filed.

the approval of the interim MD&A required to be file er this Part to the audit

3) In fulfilling the requirement in subsection (2), the bog&f directors may delegate
committee of the board of directors.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9. &

,\'\

5.6. Delivery of MD&A Q

(2) If a registered holder or be@ieial owner of securities, other than debt
instruments, of a reporting issuer r@gJests the reporting issuer's annual or interim
MD&A, the reporting issuer must a copy of the requested MD&A to the person that
made the request, without ch »Dy the delivery deadline set out in subsection 4.6(3)
for the annual financial state s or interim financial report to which the MD&A relates.

(2) A reporting iss not required to send copies of any MD&A that was filed
more than 2 years the issuer receives the request.

(3) There ir&ent to send annual MD&A under subsection (1) does not apply to a
reporting issémat sends its annual MD&A and any related MD&A supplement to its
securityh , other than holders of debt instruments, within 140 days of the issuer's
financiﬁg?-end and in accordance with Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication

with icial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer (c. V-1.1, r. 29).

(2&& If a reporting issuer sends MD&A under this section, the reporting issuer must
also send, at the same time, the annual financial statements or interim financial report to
which the MD&A relates.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 15; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.
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5.7. Additional Disclosure for Reporting Issuers with Significant Equity
Investees

(1) A reporting issuer that has a significant equity investee must disclose in its
MD&A for each period referred to in subsection (2),

(a8 summarized financial information of the equity investee, including the
aggregated amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss; and N

(b)  the reporting issuer's proportionate interest in the equity investe!@d any
contingent issuance of securities by the equity investee that might significa@a‘a ect the
reporting issuer's share of profit or loss. (b
(2)  The disclosure in subsection (1) must be provided for the foll&periods:

@) in the case of annual MD&A, for the 2 most r&@y completed financial
years; and C)

(b) in the case of interim MD&A, for the recent year-to-date interim
period and the comparative year-to-date period prg@d in the interim financial report.
3) Subsection (1) does not apply if ;\'\

(@ the information required undgl/t at subsection has been disclosed in the
financial statements to which the MD&/Qy#ates; or

(b) the issuer files sep @ financial statements of the equity investee for the
periods referred to in subsect@

M.O. 2006-04, s. 16; M.%&O-l?, s. 9.

5.8. Disclosure @ing to Previously Disclosed Material Forward-Looking
Information QQ -

(1) This ﬁ%@fn applies to material forward-looking information that is disclosed by a
other than

reportingQ‘
Q@ forward-looking information contained in an oral statement, or
N\ (b) disclosure that is
0] subject to the requirements in Regulation 51-101 respecting

Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (c. V-1.1, r. 23) or Regulation 43-101
respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (c. V-1.1, r. 15), or
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(i) made to comply with the conditions of any exemption from the
requirements referred to in subparagraph (i) that a reporting issuer received from a
securities regulatory authority unless the securities regulatory authority orders that this
Part applies to disclosure made under the exemption.

(2)  Areporting issuer must discuss in its MD&A,

(@) events and circumstances that occurred during the period to Whic&?he
MD&A relates that are reasonably likely to cause actual results to differ materi om
material forward-looking information for a period that is not yet complete{ﬁt the
reporting issuer previously disclosed to the public; and N

(b)  the expected differences referred to in paragraph (a). Q_(b
3) Subsection (2) does not apply if the reporting issuer ()Q
€) includes the information required by subse@ (2) in a news release
issued and filed by the reporting issuer before the fili the MD&A referred to in
subsection (2); and O
(b)  includes disclosure in the MD&A re, e'rﬁéd to in subsection (2) that
() identifies the news rele %ferred to in paragraph (a);
(i) states the date of t@news release; and

(i)  states thatt ws release is available at www.sedar.com.

(4) A reporting issuer mugblisclose and discuss in its MD&A, material differences
between

@) actua@ts for the annual or interim period to which the MD&A relates,

and <(

(b) FOFI or financial outlook for the period referred to in paragraph (a)
that the r@' g issuer previously disclosed.

(5) Quring the period to which its MD&A relates, a reporting issuer decides to
W@r previously disclosed material forward-looking information,
N\

(@) the reporting issuer must disclose in its MD&A the decision and discuss
the events and circumstances that led the reporting issuer to that decision, including a
discussion of the assumptions underlying the forward-looking information that are no
longer valid, and
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(b)  subsection (4) does not apply to the reporting issuer with respect to the
MD&A

0] if the reporting issuer complies with paragraph (a); and

(i) the MD&A is filed before the end of the period covered by the
forward-looking information.

N
(6) Paragraph 5(a) does not apply if the reporting issuer Q'\
€) includes the information required by paragraph (5)(a) in a s release
issued and filed by the reporting issuer before the filing of the MD& rred to in
subsection (5); and Q_
(b)  includes disclosure in the MD&A referred to in sub (5) that

0] identifies the news release referred to | '&ragraph (a);
(i) states the date of the news releaﬁgd

(i)  states that the news release,is available at www.sedar.com.

,\'\

M.O. 2007-08, s. 4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 10. Q

PART 6 ANNUAL INFORMATIOI‘G@RM
6.1. Requirement to File an

A reporting issuer tha@ot a venture issuer must file an AlF.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.1. O®

6.2. Filing Dea@e‘for an AlF

An Al %t be filed,
O

&2 on or before the 90th day after the end of the reporting issuer's most
rece

mpleted financial year; or

N (b) in the case of a reporting issuer that is an SEC issuer filing its AIF on
Form 10-K or Form 20-F, on or before the earlier of

() the 90™ day after the end of the reporting issuer's most recently
completed financial year; and
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(i) the date the reporting issuer files its Form 10-K or Form 20-F with the
SEC.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 11.

6.3. (Revoked).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 17. '\'\
PART 7 MATERIAL CHANGE REPORTS (19

4
7.1. Publication of Material Change (bQ

(2) If a material change occurs in the affairs of a reporting issuer@eporting issuer

must
O

€) immediately issue and file a news release /autworized by an executive
officer disclosing the nature and substance of the chang&

(b) as soon as practicable, and in any&g@ within 10 days of the date on
which the change occurs, file a Form 51-102F3 Matdrial Change Report with respect to
the material change. N

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply if, q/

4
@) in the opinion of the reﬁ@?ng issuer, and if that opinion is arrived at in a
reasonable manner, the discl required by subsection (1) would be unduly
detrimental to the interests of6 porting issuer; or

(b)  the material r&ge consists of a decision to implement a change made
by senior manageme the reporting issuer who believe that confirmation of the
decision by the bo directors is probable, and senior management of the reporting
issuer has no re§ to believe that persons with knowledge of the material change
have made u&/o that knowledge in purchasing or selling securities of the reporting
issuer, C)

he reporting issuer immediately files the report required under paragraph
Q)b ked so as to indicate that it is confidential, together with written reasons for

n@i closure.

3) (paragraph revoked).
(4)  (paragraph revoked).

(5) If a report has been filed under subsection (2), the reporting issuer must advise
the securities regulatory authority in writing if it believes the report should continue to
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remain confidential, within 10 days of the date of filing of the initial report and every 10
days thereafter until the material change is generally disclosed in the manner referred to
in paragraph (1)(a), or, if the material change consists of a decision of the type referred
to in paragraph (2)(b), until that decision has been rejected by the board of directors of
the reporting issuer.

(6) In Ontario, the reporting issuer must advise the securities regulatory authority.

(7 If a report has been filed under subsection (2), the reporting issuer must tly
generally disclose the material change in the manner referred to in subsectio upon
the reporting issuer becoming aware, or having reasonable grounds to ds¢lieve, that
persons are purchasing or selling securities of the reporting issuer wit wledge of
the material change that has not been generally disclosed. Q_

M.O. 2005-03, s. 7.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 18; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11(@5008-10, S. 2.
PART 8 BUSINESS ACQUISITION REPORT C'}

8.1. Interpretation and Application O

"acquisition" includes an acquisitiggb'a an interest in a business that is

consolidated for accounting purposes or at¢eunted for by another method, such as the
equity method; Q )

(2) In this Part,

"acquisition of related g@esses" means the acquisition of 2 or more

businesses if
S

(@ the busines ere under common control or management before the
acquisitions were com ;

(b) eaclr Xcquisition was conditional upon the completion of each other

acquisition; orQ/
(c) C-ﬂe acquisitions were contingent upon a single common event;
'Qsiness" includes an interest in an oil and gas property to which reserves, as
deflsed in Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas
Wities (c. V-1.1, r. 23), have been specifically attributed; and

"specified profit or loss" means profit or loss from continuing operations
attributable to the owners of the parent, adjusted to exclude income taxes.
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(2)  This Part does not apply to a transaction that is a reverse takeover.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 19; M.O. 2007-08, s. 5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 12.
8.2. Obligation to File a Business Acquisition Report and Filing Deadline

(1) If a reporting issuer completes a significant acquisition, it must file a business
acquisition report within 75 days after the acquisition date. N

(2) Despite subsection (1), if the most recently completed financial y f the
acquired business ended 45 days or less before the acquisition date, a re@tgng issuer
must file a business acquisition report

(@) within 90 days after the acquisition date, in the cas&n issuer other

than a venture issuer, or @

(b)  within 120 days after the acquisition date, in t '%ase of a venture issuer.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 20; M.O. 201(6',@1 13.

8.3. Determination of Significance &

N

(1)  An acquisition of a business or relat @inesses is a significant acquisition,

(@) for areporting issuer that@not a venture issuer, if the acquisition satisfies
any of the 3 significance tests set gt((ibsubsection (2); and

(b)  for a venture is »|f the acquisition satisfies either of the significance
tests set out in paragraphs ( or (b) if "20%" is read as "40%".

(2) For the purpos@ubsection (1), the significance tests are:

(a) Theés‘et test: The reporting issuer's proportionate share of the
consolidated gss&¥s of the business or related businesses exceeds 20% of the
consolidate ts of the reporting issuer calculated using the audited annual financial
ach of the reporting issuer and the business or the related businesses
recently completed financial year of each that ended before the acquisition

date.Q
\é (b)  The investment test: The reporting issuer's consolidated investments in
and advances to the business or related businesses as at the acquisition date
exceeds 20% of the consolidated assets of the reporting issuer as at the last day of the
most recently completed financial year of the reporting issuer ended before the

acquisition date, excluding any investments in or advances to the business or related
businesses as at that date.
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(c) The profit or loss test: The reporting issuer's proportionate share of the
consolidated specified profit or loss of the business or related businesses exceeds 20%
of the consolidated specified profit or loss of the reporting issuer calculated using the
audited annual financial statements of each of the reporting issuer and the business or
related businesses for the most recently completed financial year of each ended before
the acquisition date.

(3) Despite subsection (1), if an acquisition of a business or related busines§{%~'s
significant based on the significance tests in subsection (2), Q

(@) a reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer may re-@qp ate the
significance using the optional significance tests in subsection (4); and (b

(b) a venture issuer may re-calculate the significanceQ;a;g the optional
significance tests in paragraphs (4)(a) or (b) if "20%" is read as " g

(4)  The optional significance tests are: C'}
(@) The asset test: The reporting issugef roportionate share of the
consolidated assets of the business or relate inesses exceeds 20% of the

consolidated assets of the reporting issuer, calcylatdd using the financial statements of
each of the reporting issuer and the businesj oM the related businesses for the most
recently completed interim period or finan Q/ ar of each, without giving effect to the
acquisition. ?i/
4
(b)  The investment test: Tﬁb reporting issuer's consolidated investments in

and advances to the business or. ed businesses as at the acquisition date exceeds
20% of the consolidated asse. the reporting issuer as at the last day of the most
recently completed interim QY or financial year of the reporting issuer, excluding any

investments in or advancag t&’the business or related businesses as at that date.

following subpar (i) exceeds 20% of the specified profit or loss calculated under
the following s@ agraph (ii):

Qa the reporting issuer's proportionate share of the consolidated
specifiT%

(c) The pg@)r loss test: The specified profit or loss calculated under the

it or loss of the business or related businesses for the later of

(A)  the most recently completed financial year of the business or
re\ded businesses; or

(B) the 12 months ended on the last day of the most recently
completed interim period of the business or related businesses;

(i) the reporting issuer's consolidated specified profit or loss for the
later of
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(A) the most recently completed financial year, without giving
effect to the acquisition; or

(B) the 12 months ended on the last day of the most recently
completed interim period of the reporting issuer, without giving effect to the acquisition.

(4.1) For the purposes of subsections (2) and (4), the reporting issuer mus\'hot
remeasure its previously held equity interest in the business or related busmess

(4.2) For the purposes of paragraphs (2)(b) and (4)(b), the repoggg, issuer's
investments in and advances to the business or related businesses must de

(@) the consideration transferred for the acquisition, meaéd‘in accordance
with the issuer's GAAP, O

which do not constitute
aid unless the acquisition

(b) payments made in connection with the acquigHi
consideration transferred but which would not have b
had occurred, and

(c) contingent consideration for the as\‘&tlon measured in accordance with
the issuer's GAAP.

(5) If an acquisition does not meet anyq/%e significance tests under paragraph (4),
the acquisition is not a significant acqw@&n

(6) Despite subsection (3), th
businesses may be re-calculat

ificance of an acquisition of a business or related
Ing financial statements for periods that ended after
the acquisition date only if, he acquisition date, the business or related businesses
remained substantially inigct«nd were not significantly reorganized, and no significant
assets or liabilities we sferred to other entities.

(7) For the pL@ S of paragraphs (2)(c) and (4)(c), if any of the reporting issuer,
the business o related businesses has incurred a loss, the significance test must be
applied usirgfé absolute value of the loss from continuing operations attributable to
owners OQ. arent, adjusted to exclude income taxes.

(8) g@ the purposes of paragraph (2)(c) and clause (4)(c)(ii)(A), if the reporting
IS '$ consolidated specified profit or loss for the most recently completed financial
y&was lower by 20% or more than its average consolidated specified profit or loss for
the 3 most recently completed financial years, the issuer may, subject to subsection
(10), substitute the average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most recently
completed financial years in determining whether the significance test set out in
paragraph (2)(c) or (4)(c) is satisfied.
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(9) For the purpose of clause (4)(c)(ii)(B) if the reporting issuer's consolidated
specified profit or loss for the most recently completed 12-month period was lower by
20% or more than its average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most
recently completed 12-month periods, the issuer may, subject to subsection (10),
substitute the average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most recently
completed 12-month periods in determining whether the significance test set out in
paragraph (4)(c) is satisfied.

(20) If the reporting issuer's consolidated specified profit or loss for either 'the 2
earlier financial periods referred to in subsections (8) and (9) is a loss, the¢rgborting
issuer's specified profit or loss for that period is considered to be zero for gsg purposes
of calculating the average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 fi al periods.

(11) If a reporting issuer has made multiple investments in the @% business, then
for the purposes of applying subsections (2) and (4), O

(@) if the initial investment and one or more i ental investments were
made during the same financial year, the investments @oe aggregated and tested
on a combined basis;

(b) if one or more incremental mves}\ s were made in a financial year
subsequent to the financial year in which an m% or incremental investment was made
and the initial or previous incremental i \@ ents are reflected in audited annual
financial statements of the reporting issugn,prewously filed, the reporting issuer must
apply the significance tests set out in ections (2) and (4) on a combined basis to
the incremental investments not re in audited financial statements of the reporting
issuer previously filed; and é/

(c) if one or mor \éremental investments were made in a financial year
subsequent to the financi ?/}jlr in which the initial investment was made and the initial
investment is not refle@ audited annual financial statements of the reporting issuer
previously filed, th orting issuer must apply the significance tests set out Iin
subsections (2) to the initial and incremental investments on a combined basis.

(11.1) For t@ rposes of calculating the optional profit or loss test under clause
(@) (c)(ii)( eporting issuer may use pro forma consolidated specified profit or loss
for its recently completed financial year that was included in a previously filed
docu if

\s (@) the reporting issuer has made a significant acquisition of a business after
its most recently completed financial year; and

(b) the previously filed document included

(1) audited annual financial statements of that acquired business for
the periods required by this Part; and
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(i) the pro forma financial information required by subsection 8.4(5) or

(6).

(12) In determining whether an acquisition of related businesses is a significant
acquisition, related businesses acquired after the ending date of the most recently filed
audited annual financial statements of the reporting issuer must be considered on a

combined basis. '\'\
(13) For the purposes of calculating the significance tests in subsections ( d (4),
the amounts used for the business or related businesses must N

‘b

(b) be translated into the same presentation curre g/that used in the
reporting issuer's financial statements.

(a) be based on the issuer's GAAP, and

(13.1) Paragraph 8.3(13)(a) does not apply to a venture ®§e’r if

(@) the financial statements for the busir@r related businesses referred to
in subsections 8.3(2) and (4)

0] are prepared in acco@'}e with Canadian GAAP applicable to

private enterprises, and

accounts for significantly influe investees and joint ventures using the equity

method; 50

4
(i) are prepared ig Q)Qnanner that consolidates any subsidiaries and

and

(b) none e accounting principles described in paragraphs 3.11(1)(a)
through (e) of tion 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and
Auditing Stan (c. V-1.1, r. 25) were used to prepare financial statements for the
business or d businesses referred to in subsections 8.3(2) and (4).

(14) ﬁ?e subsections (2) and (4), the significance of an acquisition of a business
or r businesses may be calculated using unaudited financial statements of the

s or related businesses that comply with section 3.11 of Regulation 52-107
r ctlng Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards if the financial
statements of the business or related businesses for the most recently completed
financial year have not been audited.

(15) Despite subsections (2) and (4), the significance of an acquisition of a business

or related businesses may be calculated using the audited financial statements for the
financial year immediately preceding the reporting issuer's most recently completed
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financial year if the reporting issuer has not been required to file, and has not filed,
audited financial statements for its most recently completed financial year.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 21; M.O. 2010-17, s. 14.
8.4. Financial Statement Disclosure for Significant Acquisitions

(2) If a reporting issuer is required to file a business acquisition report under sg%?on
8.2, the business acquisition report must include the following for each busi@s or

related businesses: q/
)
(@) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of ch S in equity
and a statement of cash flows for the following periods: Q_
0] if the business has completed one financial Q/

(A) the most recently completed &?ﬁcial year ended on or
before the acquisition date; and O

(B) the financial year immg{@ly preceding the most recently
completed financial year, if any; or N

(i) if the business has ng pleted one financial year, the financial
period commencing on the date of formatigg and ending on a date not more than 45
days before the acquisition date; Q«

(b) a statement of fin @al position as at the end of each of the periods
specified in paragraph (a); andoé

(c) notes to the 'n;cial statements.

(2) The most re @ completed financial period referred to in subsection (1) must
be audited. Q¢~

3) If ar %ﬂng issuer is required to include financial statements in a business
acquisitio ort under subsection (1), the business acquisition report must include
financi tements for
a) the most recently completed interim period or other period that started the
after the date of the statement of financial position specified in paragraph (1)(b) and
ended,
) in the case of an interim period, before the acquisition date; or

(i) in the case of a period other than an interim period, after the interim
period referred to in subparagraph (i) and on or before the acquisition date; and
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(b)  acomparable period in the preceding financial year of the business.

(3.1) If a reporting issuer is required under subsection (3) to include an interim
financial report in a business acquisition report and the financial statements for the
business or related businesses acquired are prepared in accordance with Canadian
GAAP applicable to private enterprises, as permitted under Regulation 52-107
respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (c. V-1.1, n Qﬁ),
the interim financial report must include Q'\

(@) abalance sheet as at the end of the interim period and a baIaQSQ sheet as
at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any;

(b) an income statement, a statement of retained earni %nd a cash flow

statement, all for the year-to-date interim period, and comparafi®¥hancial information
for the corresponding interim period in the immediately prec inancial year, if any;
and C)

(c) notes to the financial statements. O

4) Despite subsection (3), the business a;{tﬁition report may include financial
statements for a period ending not more thqu ne interim period before the period
referred to in subparagraph (3)(a)(i) if Q

(@) the business does not, o@lated businesses do not, constitute a material
departure from the business or ope aﬁbw of the reporting issuer immediately before the
acquisition; and é

(b)  (paragraph revgéi).

(c) either O®

0] Q/v acquisition date is, and the reporting issuer files the business
acquisition repert,within the following time after the business's or related businesses'

most recent pleted interim period:
02 (A) 45 days, if the reporting issuer is not a venture issuer; or
éQ (B) 60 days, if the reporting issuer is a venture issuer; or

(i) the reporting issuer filed a document before the acquisition date
that included financial statements for the business or related businesses that would
have been required if the document were a prospectus, and those financial statements
are for a period ending not more than one interim period before the interim period
referred to in subparagraph (3)(a)(i).
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(5) If a reporting issuer is required to include financial statements in a business
acquisition report under subsection (1) or (3), the business acquisition report must
include

(@) aproforma statement of financial position of the reporting issuer,

(1 as at the date of the reporting issuer's most recent statement of
financial position filed, that gives effect, as if they had taken place as at the date %the
pro forma statement of financial position, to significant acquisitions that ha en
completed, but are not reflected in the reporting issuer's most recent staéﬁnt of

financial position for an annual or interim period; or Q"

(i) if the reporting issuer has not filed a statement
for any annual or interim period, as at the date of the acquired bu
statement of financial position, that gives effect, as if they had t
of the pro forma statement of financial position, to signific
been completed,; C)

jgancial position
S's most recent
ace as at the date
cquisitions that have

(b)  a pro forma income statement of the r g issuer that gives effect to
significant acquisitions completed since the beginryqBl the financial year referred to in
clause (i)(A) or (ii)(A), as applicable, as if they had dken place at the beginning of that
financial year, for each of the following financia*%&iods:

0] the reporting issuer's q/

4
(A)  mostre eﬂggcompleted financial year for which it has filed
financial statements; and é/

(B) ingbn period for which it has filed an interim financial report
that started after the periqd i® clause (A) and ended immediately before the acquisition
date or, in the reportin er's discretion, after the acquisition date; or

(i) e reporting issuer has not filed a statement of comprehensive
income for an@ al or interim period, for the business's or related businesses'
QS) (A)  most recently completed financial year that ended before the
acquisif ate; and

(B) period for which financial statements are included in the

PMWXness acquisition report under paragraph (3)(a); and

(c) pro forma earnings per share based on the pro forma financial statements
referred to in paragraph (b).

(6) Despite paragraph (5)(a) and clauses (5)(b)(i)(B) and (5)(b)(ii)(B), if the reporting
issuer relies on subsection (4), the business acquisition report may include
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(@) a pro forma statement of financial position as at the date of the statement
of financial position filed immediately before the reporting issuer's most recent
statement of financial position filed; and

(b) a pro forma income statement for the period ending not more than one
interim period before the interim period referred to in clause (5)(b)(i)(B) or (5)(b)(ii))(B),
as applicable. N

(7) If a reporting issuer is required to include pro forma financial statenfe& in a
business acquisition report under subsection (5), Q"

each significant acquisition, if the pro forma financial statements{giy®e effect to more
than one significant acquisition; O@

(b)  the reporting issuer must include in the pro fopmaNinancial statements

(@) the reporting issuer must identify in the pro forma wial statements

(1 adjustments attributable to eacbf@ificant acquisition for which
there are firm commitments and for which the co financial effects are objectively
determinable; N

(i) adjustments to confg amounts for the business or related
businesses to the issuer's accounting polic@ and

4
(i)  a description o t@gunderlying assumptions on which the pro forma
financial statements are prepg cross-referenced to each related pro forma

adjustment; 0

(c) if the financi Ikar-end of the business differs from the reporting issuer's
year-end by more th days, for the purpose of preparing the pro forma income
statement for the re g issuer's most recently completed financial year, the reporting
issuer must co Cct an income statement of the business for a period of 12
consecutive mgntie ending no more than 93 days before or after the reporting issuer's
year-end, b@ng the results for a subsequent interim period to a completed financial
year of t iness and deducting the comparable interim results for the immediately
preced'(%?;ar;

d) if a constructed income statement is required under paragraph (c), the pro
fodwa financial statements must disclose the period covered by the constructed income
statement on the face of the pro forma financial statements and must include a note
stating that the financial statements of the business used to prepare the pro forma
financial statements were prepared for the purpose of the pro forma financial
statements and do not conform with the financial statements for the business included
elsewhere in the business acquisition report;
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(e) if a reporting issuer is required to prepare a pro forma income statement
for an interim period required by paragraph (5)(b), and the pro forma income statement
for the most recently completed financial year includes results of the business which are
also included in the pro forma income statement for the interim period, the reporting
issuer must disclose in a note to the pro forma financial statements the revenue,
expenses and profit or loss from continuing operations included in each pro forma
income statement for the overlapping period; and N

) a constructed period referred to in paragraph (c) does not hav@ be
audited.

(8) If a reporting issuer is required under subsection (1) to in@\ financial
statements for more than one business because the significant acqu@lion involves an
acquisition of related businesses, the financial statements required &subsection (1)
must be presented separately for each business, except for t lods during which
the businesses have been under common control or mana nt, in which case the
reporting issuer may present the financial statements of thg~bMsinesses on a combined

basis. O

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.4; M.O. 2006-04, s. 22; M.O. 29@, S. 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 15.

8.5. (Revoked). ,\'\

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.5; M.O. 2006-04, s. 23. Q

4
8.6. Exemption for Significa%ﬂ&]isitions Accounted for Using the Equity
Method

A reporting issuer is e@pt from the requirements in section 8.4 if

(@) the acqu@is, or will be, of an equity investee;

(b) the@ess acquisition report includes disclosure for the periods for
a

which financiath/ ments are otherwise required under subsection 8.4(1) that

Qa summarizes financial information of the equity investee, including
the ag ted amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss; and

(i) describes the reporting issuer's proportionate interest in the equity
i8stee and any contingent issuance of securities by the equity investee that might
significantly affect the reporting issuer's share of profit or loss;

(c) the financial information provided under paragraph (b) for the most
recently completed financial year
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0] has been derived from audited financial statements of the equity
investee; or

(i) has been audited; and
(d)  the business acquisition report

0] identifies the financial statements referred to in subparagrapl}\b)(l)
from which the disclosure provided under paragraph (b) has been derived; or q/

(i) discloses that the financial information provided undQ Raragraph
(b), if not derived from audited financial statements, has been audited; anéb

(i) discloses that the auditor expressed an unn@d opinion with

respect to the financial statements referred to in subparagr or the financial
information referred to in subparagraph (ii). &

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 24; M.O. 2010-17(§f6.

8.7. (Revoked). &O

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.7; M.O. 2006-04, s. 25. y\'\

8.8. Exemption for Significant Acquisft-bns if Financial Year End Changed

If under section 8.4 a report n&;suer is required to provide financial statements
for a business acquired and the ess changed its financial year end during either of
the financial years required t iIncluded, the reporting issuer may include financial
statements for the transition§ In satisfaction of the financial statements for one of the
years, provided that the tr on year is at least 9 months.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8@@) 2006-04, s. 26.

8.9. Exemp' erom Comparatives if Financial Statements Not Previously
Prepared

ﬁp}rtmg issuer is not required to provide comparative information for an
interi ancial report required under subsection 8.4(3) for a business acquired if

(&) to a reasonable person it is impracticable to present prior-period
mformatlon on a basis consistent with the most recently completed interim period of the
acquired business;

(b)  the prior-period information that is available is presented; and
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(c) the notes to the interim financial report disclose the fact that the prior-
period information has not been prepared on a basis consistent with the most recent
interim financial information.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.9; M.O. 2006-04, s. 27; M.O. 2010-17, s. 17.
8.10. Acquisition of an Interest in an Oil and Gas Property

(2) Despite subsections 8.3(1), 8.3(2), 8.3(3) and 8.3(4), the asset 6’% in
paragraphs 8.3(2)(a) and 8.3(4)(a) do not apply to an acquisition

)
(@) of a business that is an interest in an oil and gas prop@&or related
businesses that are interests in oil and gas properties; and Qg_

(b)  thatis not of securities of another issuer. @
(2) Despite subsections 8.3(1), 8.3(2), 8.3(3), 8.3(4),8,%8), 8.3(9), 8.3(10) and
8.3(11.1), a reporting issuer must substitute "operating g e" for "specified profit or
loss" for the purposes of the profit or loss test in par 8.3(2)(c) and 8.3(4)(c) if the
acquisition is one described in subsection (1). 8

(3) Exemption from Financial Statement D’Q'\)sure - A reporting issuer is exempt
from the requirements in section 8.4 if Q

(@) the significant acquisition@an acquisition described in subsection (1);

(b) the reporting issuery
of the significant acquisition ot
statements do not exist or
financial statements;

able to provide the financial statements in respect
Ise required under this Part because those financial
se the reporting issuer does not have access to those

(c) the ac&@on does not constitute a reverse takeover;

(@/%raph revoked);

(e) respect of the business or related businesses, for each of the financial
period which financial statements would, but for this section, be required under
sectl 71, the business acquisition report includes

\s 0] an operating statement for the business or related businesses
prepared in accordance with subsection 3.11(5) of Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (c. V-1.1, r. 25);

(i) a pro forma operating statement of the reporting issuer that gives

effect to significant acquisitions completed since the beginning of the reporting issuer’s
most recently completed financial year for which financial statements are required to
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have been filed, as if they had taken place at the beginning of that financial year, for
each of the financial periods referred to in paragraph 8.4(5)(b);

(i)  a description of the property or properties and the interest acquired
by the reporting issuer; and

(iv)  disclosure of the annual oil and gas production volumes from the

business or related businesses; N

() the operating statement for the most recently completed financﬁl, eriod
referred to in subsection 8.4(1) is audited; and N

(g) the business acquisition report discloses Q_

0] the estimated reserves and related future venue attributable
to the business or related businesses, the material assumptj sed in preparing the
estimates and the identity and relationship to the reporting@ r or to the vendor of the
person who prepared the estimates; and O

(i) the estimated oil and gas proggh n volumes from the business or
related businesses for the first year reflectg{ the estimates disclosed under

subparagraph (i). N

(4)  Areporting issuer is exempt from thapequirements of subparagraphs (3)(e)(i), (ii)
and (iv), if (b )

(@) production, gross @nue, royalty expenses, production costs and
operating income were nil fo business or related businesses for each financial
period; and 5

(b) the busir@cquisition report discloses this fact.
M.O. 2005-03, s.gg;‘M.O. 2006-04, s. 28; M.O. 2008-06, s. 3; M.O. 2010-17, s. 18.

8.11. Exerrc& for Multiple Investments in the Same Business

K‘%ﬁe section 8.4, a reporting issuer is exempt from the requirements to file
finan% tatements for an acquired business, other than the pro forma financial
S nts required by subsection 8.4(5), in a business acquisition report if the
rﬁng issuer has made multiple investments in the same business and the acquired
business has been consolidated in the reporting issuer's most recent annual financial
statements that have been filed.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.11; M.O. 2006-04, s. 29; M.O. 2010-17, s. 19.
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PART 9 PROXY SOLICITATION AND INFORMATION CIRCULARS
9.1. Sending of Proxies and Information Circulars

(2) If management of a reporting issuer gives notice of a meeting to its registered
holders of voting securities, management must, at the same time as or before giving
that notice, send to each registered holder of voting securities who is entitled to notice
of the meeting a form of proxy for use at the meeting. N

(2) A person that solicits proxies from registered holders of voting secuﬂqg of a
reporting issuer must, Q N

€) in the case of a solicitation by or on behalf of manager@ of a reporting
issuer, send an information circular with the notice of meetin @ ach registered
securityholder whose proxy is solicited; or %

solicitation, send an information circular to each reglste curityholder whose proxy

(b) in the case of any other solicitation, co ¥ tIy with or before the
is solicited.

3) (paragraph revoked).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.1; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11@'\200810 s. 3.

9.2. Exemptions from Sending Infc@latlon Circular

(1)  Subsection 9.1(2) does @pply to a solicitation by a person in respect of
securities of which the perso@ beneficial owner.

(2) Paragraph 9.1(2)(b) és not apply to a solicitation if the total number of
securityholders whose les are solicited is not more than 15.

(3) For the purpﬁO of subsection (2), 2 or more persons who are joint registered
owners of oneQ/ re securities are considered to be one securityholder.

(4) Despi agraph 9.1(2)(b), a person, other than management of a reporting issuer
orap acting on behalf of management, may solicit proxies from registered
secun@ Iders of a reporting issuer without sending an information circular, if

\é (@) the solicitation is made to the public by broadcast, speech or publication;
(b)  soliciting proxies by broadcast, speech or publication is permitted by the
laws under which the reporting issuer is incorporated, organized or continued and the

person making the solicitation complies with the requirements, if any, of those laws
relating to the broadcast, speech or publication;
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(c) the person has filed the following information:

0] the name and address of the reporting issuer to which the
solicitation relates,

(i) the information required under item 2, sections 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4 and
paragraphs (b) and (d) of item 5 of Form 51-102F5, '\'\

(i)  any information required to be disclosed in respedt the
broadcast, speech or publication by the laws under which the report@,‘lssuer is
incorporated, organized or continued, and

(iv)  acopy of any communication intended to be pu&d; and

(d)  the broadcast, speech or publication contains tb(@)rmatlon referred to in
paragraphs (c)(i) to (iii).

(5)  Subsection (4) does not apply to a person t Q)roposmg, at the time of the
solicitation, a significant acquisition or restructun @nsactlon involving the reporting
issuer and the person, under which securities o person or securities of an affiliate
of the person, are to be changed, exchanged, |p\ d or distributed, unless

(@) the person has filed an inforﬂatlon circular or other document containing
the information required by section 14.QfForm 51-102F5; and

(b) the solicitation ref that information circular or other document and
discloses that the circular or ot ocument is on SEDAR.

(6)  Subsection (4) do h)t apply to a person that is nominating or proposing to
nominate, at the time solicitation, an individual, including himself or herself, for
election as a direct e reporting issuer, unless

@) % rson has filed an information circular or other document containing
the informatj guired by Form 51-102F5 in respect of the proposed nominee; and

@ the solicitation refers to that information circular or other document and
discl hat the circular or other document is on SEDAR.

m;. 2005-03, s. 9.2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 4.
9.3. Filing of Information Circulars and Proxy-Related Material
A person that is required under this Regulation to send an information circular or

form of proxy to registered securityholders of a reporting issuer must promptly file a
copy of the information circular, form of proxy and all other material required to be sent
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by the person in connection with the meeting to which the information circular or form of
proxy relates.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.3; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11.
9.3.1. Content of Information Circular

(2) If a reporting issuer sends an information circular to a securityholder Kﬁ'&er

paragraph 9.1(2)(a), the issuer must, Q

(@) disclose all compensation paid, payable, awarded, grantge\ .given, or
otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the issuer, or a subsidiary issuer, to
each NEO and director, in any capacity, including, for greater cert , all plan and
non-plan compensation, direct and indirect pay, remuneration, e&ic or financial
award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisite paid, payable, awar, granted, given, or
otherwise provided to the NEO or director for services provig< irectly or indirectly, to
the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer, and C)

(b) include detail and discussion of the nsation, and the decision-
making process relating to compensation, presen @\ such a way that it provides a
reasonable person, applying reasonable effort, ap\u erstanding of

(1 how decisions about N \d director compensation are made,

(i) the compensation Qg.board of directors intended the issuer to pay,
make payable, award, grant, give o (ﬁbarwise provide to each NEO and director, and

(i)  how specif O and director compensation relates to the overall
stewardship and governance) he reporting issuer.

(2) The disclosure ed under subsection (1) must be provided for the periods
set out in, in acco e with, and subject to any exemptions set out in, Form 51-
102F6, which ca force on December 31, 2008.

3) For t?ﬁ%poses of this section, "NEO" and "plan" have the meaning ascribed to
orm 51-102F6, which came into force on December 31, 2008.

those teer_
4) @ section does not apply to an issuer in respect of a financial year ending
bgfd\e‘December 31, 2008.

N\
M.O. 2008-18, s. 2.

9.4. Content of Form of Proxy

(1) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer by a person soliciting
proxies must indicate in bold-face type whether or not the proxy is solicited by or on
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behalf of the management of the reporting issuer, provide a specifically designated
blank space for dating the form of proxy and specify the meeting in respect of which the
proxy is solicited.

(2)  An information circular sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer or the form of
proxy to which the information circular relates must

@) indicate in bold-face type that the securityholder has the right to app ™a
person to represent the securityholder at the meeting other than the persorQ'{%ny,
designated in the form of proxy; and
)
(b)  contain instructions as to the manner in which the secujf@older may
exercise the right referred to in paragraph (a). Q_

3) If a form of proxy sent to securityholders of a repo Qésuer contains a
designation of a named person as nominee, it must p an option for the
securityholder to designate in the form of proxy 5@ other person as the
securityholder's nominee. O

(4) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of,@porting issuer must provide an
option for the securityholder to specify that $he securities registered in the
securityholder's name will be voted for or ag% st each matter or group of related
matters identified in the form of proxy, in @ otice of meeting or in an information
circular, other than the appointment of an eﬂ;h or and the election of directors.

4
(5) A form of proxy sent to séagrltyholders of a reporting issuer may confer
discretionary authority with resp each matter referred to in subsection (4) as to
which a choice is not specifie e form of proxy or the information circular states in
bold-face type how the secughs represented by the proxy will be voted in respect of

each matter or group Of@[

(6) A form of pr ent to securityholders of a reporting issuer must provide an
option for the se older to specify that the securities registered in the name of the
securityholder ?u be voted or withheld from voting in respect of the appointment of an

matters.

auditor or th tion of directors.

(7) @rmaﬂon circular sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer or the form of
prox@ hich the information circular relates must state that

\s (@) the securities represented by the proxy will be voted or withheld from
voting in accordance with the instructions of the securityholder on any ballot that may be
called for; and

(b) if the securityholder specifies a choice under subsection (4) or (6) with
respect to any matter to be acted upon, the securities will be voted accordingly.
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(8) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer may confer
discretionary authority with respect to

(@) amendments or variations to matters identified in the notice of meeting;
and

(b)  other matters which may properly come before the meeting,

,\'\

' N

(c) the person by whom or on whose behalf the solicitation isgqade is not
aware within a reasonable time before the time the solicitation is made t y of those
amendments, variations or other matters are to be presented for acti t the meeting;
and

(d)  a specific statement is made in the informaﬂo&@ular or in the form of
proxy that the proxy is conferring such discretionary author

(9) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of g Qtlng issuer must not confer
authority to vote é

(@)  for the election of any person a\;{n\llrector of a reporting issuer unless a
bona fide proposed nominee for that electiQQs named in the information circular or, in
the case of a solicitation under subseglyn 9.2(4), the document required under

paragraph 9.2(6)(a); or Q -\

(b) at any meeting oth n the meeting specified in the notice of meeting or
any adjournment of that meeti

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.4, M@Z&)&O& s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 20.

9.5. Exemption Q‘O

Sectiony 9.% to 9.4 do not apply to a reporting issuer, or a person that solicits
proxies frow@étered holders of voting securities of a reporting issuer, if

the reporting issuer or other person complies with the requirements of the
Iaws? ing to the solicitation of proxies under which the reporting issuer is
ated, organized or continued;

(b) the requirements referred to in subsection (a) are substantially similar to
the requirements of this Part; and

(c) the reporting issuer or other person files a copy of any information circular
and form of proxy, or other documents that contain substantially similar information,
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promptly after the reporting issuer or other person sends the circular, form or other
document in connection with the meeting.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.5; M.O. 2006-04, s. 30; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 5.
PART 10 RESTRICTED SECURITY DISCLOSURE
10.1. Restricted Security Disclosure ,\'\

(2) If a reporting issuer has outstanding restricted securities, or securitie t are
directly or indirectly convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable (&,‘restricted
securities or securities that will, when issued, result in an existing class utstanding
securities being considered restricted securities, each documeQ_ge erred to in
subsection (2) must

@) refer to restricted securities using a term thzy&@udes the appropriate
restricted security term;

(b) not refer to securities by a term that incl common" or "preference" or
"preferred”, unless the securities are comm hares or preference shares,

respectively; N
(c) describe any restrictions on t '}ng rights of restricted securities;

(d)  describe the rights to pari®yste, if any, of holders of restricted securities if
a takeover bid is made for securities e reporting issuer with voting rights superior to
those attached to the restricted s jties;

(e) state the per@@ge of the aggregate voting rights attached to the
reporting issuer's secur@ at are represented by the class of restricted securities;

and
O

() if h@?? of restricted securities have no right to participate if a takeover
bid is made f%s urities of the reporting issuer with voting rights superior to those
attached to stricted securities, contain a statement to that effect in bold-face type.

(2) @ction (1) applies to the following documents:
é a) an information circular;

(b) a document required by this Regulation to be delivered upon request by a
reporting issuer to any of its securityholders; and

(c) an AlF prepared by a reporting issuer.
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3) Despite subsection (2), annual financial statements, an interim financial report
and MD&A or other accompanying discussion by management of those financial
statements are not required to include the details referred to in paragraphs (1)(c), (d),
(e) and (f).

(4) Each reference to restricted securities in any document not referred to in
subsection (2) that a reporting issuer sends to its securityholders must include the
appropriate restricted security term. N

(5) A reporting issuer must not refer, in any of the documents dedc}iped in
subsection (4), to securities by a term that includes "common" or 'wgence" or
"preferred”, unless the securities are common shares or prefe e shares,
respectively.

(6) Despite paragraph (1)(b) and subsection (5), a reportmg@ may, in one place
only in a document referred to in subsection (2) or (4), descri restricted securities
by the term used in the constating documents of the repor issuer, to the extent that
term differs from the appropriate restricted security ter e description is not on the
front page of the document and is in the same typ and type size as that used
generally in the document. &

M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.1; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2,&9’87; M.O. 2008-06, s. 4; M.O. 2010-17,

s. 21. (19

10.2. Dissemination of Disclosure E@uments to Holder of Restricted Securities

Q) If a reporting issuer send ocument to all holders of any class of its equity
securities the document must e sent by the reporting issuer at the same time to
the holders of its restricted s ities.

(2) A reporting iss@t is required by this Regulation to arrange for, or voluntarily
makes arrangemen ) delivery of the documents referred to in subsection (1) to the
beneficial owners@y securities of a class of equity securities registered in the name
of a registrantymdst make similar arrangements for delivery of the documents to the

beneficial o of securities of a class of restricted securities registered in the name
of the reg}

O
M.O. -03, s. 10.2.

1\% Exemptions for Certain Reporting Issuers
The provisions of sections 10.1 and 10.2 do not apply to

(@)  securities that carry a right to vote subject to a restriction on the number or
percentage of securities that may be voted or owned by persons that are not citizens or
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residents of Canada or that are otherwise considered as a result of any law applicable
to the reporting issuer to be non-Canadians, but only to the extent of the restriction; and

(b)  securities that are subject to a restriction, imposed by any law governing
the reporting issuer, on the level of ownership of the securities by any person or
combination of persons, but only to the extent of the restriction.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.3; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 3.

PART 11 ADDITIONAL FILING REQUIREMENTS (19

4
11.1. Additional Disclosure Requirements (bQ

(1)  Areporting issuer must file a copy of any disclosure materialQ/E
(@) thatit sends to its securityholders; &O

(b) in the case of an SEC issuer, that it fileéﬂ or furnishes to the SEC
under the 1934 Act, including material filed as exhjow& to other documents, if the
material contains information that has not been in@ in disclosure already filed in a
jurisdiction by the SEC issuer; or N
(c) that it files with another p %ial or territorial securities regulatory
authority other than in connection with a digmtion.

4

(2) A reporting issuer must file tﬁé)material on the same date as, or as soon as
practicable after, the earlier of :

(@) the date on g&
securityholders;

(b) thed @Which the reporting issuer files or furnishes the material to the
SEC; and Q@‘

the reporting issuer sends the material to its

(c) &date on which the reporting issuer files that material with the other
provincia@_ ritorial securities regulatory authority.

)
M.o.@é-os, s. 11.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 31.

1‘& Change of Status Report

A reporting issuer must file a notice promptly after the occurrence of either of the
following:

(@) the reporting issuer becomes a venture issuer; or
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(b)  the reporting issuer ceases to be a venture issuer.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.2.
11.3. Voting Results

A reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer must, promptly following a meeting
of securityholders at which a matter was submitted to a vote, file a report that disc B,
for each matter voted upon Q

(@) a brief description of the matter voted upon and the outcome,:ke vote;

and (b

(b) if the vote was conducted by ballot, including a vote @natter in which
votes are cast both in person and by proxy, the number or perc of votes cast for,
against or withheld from the vote. &

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.3. OC)
11.4. Financial Information &O
A reporting issuer must file a copy of an %WS release issued by it that discloses

information regarding its historical or prodPWctive financial performance or financial
condition for a financial year or interim peri

4
M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.4; M.O. 2010%7/,"&3.
11.5. Re-filing Documentsoé
If a reporting issu@éides it will
(@) re-file Q@ument filed under this Regulation, or
(b) rg-stde financial information for comparative periods in financial
statements Q(easons other than retrospective application of a change in an
accounti dard or policy or a new accounting standard,
? the information in the re-fled document, or re-stated financial information,
w%i er materially from the information originally filed, the issuer must immediately

i and file a news release authorized by an executive officer disclosing the nature
and substance of the change or proposed changes.

M.O. 2006-04, s. 32; M.O. 2010-17, s. 24.
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11.6. Executive Compensation Disclosure for Certain Reporting Issuers

(1) Areporting issuer that does not send to its securityholders an information circular
that includes the disclosure required by Item 8 of Form 51-102F5 and that does not file
an AIF that includes the executive compensation disclosure required by Item 18 of Form
51-102F2 must

(@) disclose all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted, glve&‘

otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the issuer, or a subsidiary of the isgNeY, to
each NEO and director, in any capacity, including, for greater certainty, all’ﬁ and
non-plan compensation, direct and indirect pay, remuneration, economi §, financial
award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisite paid, payable, awarded, gra . given, or
otherwise provided to the NEO or director for services provided, dire r |nd|rectly, to
the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer, and @Q/

(b) include detail and discussion of the compeg§a n, and the decision-
making process relating to compensation, presented in spgehN\a way that it provides a
reasonable person, applying reasonable effort, an under&ng of

0] how decisions about NEO and,{@tor compensation are made,

(i) the compensation the boa@f directors intended the issuer to pay,
make payable, award, grant, give or othervgjil%o ovide to each NEO and director, and

(i)  how specific NEQ @Nd director compensation relates to the overall
stewardship and governance of the rcfﬂpr ing issuer.

(2)  The disclosure require @er subsection (1) must be provided for the periods
set out in, and in accor with Form 51-102F6, which came into force on
December 31, 2008.

(3) The disclos equired under subsection (1) must be filed not later
than 140 days a@% end of the reporting issuer’s most recently completed financial

year Q/
4) Foqg'{)urposes of this section, "NEO" and "plan" have the meaning ascribed to
those t@ in Form 51-102F6, which came into force on December 31, 2008.

( his section does not apply to an issuer that satisfies securities legislation
reQuirements relating to information circulars, proxies and proxy solicitation under
section 4.6 or 5.7 of Regulation 71-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure and Other
Exemptions Relating to Foreign Issuers (c. V-1.1, r. 37).

(6)  This section does not apply to an issuer in respect of a financial year ending
before December 31, 2008.
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M.O. 2008-18, s. 4.
PART 12 FILING OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS
12.1. Filing of Documents Affecting the Rights of Securityholders

(1) A reporting issuer must file copies of the following documents, and any material

amendments to the following documents, unless previously filed: N
(@) articles of incorporation, amalgamation, continuation or Qother

constating or establishing documents of the issuer, unless the constating oga(ablishing
document is a statutory or regulatory instrument;

(b) by-laws or other corresponding instruments currently |&

X

(c) any securityholder or voting trust agreement t& reporting issuer has
access to and that can reasonably be regarded as material@ investor in securities of
the reporting issuer; O

(d)  any securityholders' rights plans or oy@milar plans; and
(e) any other contract of the issuer o ubsidiary of the issuer that creates or
can reasonably be regarded as materia (lﬁ ecting the rights or obligations of its

securityholders generally.

(2) A document required to be fi eﬁbnder subsection (1) may be filed in paper format
if

(a) itis dated befo«S&me 1, 2005; and

(b) it does n ISt in an acceptable electronic format.

M.O. 2005-03, s. g(QTM.o. 2006-04, 5. 33.
12.2. FiIin@ﬂaterial Contracts

(1) & previously filed, a reporting issuer must file a material contract entered
into

\s (@  within the last financial year; or
(b) before the last financial year if that material contract is still in effect.

(2) Despite subsection (1), a reporting issuer is not required to file a material
contract entered into in the ordinary course of business unless the material contract is
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(&) a contract to which directors, officers, or promoters are parties other than
a contract of employment;

(b)  a continuing contract to sell the majority of the reporting issuer’'s products
or services or to purchase the majority of the reporting issuer’s requirements of goods,
services, or raw materials;

(c) a franchise or licence or other agreement to use a patent, formula,'t\rﬁde

secret, process or trade name; Q

(d) a financing or credit agreement with terms that have a dire@c‘orrelation
with anticipated cash distributions; (b

(e) an external management or external administration a ent; or

() a contract on which the reporting issuer’'s @wess is substantially
dependent. C)

(3) A provision in a material contract filed pursuanit bsections (1) or (2) may be
omitted or marked to be unreadable if an exeg&(l@ officer of the reporting issuer
reasonably believes that disclosure of that provisgi?c;:l ould be seriously prejudicial to the
interests of the reporting issuer or would violatg\ fidentiality provisions.

(4) Subsection (3) does not apply if thef)}pvision relates to:
4
(@)  debt covenants and Z}G@% financing or credit agreements;

(b)  events of defau@t er terms relating to the termination of the material
contract; or 5

(©) other te ecessary for understanding the impact of the material
contract on the busi of the reporting issuer.

(5) If a proyi & is omitted or marked to be unreadable under subsection (3), the
[ ust include a description of the type of information that has been
omitted o ed to be unreadable immediately after the provision in the copy of the

(@Despite subsections (1) and (2), a reporting issuer is not required to file a
mMR¥erial contract entered into before January 1, 2002.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 5.
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12.3. Time for Filing of Documents

The documents required to be filed under sections 12.1 and 12.2 must be filed no
later than the time the reporting issuer files a material change report in Form 51-102F3,
if the making of the document constitutes a material change for the issuer, and

€)) no later than the time the reporting issuer's AlF is filed under section 6.1, if
the document was made or adopted before the date of the issuer's AlF; or N

(b) if the reporting issuer is not required to file an AlIF under section .QVithin
120 days after the end of the issuer's most recently completed financigtnear, if the
document was made or adopted before the end of the issuer's most rec completed

financial year.
&

M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.3; Eratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727. CD@
PART 13 EXEMPTIONS C’}
13.1. Exemptions from this Regulation O

O

(1)  The securities regulatory authority may grant™n exemption from this Regulation,
in whole or in part, subject to such conditions& strictions as may be imposed in the

exemption. Q

(2) Despite subsection (1), in Or@rio only the regulator may grant such an
exemption.

3) Except in Ontario, an e\:@ﬂon referred to in subsection (1) is granted under the
statute referred to in Ap IXx B of Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions
(c. V-1.1,r. 3), opposite§ me of the local jurisdiction.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13@,@.0. 2006-04, s. 34; M.O. 2008-18, s. 6 and 13.

13.2. Existin@ mptions

@ A gﬁﬁng issuer that was entitled to rely on an exemption, waiver or approval
it by a securities regulatory authority relating to continuous disclosure
nts of securities legislation or securities directions existing immediately before
t ulation came into force is exempt from any substantially similar provision of this
!@ation to the same extent and on the same conditions, if any, as contained in the
exemption, waiver or approval.

(2)  Areporting issuer must, at the time that it first intends to rely on subsection (1) in
connection with a filing requirement under this Regulation, inform the securities
regulatory authority in writing of

68



(@) the general nature of the prior exemption, waiver or approval and the date
on which it was granted; and

(b) the requirement under prior securities legislation or securities directions in
respect of which the prior exemption, waiver or approval applied and the substantially
similar provision of this Regulation.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.2.

13.3. Exemption for Certain Exchangeable Security Issuers (19
In this section: (bQ X
"designated Canadian jurisdiction” means Alberta, British &bia, Manitoba,

New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Québec, or Saskatchew.

provides the holder of the security with economic and vt ights which are, as nearly

"designated exchangeable security” means an egﬁngeable security which
as possible except for tax implications, equivalent to t&s erlying securities;

"exchangeable security” means a security\’é\an issuer that is exchangeable for,
or carries the right of the holder to purchas& r of the parent issuer to cause the
purchase of, an underlying security; Q

"exchangeable security issuer” r@ms a person that has issued an exchangeable
security;

"parent issuer”, when u relation to an exchangeable security issuer, means
the person that issues the u ying security; and

"underlying sec eans a security of a parent issuer issued or transferred, or
to be issued or tran d, on the exchange of an exchangeable security.

(2) An exc@&able security issuer satisfies the requirements in this Regulation if

() C-ﬂe parent issuer is the beneficial owner of all the issued and outstanding
voting ities of the exchangeable security issuer;

b) the parent issuer is either
S

0] an SEC issuer with a class of securities listed or quoted on a U.S.
marketplace that has filed all documents it is required to file with the SEC; or

(i) a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction that has
filed all documents it is required to file under this Regulation;
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(c) the exchangeable security issuer does not issue any securities, and does
not have any securities outstanding, other than

0] designated exchangeable securities;

(i) securities issued to and held by the parent issuer or an affiliate of
the parent issuer; N

(i)  debt securities issued to and held by banks, loan corporatio an
and investment corporations, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury ches,
savings or credit unions, financial services cooperatives, insurance compa@e§ or other
financial institutions; or

(iv)  securities issued under exemptions fro%ahe prospectus
requirement in section 2.35 and registration requirement in se .35 of Regulation
45-106 respecting Prospectus and Registration Exemptions K A, 1. 21);

(d)  the exchangeable security issuer files in eléaic format,

0] if the parent issuer is not @orting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction, copies of all documents t;iz rent issuer is required to file with
the SEC under the 1934 Act, at the same timg as, or as soon as practicable after, the
filing by the parent issuer of those docume?,i/@i the SEC,; or

(i) if the parent issue@loa reporting issuer in a designated Canadian
jurisdiction,

(A) a ng®® Indicating that the exchangeable security issuer is
relying on the continuous di ure documents filed by its parent issuer and setting out
where those documents gar?be found in electronic format, if the parent issuer is a
reporting issuer in the@urisdiction; or

QB'} copies of all documents the parent issuer is required to file
under securiticg leyislation, other than in connection with a distribution, at the same time
as the filintgb&he parent issuer of those documents with a securities regulatory

authority;Q_

@ the exchangeable security issuer concurrently sends to all holders of
deggnated exchangeable securities all disclosure materials that are sent to holders of
tAQunderlying securities in the manner and at the time required by

0] U.S. laws and any U.S. marketplace on which securities of the

parent issuer are listed or quoted, if the parent issuer is not a reporting issuer in a
designated Canadian jurisdiction; or
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(i) securities legislation, if the parent issuer is a reporting issuer in a
designated Canadian jurisdiction;

() the parent issuer

0] complies with U.S. laws and the requirements of any U.S.
marketplace on which the securities of the parent issuer are listed or quoted if the
parent issuer is not a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdicti()qd,'\or
securities legislation if the parent issuer is a reporting issuer in a designated Cga ian

jurisdiction, in respect of making public disclosure of material information oKb imely
basis; and Q-
(i) immediately issues in Canada and files any release that

discloses a material change in its affairs;

(g) the exchangeable security issuer issues in Cag a news release and
files a material change report in accordance with Part 7 of egulation for all material
changes in respect of the affairs of the exchangeable é'dy issuer that are not also
material changes in the affairs of its parent issuer; anb

(h)  the parent issuer includes in all m %e s of proxy solicitation materials to
holders of designated exchangeable securltles& ar and concise statement that

0] explains the reason tkf(-al}nailed material relates solely to the parent

issuer; .
‘bQ

(i) indicates th e designated exchangeable securities are the
economic equivalent to the un ¥Ng securities; and
(i) esc } the voting rights associated with the designated

exchangeable secunﬂa

3) The m&d%ﬁwtlng requirement and the requirement to file an insider profile
under Nation trument 55-102 System for Electronic Disclosure by Insiders
oes not apply to any insider of an exchangeable security issuer in
rities of the exchangeable security issuer so long as,

Q@ if the insider is not the parent issuer,

\s 0] the insider does not receive, in the ordinary course, information as
to material facts or material changes concerning the parent issuer before the material
facts or material changes are generally disclosed, and

(i) the insider is not an insider of the parent issuer in any capacity
other than by virtue of being an insider of the exchangeable security issuer;
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(b)  the parent issuer is the beneficial owner of all of the issued and
outstanding voting securities of the exchangeable security issuer;

(c) if the insider is the parent issuer, the insider does not beneficially own any
designated exchangeable securities other than securities acquired through the exercise
of the exchange right and not subsequently traded by the insider;

(d)  the parent issuer is an SEC issuer or a reporting issuer in a desigp\&ed

Canadian jurisdiction; and Q
(e) the exchangeable security issuer has not issued any securit'@ and does
not have any securities outstanding, other than (b
0] designated exchangeable securities; Q/E

(i) securities issued to and held by the par’@er or an affiliate of
the parent issuer; C)

(i)  debt securities issued to and i@@amks, loan corporations, loan

and investment corporations, savings companies, orporations, treasury branches,
savings or credit unions, financial services coop)({a es, insurance companies or other
financial institutions; and N

(iv)  securities issued Lﬁber exemptions from the prospectus
requirement in section 2.35 and @{stration requirement in section 3.35 of
Regulation 45-106 respecting Pros leys and Registration Exemptions.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.3; M.O. 2 4, s. 35; M.O. 2008-06, s. 6 and 11; M.O. 2009-05,

s. 1. 5

13.4. Exemption for&in Credit Support Issuers

(1) Inthis s:ec@~

"alter@é credit support" means support, other than a guarantee, for the
payment made by the issuer, as stipulated in the terms of the securities or in an
agree overning rights of, or granting rights to, holders of the securities that

a) obliges the person providing the support to provide the issuer with funds
sWicient to enable the issuer to make the stipulated payments, or

(b)  entitles the holder of the securities to receive, from the person providing
the support, payment if the issuer fails to make a stipulated payment;

"credit support issuer" means an issuer of securities for which a credit supporter
has provided a guarantee or alternative credit support;
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“"credit supporter" means a person that provides a guarantee or alternative credit
support for any of the payments to be made by an issuer of securities as stipulated in
the terms of the securities or in an agreement governing rights of, or granting rights to,
holders of the securities;

"designated Canadian jurisdiction” means Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba,
New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Québec or Saskatchewan; "designated I‘\I'édit

support securities" means Q

€)) non-convertible debt securities or convertible debt securi@s:.!ﬁat are
convertible into non-convertible securities of the credit supporter; or (b

(b) non-convertible preferred shares or convertible prefeézhares that are
convertible into securities of the credit supporter, in respect ch a parent credit
supporter has provided &

(c) alternative credit support that OC)

0] entitles the holder of the sec r@s to receive payment from the
credit supporter, or enables the holder to recgived payment from the credit support
issuer, within 15 days of any failure by the creci @upport issuer to make a payment; and

(i) results in the securitigi/receiving the same credit rating as, or a
higher credit rating than, the credit ratir@hey would have received if payment had been
fully and unconditionally guaranteed”.‘py the credit supporter, or would result in the
securities receiving such a ratingy y were rated; or

(d) a full and unc \Etional guarantee of the payments to be made by the
credit support issuer, as gtipdilated in the terms of the securities or in an agreement
governing the rights ders of the securities, that results in the holder of such
securities being entj o receive payment from the credit supporter within 15 days of
any failure by the It support issuer to make a payment;

"parecgédit supporter" means a credit supporter of which the reporting issuer is

a subsidi@

sSbsidiary credit supporter” means a credit supporter that is a subsidiary of the

pq@t redit supporter; and
N\

"summary financial information" includes the following line items:
(@) revenue;

(b) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of the
parent;
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(c) profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent; and

(d) unless the accounting principles used to prepare the financial statements
of the person permits the preparation of the person's statement of financial position
without classifying assets and liabilities between current and non-current and the person
provides alternative meaningful financial information which is more appropriate to the

industry,
N

0] current assets; (19
(i) non-current assets; (bQ K

(i) current liabilities; and Q/Q‘

(iv)  non-current liabilities. &

(1.1) For the purposes of subparagraph (2)(g)(ii), céﬂdaﬂng summary financial
information must be prepared on the following basis: O

(& an entity's annual or interim summary financial information must be
derived from the entity’s financial information LR lying the corresponding consolidated
financial statements of the parent credit supﬁger for the corresponding period;

(b)  the parent credit suppor@®\ <olumn must account for investments in all
subsidiaries under the equity method%

(c) all subsidiary en{®&==0lumns must account for investments in non-credit
supporter subsidiaries under equity method.

(2) Except as pr in this section, a credit support issuer satisfies the
requirements in this lation if

@ t %rent credit supporter is the beneficial owner of all the outstanding
voting securj f the credit support issuer;

@2 the parent credit supporter is either
% ) an SEC issuer that is incorporated or organized under the laws of
tARUnited States of America or any state or territory of the United States of America or
the District of Columbia and that has filed all documents it is required to file with the
SEC; or

(i) a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction that has
filed all documents it is required to file under this Regulation;
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(c) the credit support issuer does not issue any securities, and does not have
any securities outstanding, other than

0] designated credit support securities;

(i) securities issued to and held by the parent credit supporter or an
affiliate of the parent credit supporter; N

(i)  debt securities issued to and held by banks, loan corporatio an
and investment corporations, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury ches,
savings or credit unions, financial services cooperatives, insurance compa@e§ or other
financial institutions; or

(iv)  securities issued under exemptions fro%ahe prospectus
requirement in section 2.35 and registration requirement in se .35 of Regulation
45-106 respecting Prospectus and Registration Exemptions K A, 1. 21);

(d)  the credit support issuer files in electronic f&&

0] if the parent credit support @ not a reporting issuer in a
designated Canadian jurisdiction, copies of all docuMents the parent credit supporter is
required to file with the SEC under the 193& t, at the same time or as soon as
practicable after the filing by the parent ctdgX Supporter of those documents with the
SEC; or }1/

4

(i) if the parent creﬁbsupporter is a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction,

(A) assjbce indicating that the credit support issuer is relying on
the continuous disclosureqo®iments filed by the parent credit supporter and setting out
where those docume n be found for viewing in electronic format, if the credit
support issueris ar ng issuer in the local jurisdiction; or

Q(B) copies of all documents the parent credit supporter is
required to m der securities legislation, other than in connection with a distribution,

at the sa e as the filing by the parent credit supporter of those documents with a
securiti&ulatory authority;
% e) if the parent credit supporter is not a reporting issuer in a designated
ORvadian jurisdiction, the parent credit supporter
0] complies with U.S. laws and the requirements of any U.S.

marketplace on which securities of the parent credit supporter are listed or quoted in
respect of making public disclosure of material information on a timely basis; and
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(i) immediately issues in Canada and files any news release that
discloses a material change in its affairs;

() the credit support issuer issues in Canada a news release and files a
material change report in accordance with Part 7 for all material changes in respect of
the affairs of the credit support issuer that are not also material changes in the affairs of
the parent credit supporter; N

(g) the credit support issuer files, in electronic format, in the notice ref to
in clause (d)(ii)(A) or in or with the copy of the interim and annual consolidated‘l%ncial
statements filed under subparagraph (d)(i) or clause (d)(ii)(B), either Q N

included in the consolidated financial results of the parent credit orter, if at that

0] a statement that the financial results of the crec@ppport issuer are
time,

O
(A) the credit support issuer has %al assets, operations,
revenue or cash flows other than those related to thc}Q&ance, administration and
repayment of the securities described in paragraph (c&)a

(B) each item of the Kn;&ary financial information of the
subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter onr% mbined basis, other than the credit
support issuer, represents less than 3% of corresponding items on the consolidated
financial statements of the parent credit® gepporter being filed or referred to under

paragraph (d), or Q -\

(i) for the perio vered by the consolidated interim financial report
or consolidated annual fina statements of the parent credit supporter filed,

consolidating summary fina§ information for the parent credit supporter presented
h of the following:

with a separate column @

Q@ the parent credit supporter;
Q/Q )  the credit support issuer;

combin SiS;

(B
(C) any other subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a

éQ (D) consolidating adjustments; and
N |
(E) the total consolidated amounts;
(h) the credit support issuer files a corrected notice under clause (d)(ii)(A) if

the credit support issuer filed the notice with the statement contemplated in
subparagraph (g)(i) and the credit support issuer can no longer rely on subparagraph

(@)
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0] in the case of designated credit support securities that include debt, the
credit support issuer concurrently sends to all holders of such securities all disclosure
materials that are sent to holders of similar debt of the parent credit supporter in the
manner and at the time required by

(1 U.S. laws and any U.S. marketplace on which securities of the
parent credit supporter are listed or quoted, if the parent credit supporter is p\&\a
reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction; or Q

_ . (i.i) securities_ Iegis_lati.on_, if the parent credit supporter i@.‘reporting
issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction; and

()] in the case of designated credit support securities t
shares, the credit support issuer concurrently sends to all hold
disclosure materials that are sent to holders of similar pref
credit supporter in the manner and at the time required by C)

clude preferred
such securities all
shares of the parent

parent credit supporter are listed or quoted, if t rent credit supporter is not a
reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiFQo Xeol§

(i) securities legislation, | @'e\parent credit supporter is a reporting
issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdictioh,

(M U.S. laws and any U.S. markeﬁla@ on which securities of the

4
(K) no person other than tharent credit supporter has provided a guarantee
or alternative credit support fo payments to be made under any issued and
outstanding securities of the @upport issuer.

(2.1) A credit support is e)satisfies the requirements of this Regulation where there
is a parent credit supp@nd one or more subsidiary credit supporters if

(@) the Q%Tﬁons in paragraphs (2)(a) to (f), (i), and (j) are complied with;

(b) arent credit supporter controls each subsidiary credit supporter and
the pare it supporter has consolidated the financial statements of each subsidiary
credit rter into the parent credit supporter’s financial statements that are filed or

refer under paragraph (2)(d);

\é (c) the credit support issuer files, in electronic format, in the notice referred to
in clause (2)(d)(ii)(A) or in or with the copy of each consolidated interim financial report
and the consolidated annual financial statements filed under subparagraph (2)(d)(i) or
clause (2)(d)(ii)(B), for a period covered by any consolidated interim financial report or
consolidated annual financial statements of the parent credit supporter filed by the
parent credit supporter, consolidating summary financial information for the parent credit
supporter presented with a separate column for each of the following:
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0] the parent credit supporter;

(i) the credit support issuer;

(iii) each subsidiary credit supporter on a combined basis;

(iv) any other subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a com&ihed
o

(vi)  the total consolidated amounts; Q_

basis;

(v) consolidating adjustments; and

(d) no person, other than the parent credit support Q&subsidiary credit
supporter has provided a guarantee or alternative credit sup &Jr the payments to be
made under the issued and outstanding designated credit %%ort securities; and

(e) the guarantees or alternative credit supg re joint and several.

(2.2) Despite paragraph (2.1)(c), the informat'orﬁet out in a column in accordance
with N

(@)  subparagraph (2.1)(c)(iv), ma&be combined with the information set out in
accordance with any of the other col@ns in paragraph (2.1)(c); if each item of the
summary financial information s@g out in a column in accordance with
subparagraph (2.1)(c)(iv) repres less than 3% of the corresponding items on the
consolidated financial stateme the parent credit supporter being filed or referred to
under paragraph (2)(d), 56

(b) subpara@(z.l)(c)(ii) may be combined with the information set out in
accordance with a the other columns in paragraph (2.1)(c); if the credit support
issuer has minim@%?ets, operations, revenue or cash flows other than those related to
the issuance,, administration and repayment of the securities described in
paragraph (

und onal Instrument 55-102 System for Electronic Disclosure by Insiders (SEDI)
( .1, r. 30) do not apply to an insider of a credit support issuer in respect of
saQurities of the credit support issuer so long as,

3) e?fﬁansider reporting requirement and the requirement to file an insider profile
|

(@) the conditions in paragraphs (2)(a) to (c) are complied with;

(b) if the insider is not a credit supporter,
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0] the insider does not receive, in the ordinary course, information as
to material facts or material changes concerning a credit supporter before the material
facts or material changes are generally disclosed, and

(i) the insider is not an insider of a credit supporter in any capacity
other than by virtue of being an insider of the credit support issuer; and

(c) if the insider is a credit supporter, the insider does not beneficially ow&'aay
designated credit support securities; Q

(4) A parent credit supporter is not a reporting issuer in a designateq Canadian
jurisdiction for the purposes of subparagraph (2)(b)(ii) if the parent supporter
complies with a requirement of this Regulation by relying o provision of
Regulation 71-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure and Other Ex&)ns Relating to
Foreign Issuers (c. V-1.1, r. 37).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.4; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.O 6-04, s. 36; M.O. 2008-
06, s. 7 and 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 7; M.O. 2009-05, s. 2; /2010-17, s. 26.

PART 14 EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITIQ{O

14.1. Effective Date y\'\

(Omitted). (19

)

M.O. 2005-03, s. 14.1. Q/(b
14.2. Transition 0%

Despite section 14 ,Qction 5.7 applies for financial years of the reporting issuer
beginning on or after J y 1, 2007.

M.O. 2005-03, s.{ﬂ%rratum, 2005, G.0. 2, 3727; M.O. 2006-04, s. 37.

14.3. Trant'l)er- Interim Financial Report

(2) ite section 4.4 and paragraph 4.10(2)(c), the first interim financial report
requi o be filed in the year of adopting IFRS in respect of an interim period

b@n ng on or after January 1, 2011 may be filed
N\

(@) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, on or before
the earlier of

0] the 75" day after the end of the interim period; and
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(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for a period ending on the last day of the interim period; or

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, on or before the earlier of
0] the 90" day after the end of the interim period; and

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial ;{bert
for a period ending on the last day of the interim period. Q

(2) Despite subsection 5.1(2), the MD&A required to be filed under subﬁuon 5.1(1)
relating to the first interim financial report required to be filed in the yé’? f adopting
IFRS in respect of an interim period beginning on or after January may be filed

1 egﬂ
on or before the earlier of @Q/

(@) the filing deadline for the interim financial repo,r{@out in subsection (1);
and

(b) the date the reporting issuer files t&s@erim financial report under
subsections (1) or 4.3(1), as applicable. &

3) Despite subsection 4.6(3), if a registerepg%lder or beneficial owner of securities,
other than debt instruments, of a reporting \sSuer requests the issuer's first interim
financial report required to be filed in the of adopting IFRS in respect of an interim
period beginning on or after January JGQll, the reporting issuer may send a copy of
the required interim financial reporQ)nd the interim MD&A relating to the interim
financial report to the person th% e the request, without charge, by the later of,

(@) in the case of&porting issuer relying on subsection (1), 10 calendar
days after the filing de@ set out in subsection (1), for the financial statements

requested,; O

(b) in t%@?e of a reporting issuer not relying on subsection (1), 10 calendar
days after the jind»deadline in subparagraph 4.4(a)(i) or 4.4(b)(i), subsection 4.10(2) or
subsection 1. , as applicable, for the financial statements requested; and

@2 10 calendar days after the issuer receives the request.
(A%%ubsections (1), (2) and (3) do not apply unless the reporting issuer:
N\

(@) is disclosing, for the first time, a statement of compliance with International
Accounting Standard 34 Interim Financial Reporting; and

(b)  did not previously file financial statements that disclosed compliance with
IFRS.
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(5)  Subsections (1), (2) and (3) do not apply if the first interim financial report is in
respect of an interim period ending after March 30, 2012.

M.O. 2010-17, s. 27.
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FORM 51-102F1
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of MD&A

MD&A is a narrative explanation, through the eyes of management, of ho fbur
company performed during the period covered by the financial statements, and our
company's financial condition and future prospects. MD&A complem and
supplements your financial statements, but does not form part of yewr, financial
statements.

Your objective when preparing the MD&A should be to im Q;our company's
overall financial disclosure by giving a balanced discussion of ompany's financial
performance and financial condition including, without limitati ch considerations as
liquidity and capital resources - openly reporting bad newsc}s ell as good news. Your
MD&A should O

- help current and prospective inve§@understand what the financial
statements show and do not show; N

- discuss material information ¢ ay not be fully reflected in the financial
statements, such as contingent liabiliti defaults under debt, off-balance sheet
financing arrangements, or other contra@xal obligations;

statements, and trends and ri at are reasonably likely to affect them in the future;

and 5

- provide @aﬂon about the quality, and potential variability, of your
company's profit o and cash flow, to assist investors in determining if past
performance is in&me of future performance.

Date ormatlon

- discuss important Edes and risks that have affected the financial

&anng the MD&A, you must take into account information available up to
the he MD&A. If the date of the MD&A is not the date it is filed, you must ensure
Iosure in the MD&A is current so that it will not be misleading when it is filed.

\

(c) Use of "Company"
Wherever this Form uses the word "company"”, the term includes other types of

business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business
entities.
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(d)  Explain Your Analysis

Explain the nature of, and reasons for, changes in your company's performance.
Do not simply disclose the amount of change in a financial statement item from period
to period. Avoid using boilerplate language. Your discussion should assist the reader to
understand trends, events, transactions and expenditures.

(e)  Focus on Material Information '\'\

Focus your MD&A on material information. You do not need to close
information that is not material. Exercise your judgment when determi@g whether

information is material. (b
()] Determination of what is Material Information Q/a

Would a reasonable investor's decision whether or o buy, sell or hold
securities in your company likely be influenced or changedg# the information in question
was omitted or misstated? If so, the information is likely al.

(@) Venture Issuers Without Significant Reve&@

If your company is a venture issuer wit (ght significant revenue from operations,
focus your discussion and analysis of fif@§clal performance on expenditures and
progress towards achieving your business bjjectives and milestones.

b
(h)  Reverse Takeover Transacti§ip

takeover acquirer's financial ments.

(i) (paragraph rev@

() ResourceQQJ%rs

If yoc’%ﬁmpany has mineral projects, your disclosure must comply with
Regulatio -101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects
(c. V-l.&S), including the requirement that all scientific and technical disclosure be
bas a technical report or other information prepared by or under the supervision of

a Iitied person.
&

If your company has oil and gas activities, your disclosure must comply with
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities
(c. V-1.1,r. 23).

If an acquisition is a revg&keover, the MD&A should be based on the reverse
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(k) Numbering and Headings

The numbering, headings and ordreing of items included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not be repeated
elsewhere.

() Omitting Information

N

You do not need to respond to any item in this Form that is inapplicable. Q'\
(m) Defined Terms Q"
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (c. V-1.1, r. 24) and gulation 14-101

respecting Definitions (c. V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this Forng§€p is defined in both
the securities statute of the local jurisdiction and in R@n 51-102 respecting

If a term is used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 tog‘éjg‘.u?ation 51-102

Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section f Policy Statement to
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous isclosure Obligations
(Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12) for further gujga

This Form also uses accounting terms th’aﬁ\are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable tdrprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy S ent to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations .

(n) Plain Language

o

Write the MD&A so th %aders are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language principles listed W&ection 1.5 of Policy Statement 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure lightions for further guidance. If you use technical terms,
explain them in a clea&oncise manner.

(0) AvailableQQr‘Period Information

If yo e not presented comparative financial information in your financial
statemen our MD&A you must provide prior period information relating to financial
perfor that is available.

(Qé%se of "Financial Condition"
N\

This Form uses the term "financial condition". Financial condition reflects the
overall health of the company and includes your company's financial position (as shown
on the statement of financial position) and other factors that may affect your company's
liquidity, capital resources and solvency.
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PART 2 CONTENT OF MD&A
ltem 1 Annual MD&A
1.1 Date

Specify the date of your MD&A. The date of the MD&A must be no earlier than
the date of the auditor's report on the annual financial statements for your comga\hy‘s
most recently completed financial year. Q
1.2  Overall Performance Q:I/
and cash flows. Discuss known trends, demands, commitments, e or uncertainties
that are reasonably likely to have an effect on your company's ss. Compare your

company's performance in the most recently completed finangi& year to the prior year's
performance. Your analysis should address at least the follcx'/)%ﬁg:

Provide an analysis of your company's financial condition, i%’épperformance

(&) operating segments that are reportabégments as those terms are
described in the issuer's GAAP; &

(b)  other parts of your business if ;\'\

0] they have a dispropoﬂpnate effect on revenue, profit or loss or

cash needs; or (b )
(i) there are a al or other restrictions on the flow of funds from
one part of your company's bu S to another;

(c) industry ar@:}mmic factors affecting your company's performance;

(d)  whyc s have occurred or expected changes have not occurred in
your company's fgggkcral condition and financial performance; and

(e) ffect of discontinued operations on current operations.
INSTR@EONS
@i hen explaining changes in your company's financial condition and results,
i de an analysis of the effect on your continuing operations of any acquisition,
disposition, write-off, abandonment or other similar transaction.
(i) A discussion of financial condition should include important trends and risks that

have affected the financial statements, and trends and risks that are reasonably likely to
affect them in the future.
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(i) Include information for a period longer than 2 financial years if it will help the
reader to better understand a trend.

1.3. Selected Annual Information

(2) Provide the following financial data derived from your company's annual financial
statements for each of the 3 most recently completed financial years: N

(a) total revenue; Q'\

(b) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to ome(s of the
parent, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; (b

(c) profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent, in@and on a per-
share and diluted per-share basis;

(d)  total assets; C'}
(e) total non-current financial liabilities; andOO
() distributions cash dividends declarg{p&r-share for each class of share.

(2) Discuss the factors that have ca '\period to period variations including
discontinued operations, changes in ac ting policies, significant acquisitions or
dispositions and changes in the direct@@f your business, and any other information
your company believes would enh nfé)an understanding of, and would highlight trends
in, financial position and financial&ormance.

INSTRUCTIONS 50

) For each of @ most recently completed financial years, indicate the
accounting principl t the financial data has been prepared in accordance with, the
presentation cur%@v~ and the functional currency if different from the presentation

currency.
g

(i) If ancial data provided was not prepared in accordance with the same
accoungmnygsprinciples for all 3 years, focus the discussion on the important trends and
risks ave affected the business.

1® Discussion of Operations

Discuss your analysis of your company's operations for the most recently
completed financial year, including
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(a) total revenue by reportable segment, including any changes in such
amounts caused by selling prices, volume or quantity of goods or services being sold, or
the introduction of new products or services;

(b)  any other significant factors that caused changes in total revenue;
(c) cost of sales or gross profit;

N
(d)  for issuers that have significant projects that have not yet g %ted
revenue, describe each project, including your company's plan for the projedt)grd the
status of the project relative to that plan, and expenditures made and ho gse relate
to anticipated timing and costs to take the project to the next stage of the ct plan;

(e)  for resource issuers with producing mines or mines& development,

identify any milestone, including, without limitation, mine expa plans, productivity
improvements, plans to develop a new deposit, or producti cisions, and whether

the milestone is based on a technical report filed under @ ation 43-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects; O

() factors that caused a change in y@lationship between costs and
revenue, including changes in costs of labour o'r\m terials, price changes or inventory
adjustments; N

(g0 commitments, events, risks Gl/uncertainties that you reasonably believe

will materially affect your company's @u-re performance including total revenue and
profit or loss from continuing opera iofbattributable to owners of the parent;

revenue and on profit or lo m continuing operations attributable to owners of the

(h)  effect of inflatio; specific price changes on your company's total
parent;

0] acom n in tabular form of disclosure you previously made about how
your company oing to use proceeds (other than working capital) from any
financing, an ation of variances and the impact of the variances, if any, on your
company's a@?ﬁo achieve its business objectives and milestones; and

@2 unusual or infrequent events or transactions.

Ih@g\JCTION
Your discussion under paragraph 1.4(d) should include

0] whether or not you plan to expend additional funds on the project; and

(i) any factors that have affected the value of the project(s) such as change in
commodity prices, land use or political or environmental issues.
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1.5 Summary of Quarterly Results

Provide the following information in summary form, derived from your company's
financial statements, for each of the 8 most recently completed quarters:

(a) total revenue;

(b) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to ownerm’?\the
parent, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; and

)
(c) profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent, in totalﬁg on a per-
share and diluted per-share basis. Qg_

Discuss the factors that have caused variations over th @rters necessary to
understand general trends that have developed and the s§< ality of the business.

INSTRUCTIONS O

(1) In the case of the annual MD&A, your mqg t@:ently completed quarter is the
guarter that ended on the last day of your most receMly completed financial year.

N

(i) You do not have to provide infor Qn for a quarter prior to your company
becoming a reporting issuer if your compgf%r as not prepared financial statements for
those quarters. Q -\

(i)  For sections 1.2, 1.3, 1.4 1.5 consider identifying, discussing and analyzing
the following factors: 0

(A) changes in u§omer buying patterns, including changes due to new
technologies and cha@ demographics;

(B) cha,Q%'in selling practices, including changes due to new distribution
arrangements&/a eorganization of a direct sales force;

(C Qmanges in competition, including an assessment of the issuer's
resour trengths and weaknesses relative to those of its competitors;

é D) the effect of exchange rates;
N\

(E) changes in pricing of inputs, constraints on supply, order backlog, or other
input-related matters;

(F)  changes in production capacity, including changes due to plant closures
and work stoppages;
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(G) changes in volume of discounts granted to customers, volumes of returns
and allowances, excise and other taxes or other amounts reflected on a net basis
against revenue;

(H) changes in the terms and conditions of service contracts;
() the progress in achieving previously announced milestones;

J) for resource issuers with producing mines, identify changes to ca WS
caused by changes in production throughput, head-grade, cut-off grade, metglxrgical
recovery and any expectation of future changes; and Q"

(K) if you have an equity investee that is significant to Q.Lcompany, the
nature of the investment and significance to your company. %/

(iv)  For each of the 8 most recently completed quarter @ilcate the accounting
principles that the financial data has been prepared in accogeladce with, the presentation
currency and the functional currency if different from the ntation currency.

(v) If the financial data provided was not prde@ in accordance with the same
accounting principles for all 8 quarters, focus the'\is ssion on the important trends and
risks that have affected the business. N

16  Liquidity "19
4
Provide an analysis of your oﬂpany's liquidity, including
(@) its ability to ge@sufﬁcient amounts of cash and cash equivalents, in
the short term and the Iongh , to maintain your company's capacity, to meet your

company's planned growt o fund development activities;

(b)  trends xpected fluctuations in your company's liquidity, taking into
account demandg mitments, events or uncertainties;

(c) C'g(vmrking capital requirements;
@ liquidity risks associated with financial instruments;
% if your company has or expects to have a working capital deficiency,
dduss its ability to meet obligations as they become due and how you expect it to

remedy the deficiency;

)] statement of financial position conditions or profit or loss attributable to
owners of the parent or cash flow items that may affect your company's liquidity;
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(g) legal or practical restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to transfer funds
to your company and the effect these restrictions have had or may have on the ability of
your company to meet its obligations; and

(h)  defaults or arrears or significant risk of defaults or arrears on

) distributions or dividends payments, lease payments, interest or
principal payment on debt; '\'\

(i)  debt covenants; and (19
)
(i)  redemption or retraction or  sinking fundbgpayments,

and how your company intends to cure the default or arrear@%ddress the risk.

INSTRUCTIONS &O

) In discussing your company's ability to generate&lient amounts of cash and
cash equivalents you should describe sources of fupding and the circumstances that
could affect those sources that are reasonalx Jikely to occur. Examples of
circumstances that could affect liquidity are mamket or commodity price changes,
economic downturns, defaults on guarantees q& ontractions of operations.

(i) In discussing trends or expected ﬁluztuations in your company's liquidity and
liquidity risks associated with financial i@r«uments you should discuss

(A)  provisions in debt @se or other arrangements that could trigger an
additional funding requireme early payment. Examples of such situations are
provisions linked to credit raiddgprofit or loss, cash flows or share price; and

(B)  circumst
transaction conside
inability to maintg

share price. Q/

@ii)  In @ @ssing your company's working capital requirements you should discuss
situatioQ here your company must maintain significant inventory to meet customers'
deIinf qguirements or any situations involving extended payment terms.

\J

that could impair your company's ability to undertake
sential to operations. Examples of such circumstances are the
nvestment grade credit rating, earnings per-share, cash flow or
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(iv)  In discussing your company's statement of financial position conditions or profit
or loss or cash flow items you should present a summary, in tabular form, of contractual
obligations including payments due for each of the next 5 years and thereafter. The
summary and table do not have to be provided if your company is a venture issuer. An
example of a table that can be adapted to your company's particular circumstances
follows:

Payments Due by Period N '\
Contractual Total Less than lyear | 1-3years 4 -5years After %é}ts
Obligations [
Debt v

Finance Lease O*
jo)

Obligations

(
Operating Leases ,Q-

Purchase )
Obligations(1) Q<)</

Other \V
&O

Obligations(2)

Total Contractual ( ) ;
Obligations n
(1) Purchase Obligation" means an agreement to purchas od3 or services that is enforceable and
legally binding on your company that specifies all significant ?@including: fixed or minimum quantities
to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable
price provisions; and the approximﬁrtfe\ timing of the transaction.
(2) "Other Obligations" means other financial I \es reflected on your company's statement of
financial position. (1/

The tabular presentation m ® accompanied by footnotes to describe

necessary for an understandin e timing and amount of your company's specified
contractual obligations. 0

1.7  Capital Resourc@

Provide an aQQs of your company's capital resources, including

provisions that create, increase orEac lerate obligations, or other details to the extent

€) (@ itments for capital expenditures as of the date of your company's
financial staeny¥nts including

QO 0] the amount, nature and purpose of these commitments;
\é (i) the expected source of funds to meet these commitments; and
(i)  expenditures not yet committed but required to maintain your

company's capacity, to meet your company's planned growth or to fund development
activities;
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(b) known trends or expected fluctuations in your company's capital
resources, including expected changes in the mix and relative cost of these resources;
and

(c) sources of financing that your company has arranged but not yet used.

INSTRUCTIONS

debt, equity and any other financing arrangements that you reasonably cofgiger will

0] Capital resources are financing resources available to your company arr}g&'c}ude
provide financial resources to your company. Q N

(i) In discussing your company's commitments you should discu ny exploration
and development, or research and development expenditures ed to maintain
properties or agreements in good standing.

1.8 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements C’}

Discuss any off-balance sheet arrangements jhatMN#ave, or are reasonably likely
to have, a current or future effect on the financial&@rmance or financial condition of
your company including, without limitation, such coNsiderations as liquidity and capital
resources. N

In your discussion of off-balance sﬁbet arrangements you should discuss their
business purpose and activities, their@enomic substance, risks associated with the
arrangements, and the key terms aﬂg conditions associated with any commitments.
Your discussion should include

(@) a description o%@ other contracting party(ies);

(b) the effecb@érminating the arrangement;

(©) the &nts receivable or payable, revenue, expenses and cash flows
resulting from jae drangement;

(d) C-He nature and amounts of any other obligations or liabilities arising from
the arr, ment that could require your company to provide funding under the
nt and the triggering events or circumstances that could cause them to arise;

&

N\

(e) any known event, commitment, trend or uncertainty that may affect the
availability or benefits of the arrangement (including any termination) and the course of
action that management has taken, or proposes to take, in response to any such
circumstances.
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INSTRUCTIONS

0] Off-balance sheet arrangements include any contractual arrangement with an
entity not reported on a consolidated basis with your company, under which your
company has

(A) any obligation under certain guarantee contracts;

(B) aretained or contingent interest in assets transferred to an unconsgigdated
entity or similar arrangement that serves as credit, liquidity or market risk supp61} that
entity for the assets; Q-

(C) any obligation under certain derivative instruments; or Q_

(D) any obligation held by your company in an un idated entity that
provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit risk sup 0 your company, or
engages in leasing, hedging activities or, research and de@ ment services with your

company. O

(i) Contingent liabilities arising out of Iitigation)%a@[ration or regulatory actions are
not considered to be off-balance sheet arrangement™

(i)  Disclosure of off-balance sheet arr '\‘nents should cover the most recently
completed financial year. However, the oéwssion should address changes from the
previous year where such discussion is@eessary to understand the disclosure.

(iv)  The discussion need not r. t information provided in the notes to the financial
statements if the discussion y cross-references to specific information in the
relevant notes and integrate substance of the notes into the discussion in a manner
that explains the significge f the information not included in the MD&A.

1.9 TransactionQ@\Neen Related Parties

DiscussQﬂ ansactions between related parties as defined by the issuer's GAAP.
INSTRUCQ&*&

g discussing your company's transactions between related parties, your
ssion should include both qualitative and quantitative characteristics that are
ssary for an understanding of the transactions' business purpose and economic
substance. You should discuss

di
n

(A) the relationship and identify the related person or entities;

(B) the business purpose of the transaction;
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(C) the recorded amount of the transaction and describe the measurement
basis used; and

(D) any ongoing contractual or other commitments resulting from the
transaction.

1.10 Fourth Quarter N

Discuss and analyze fourth quarter events or items that affected your cor@%y's
financial condition, financial performance or cash flows, year-end aﬁ?/ other
adjustments, seasonal aspects of your company's business and digspgitions of
business segments. If your company has filed separate MD&A for its fouﬁb arter, you
may satisfy this requirement by incorporating that MD&A by referen%Q_

1.11 Proposed Transactions CDQ

Discuss the expected effect on financial conditio ,'ﬁsancial performance and
cash flows of any proposed asset or business ac\fﬁam or disposition if your
company's board of directors, or senior manageme believe that confirmation of
the decision by the board is probable, have deci;%)o proceed with the transaction.

Include the status of any required shareholder or regwlatory approvals.

,\'\

INSTRUCTION Q
You do not have to disclo%{his information if, under section 7.1 of

Regulation 51-102 respecting Contirﬁbus Disclosure Obligations, your company has

filed a Form 51-102F3 Materi hange Report regarding the transaction on a

confidential basis and the repo ains confidential.

1.12 Critical Accounti&%timates

If your comp not a venture issuer, provide an analysis of your company's
critical accountinQ IMates. Your analysis should

(@) 10QAtify and describe each critical accounting estimate used by your
company ¢ ing

QO 0] a description of the accounting estimate;

AN\ (i) the methodology used in determining the critical accounting
estimate;

(i)  the assumptions underlying the accounting estimate that relate to
matters highly uncertain at the time the estimate was made;
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(iv)  any known trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that could
materially affect the methodology or the assumptions described; and

(V) if applicable, why the accounting estimate is reasonably likely to
change from period to period and have a material impact on the financial presentation;

(b)  explain the significance of the accounting estimate to your company's
financial position, changes in financial position and financial performance and i '
the financial statement line items affected by the accounting estimate; (19

(c) (paragraph revoked); Q"

(d)  discuss changes made to critical accounting estimate ing the past 2
financial years including the reasons for the change and the quant{ e effect on your
company's overall financial performance and financial statemen Items; and

accounting estimate affects and discuss the accounj stimate on a reportable
segment basis, if your company operates in more thapohe’reportable segment.

(e) identify the reportable segments of your cpﬁxmy's business that the
INSTRUCTIONS &
N
0] An accounting estimate is a critical %@%ting estimate only if
(A) it requires your compan make assumptions about matters that are
highly uncertain at the time the acc Lﬂmg estimate is made; and

period, or changes in the a nting estimate that are reasonably likely to occur from
period to period, would hgv material impact on your company's financial condition,
changes in financial cga®R®on or financial performance.

(i) As part of% description of each critical accounting estimate, in addition to
gualitative dis%z re, you should provide quantitative disclosure when quantitative
information ng onably available and would provide material information for investors.

(B) different estimat§$at your company could have used in the current

Similarly, £ ur discussion of assumptions underlying an accounting estimate that
relates atters highly uncertain at the time the estimate was made, you should
provi%%antitative disclosure when it is reasonably available and it would provide

rial information for investors. For example, quantitative information may include a
g&ﬁtivity analysis or disclosure of the upper and lower ends of the range of estimates
from which the recorded estimate was selected.
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1.13 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption

Discuss and analyze any changes in your company's accounting policies,
including

(@) for any accounting policies that you have adopted or expect to adopt
subsequent to the end of your most recently completed financial year, including
changes you have made or expect to make voluntarily and those due to a change i™N\en
accounting standard or a new accounting standard that you do not have to ado ila
future date, you should "$

)
0] describe the new standard, the date you are requ@o adopt it
and, if determined, the date you plan to adopt it;

(i) disclose the methods of adoption perm % the accounting
standard and the method you expect to use;

(i)  discuss the expected effect g&ur company's financial
statements, or if applicable, state that you cannot re 6 yestlmate the effect; and

(iv)  discuss the potential effect '§sur business, for example technical
violations or default of debt covenants or chan n business practices; and

(b)  for any accounting policies tr%zyou have initially adopted during the most
recently completed financial year, you @uld

0] describe th @nts or transactions that gave rise to the initial
adoption of an accounting po@

(i) descn esﬁhe accounting policy that has been adopted and the
method of applying th y;

(ill)g1 cuss the effect resulting from the initial adoption of the
accounting polj your company's financial position, changes in financial position and
financial per&nce

policies,

%2 (iv) if your company is permitted a choice among acceptable
accoQ

AN\ (A) state that you made a choice among acceptable alternatives;
(B) identify the alternatives;

(C)  describe why you made the choice that you did; and
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(D) discuss the effect, where material, on your company's
financial position, changes in financial position and financial performance under the
alternatives not chosen; and

(v) if no accounting literature exists that covers the accounting for the events
or transactions giving rise to your initial adoption of the accounting policy, explain your
decision regarding which accounting policy to use and the method of applying that

principle.
N

INSTRUCTION (19

)
You do not have to present the discussion under paragraph 1.13(6&r the initial
adoption of accounting policies resulting from the adoption of¢hew accounting
standards.

1.14 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments &O
For financial instruments and other instruments, OC)

(@) discuss the nature and extent of,@ company's use of, including
relationships among, the instruments and the bu;{le S purposes that they serve;

(b)  describe and analyze the risk(sI;@%ciated with the instruments;

(c) describe how you man@ye the risks in paragraph (b), including a
discussion of the objectives, geneyal Difategies and instruments used to manage the
risks, including any hedging activ{§ss

(d) disclose the f@lal statement classification and amounts of income,
expenses, gains and Ios§ sociated with the instrument; and

(e) discus @ significant assumptions made in determining the fair value of
financial instrum the total amount and financial statement classification of the
change in fair yalde of financial instruments recognized in profit or loss for the period,
and the tota&unt and financial statement classification of deferred or unrecognized
gains andQ_ s on financial instruments.

INSTQ@TIONS

(D\s "Other instruments" are instruments that may be settled by the delivery of non-
financial assets. A commodity futures contract is an example of an instrument that may
be settled by delivery of non-financial assets.

(i) Your discussion under paragraph 1.14(a) should enhance a reader's

understanding of the significance of recognized and unrecognized instruments on your
company's financial position, financial performance and cash flows. The information
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should also assist a reader in assessing the amounts, timing, and certainty of future
cash flows associated with those instruments. Also discuss the relationship between
liability and equity components of convertible debt instruments.

(i)  For purposes of paragraph 1.14(c), if your company is exposed to significant
price, credit or liquidity risks, consider providing a sensitivity analysis or tabular
information to help readers assess the degree of exposure. For example, an analysis of
the effect of a hypothetical change in the prevailing level of interest or currency ra ANon
the fair value of financial instruments and future profit or loss and cash flows @ be
useful in describing your company's exposure to price risk.

)
(iv)  For purposes of paragraph 1.14(d), disclose and explain the reveﬁ@expenses,
gains and losses from hedging activities separately from other activitieQ_

1.15 Other MD&A Requirements @
company, including your company's AlF if your compa an AlF, is on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com. O

(b)  Your MD&A must also provide th 'iﬁ?ormation required in the following
sections of Regulation 51-102, if applicable: N

(@8 Your MD&A must disclose that additional 5: 'éﬂmation relating to your

0] section 5.3 involvin ditional disclosure for venture issuers
without significant revenue; Q N

(i) section 5.4 i @ing disclosure of outstanding share data; and

(i)  section @nvolving additional disclosure for reporting issuers with
significant equity investe

(c) Your must include the MD&A disclosure required by Regulation 52-
109 respecting ICation of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (c. V-
1.1, r. 27) an%ﬂ5 applicable, Form 52-109F1 Certification of Annual Filings — Full
Certificate, I’Q)ﬂ 2-109F1R Certification of Refiled Annual Filings, or Form 52-109F1
AlF Certif'QL' of Annual Filings in Connection with Voluntarily Filed AlF.

ltem O Interim MD&A
<

Z® Date

Specify the date of your interim MD&A.
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2.2 Interim MD&A

Interim MD&A must update your company's annual MD&A for all disclosure
required by Item 1 except section 1.3. This disclosure must include

(@) adiscussion of your analysis of

0] current quarter and year-to-date results including a comparis'o\hsof
financial performance to the corresponding periods in the previous year, Q

(i.0) a comparison of cash flows to the corresponding @igyin the
previous year;

(i) changes in financial performance and eleme%/a;f profit or loss
attributable to owners of the parent that are not related to ongoi Iness operations;

(i)  any seasonal aspects of your comp business that affect its
financial position, financial performance or cash flows; a@

(b) a comparison of your company's 4 m financial condition to your
company's financial condition as at the most rec?qtl ompleted financial year-end.

N

INSTRUCTIONS Q

0] If the first MD&A you file in this @rm (your first MD&A) is an interim MD&A, you
must provide all the disclosure calfeb for in Item 1 in your first MD&A. Base the
disclosure, except the disclosur @section 1.3, on your interim financial report. Since
you do not have to update th %osure required in section 1.3 in you interim MD&A,
your first MD&A will provide @osure under section 1.3 based on your annual financial
statements. Your subse& interim MD&A for that year will update your first interim

MD&A.
O

(i) For the pu%@s of paragraph 2.2(b), you may assume the reader has access to
your annual M or your first MD&A. You do not have to duplicate the discussion and
analysis of fj al condition in your annual MD&A or your first MD&A. For example, if
economi ndustry factors are substantially unchanged you may make a statement

to this @ .

(i or the purposes of subparagraph 2.2(a)(i), you should generally give
pNinence to the current quarter.

(iv)  In discussing your company's statement of financial position conditions or profit
or loss or cash flow items for an interim period, you do not have to present a summary,
in tabular form, of all known contractual obligations contemplated under section 1.6.
Instead, you should disclose material changes in the specified contractual obligations
during the interim period.
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(V) Interim MD&A prepared in accordance with Item 2 is not required for your
company's fourth quarter as relevant fourth quarter content will be contained in your
company's annual MD&A prepared in accordance with Item 1 (see section 1.10).

(vi)  In your interim MD&A, update the summary of quarterly results in section 1.5 by
providing summary information for the 8 most recently completed quarters. N

(vii)  Your annual MD&A may not include all the information in Item 1 if yougneMe a

venture issuer as at the end of your last financial year. If you ceased to be nture
issuer during your interim period, you do not have to restate the MD&A ygs Rreviously
filed. Instead, provide the disclosure for the additional sections in Item X you were
exempt from as a venture issuer in the next interim MD&A you file. B our disclosure
for those sections on your interim financial report. Q/

2.3  Other Interim MD&A Requirements &O@

Your interim MD&A must include the interim &JA disclosure required by
Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification of Disclosye™ Issuers’ Annual and Interim
Filings and, as applicable, Form 52-109F2 Ce tion of Interim Filings — Full
Certificate or Form 52-109F2R Certification of Refiled Interim Filings.

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F1; M.O. 2005- Q's\.Z; M.O. 2006-04, s. 38; M.O. 2007-08,
s. 6; M.O. 2008-17, s. 1; M.O. 2008-18, s. ébnd 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 28; M.O. 2011-02,
s. 1. )
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FORM 51-102F2
ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM

PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of AIF

An AIF (annual information form) is required to be filed annually by c&ﬂ&n
companies under Part 6 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Di ure
Obligations (c. V-1.1, r. 24). An AIF is a disclosure document intended t ovide
material information about your company and its business at a point igNie in the
context of its historical and possible future development. Your AlF ribes your
company, its operations and prospects, risks and other external facto at impact your
company specifically.

This disclosure is supplemented throughout the year )éYsequent continuous
disclosure filings including news releases, material change rts, business acquisition
reports, financial statements and management discussio, analysis.

(b)  Date of Information &O

Unless otherwise specified in this For&:fhe information in your AIF must be
presented as at the last day of your comp ost recently completed financial year.
If necessary, you must update the informatipn in the AIF so it is not misleading when it
is filed. For information presented a@t\ any date other than the last day of your
company's most recently complet ancial year, specify the relevant date in the
disclosure.

(c) Use of "Company" Soe

Wherever this @JSGS the word "company", the term includes other types of
business organizati uch as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business

entities. Q

es to "your company" in Iltems 4, 5, 6, 12, 13, 15 and 16 of this Form
ly to your company, your company's subsidiaries, joint ventures to which
ny is a party and entities in which your company has an investment
for by the equity method.

acco
(b&s Focus on Material Information

Focus your AIF on material information. You do not need to disclose information
that is not material. Exercise your judgment when determining whether information is
material. However, you must disclose all corporate and individual cease trade orders,
bankruptcies, penalties and sanctions in accordance with Item 10 and section 12.2 of
this Form.
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(e) Determination of What is Material

Would a reasonable investor's decision whether or not to buy, sell or hold
securities in your company likely be influenced or changed if the information in question
was omitted or misstated? If so, the information is likely material.

()] Incorporating Information by Reference '\'\

You may incorporate information required to be included in your AlF bya%ence
to another document, other than a previous AIF. Clearly identify thewrgferenced
document or any excerpt of it that you incorporate into your AIF. U you have
already filed the referenced document or excerpt, including any docu S incorporated
by reference into the document or excerpt, under your SEDAR pr@ou must file it
with your AIF. You must also disclose that the docum IS on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com. &

(9) Defined Terms OC)

If a term is used but not defined in this For%@r to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations ,and to Regulation 14-101 respecting
Definitions (c. V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used ﬂg\mis Form and is defined in both the
securities statute of a local jurisdiction and Q gulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1%0 Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obli%tions (Decision 2006-PDG-0229, 2006-12-12)
for further guidance.

This Form also uses nting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publi ccountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and ¢8)~Yof Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosurﬁ%aﬂons.

(h)  Plain Lan%%%

Write AlIF so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language iples listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecty ontinuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical

term%e lain them in a clear and concise manner.
(T)\s Special Purpose Entities
If your company is a special purpose entity, you may have to modify the

disclosure items in this Form to reflect the special purpose nature of your company's
business.
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1)) Numbering and Headings

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not be repeated
elsewhere.

(k)  Omitting Information

N

You do not need to respond to any item in this Form that is inapplicable @\/ou
may omit negative answers.

\
PART 2 CONTENT OF AIF (bg

Item 1 Cover Page Q/Q‘
11 Date &OQ)

Specify the date of your AIF. The date must be rlier than the date of the
auditor's report on the financial statements for your c y's most recently completed

financial year. &

You must file your AIF within 10 days of date of the AlF.
1.2 Revisions (19

4
If you revise your compan srb% after you have filed it, identify the revised
version as a "revised AIF". é/

Item 2 Table of Contagé
2.1 Table of Cont@

Include a tQQBf contents.

Item 3 é/porate Structure
3.1 &Address and Incorporation

( tate your company's full corporate name or, if your company is an
uNNcorporated entity, the full name under which it exists and carries on business, and
the address(es) of your company's head and registered office.

(2) State the statute under which your company is incorporated, continued or

organized or, if your company is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the jurisdiction or
foreign jurisdiction under which it is established and exists. Describe the substance of
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any material amendments to the articles or other constating or establishing documents
of your company.

3.2 Intercorporate Relationships

Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate relationships
among your company and its subsidiaries. For each subsidiary state:

(@) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the su 'ﬁary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by your com

(b)  the percentage of each class of restricted securities of subsidiary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, byé ompany; and

(c) where it was incorporated, continued, formed or o 6&
INSTRUCTION C)

You may omit a particular subsidiary if, at the mosbe t financial year-end of your

company, &

) the total assets of the subsidiary do noﬁ\&ceed 10% of the consolidated assets
of your company; Q

(i) the revenue of the subsidiary dc@ $10t exceed 10% of the consolidated revenue
of your company; and

(i) the conditions in parag@% and (ii) would be satisfied if you

(A) aggregated ubS|d|ar|es that may be omitted under paragraphs (i) and

(i), and
O

(B) ch he reference in those paragraphs from 10% to 20% .

Item 4 éﬁeral Development of the Business

Gg; History

%escribe how your company's business has developed over the last 3 completed
@lal years. Include only events, such as acquisitions or dispositions, or conditions
that have influenced the general development of the business. If your company
produces or distributes more than one product or provides more than one kind of
service, describe the products or services. Also discuss changes in your company's
business that you expect will occur during the current financial year.

104



4.2  Significant Acquisitions

Disclose any significant acquisition completed by your company during its most
recently completed financial year for which disclosure is required under Part 8 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, by providing a brief
summary of the significant acquisition and stating whether your company has filed a
Form 51-102F4 in respect of the acquisition. N

N
(19

5.1 General Q-

ltem 5 Describe the Business

reportable segments as those terms are described in the issue AAP. For each

Describe the business of your company and its operating gments that are
reportable segment include:

€) Summary - For products or services, C'}

0] their principal markets; O

N
(i)  for each of the 2 most @tly completed financial years, as dollar

amounts or as percentages, the revenue ach category of products or services that
accounted for 15% or more of total c@solidated revenue for the applicable financial

year derived from
A. sa{ﬁansfers to joint ventures in which your company is
a participant or to entities i ch your company has an investment accounted for by

the equity method,

(i) distribution methods;

O sales to customers, other than those referred to in clause A,
outside the consq# d entity, and

C)Q/ C. sales or transfers to controlling shareholders;

QQ (iv)  if not fully developed, the stage of development of the products or
n

servi d, if the products are not at the commercial production stage
\s A. the timing and stage of research and development
programs,

B. whether your company is conducting its own research and

development, is subcontracting out the research and development or is using a
combination of those methods, and
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C. the additional steps required to reach commercial production
and an estimate of costs and timing.

(b) Production and Services - The actual or proposed method of production
and, if your company provides services, the actual or proposed method of prowdlng
services.

(c) Specialized Skill and Knowledge - A description of any specdﬁ& skill
and knowledge requirements and the extent to which the skill and k L@dge are
available to your company. (b

(d) Competitive Conditions - The competitive conditionggayour company's
principal markets and geographic areas, including, if re ly possible, an
assessment of your company's competitive position. &

(e) New Products - If you have publicly anno&& the introduction of a new
product, the status of the product.

() Components - The sources, prlf\&and availability of raw materials,
component parts or finished products. N

(9) Intangible Properties - The ﬂ)portance, duration and effect of identifiable
intangible properties, such as brand @gmes, circulation lists, copyrights, franchises,
licences, patents, software, subscgt/ﬂg Ists and trademarks, on the segment.

(h) Cycles - The e@to which the business of the reportable segment is
cyclical or seasonal. 5

0] Economy pendence - A description of any contract upon which your
company's business4 bstantially dependent, such as a contract to sell the major part
of your company' ucts or services or to purchase the major part of your company's
requirements fgr geods, services or raw materials, or any franchise or licence or other
agreement a patent, formula, trade secret, process or trade name upon which
your com %S business depends.

@ Changes to Contracts -A description of any aspect of your company's
b eSs that you reasonably expect to be affected in the current financial year by
gotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts, and the likely effect.

(K) Environmental Protection - The financial and operational effects of
environmental protection requirements on the capital expenditures, profit or loss and
competitive position of your company in the current financial year and the expected
effect in future years.
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) Employees - The number of employees as at the most recent financial
year-end or the average number of employees over the year, whichever is more
meaningful to understand the business.

(m) Foreign Operations - Describe the dependence of your company and
any reportable segment upon foreign operations.

(n) Lending - With respect to your company's lending operations, disclok'me
investment policies and lending and investment restrictions. Q

(2)  Bankruptcy and Similar Procedures - Disclose the nature and resuits of any
bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings against the compan any of its
subsidiaries, or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar p edings by the
company or any of its subsidiaries, within the 3 most recently com financial years
or during or proposed for the current financial year. O

3) Reorganizations - Disclose the nature and results gi~aM material reorganization
of your company or any of its subsidiaries within the 3 cently completed financial
years or completed during or proposed for the curren@ ial year.

(4)  Social or Environmental Policies - If yqur cempany has implemented social or
environmental policies that are fundament % your operations, such as policies
regarding your company's relationship wit @ nvironment or with the communities in
which it does business, or human rights’?aplcies, describe them and the steps your
company has taken to implement themQ«

52 Risk Factors Q/

Disclose risk factors %&ing to your company and its business, such as cash
flow and liquidity problegs#if any, experience of management, the general risks
inherent in the busine ried on by your company, environmental and health risks,
reliance on key per, [, regulatory constraints, economic or political conditions and
financial history y other matter that would be most likely to influence an investor's
decision to purghase securities of your company. If there is a risk that securityholders of
your compag%y become liable to make an additional contribution beyond the price of

the secur%' close that risk.

INSTQ@TIONS

(D\s Disclose the risks in order of seriousness from the most serious to the least
serious.

(i) A risk factor should not be de-emphasized by including excessive caveats or
conditions.
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5.3 Companies with Asset-backed Securities Outstanding

If your company had asset-backed securities outstanding that were distributed
under a prospectus, disclose the following information:

(1) Payment Factors - A description of any events, covenants, standards or
preconditions that may reasonably be expected to affect the timing or amount of any

payments or distributions to be made under the asset-backed securities. N

(2) Underlying Pool of Assets - For the 3 most recently completed finan€igyears
of your company or the lesser period commencing on the first date og~vhich your
company had asset-backed securities outstanding, financial disclosure described

the underlying pool of financial assets servicing the asset-backed secQJ.es relating to

(@) the composition of the pool as of the end of each cial year or partial
period; &
(b) profit and losses from the pool on at least nual basis or such shorter

period as is reasonable given the nature of the under@ ool of assets;

(c) the payment, prepayment and collzﬁt:én experience of the pool on at least
an annual basis or such shorter period as;.'k easonable given the nature of the
underlying pool of assets; Q

(d)  servicing and other admir@rative fees; and

(e) any significant v Q}es experienced in the matters referred to in
paragraphs (a) through (d). §

(2.1) If any of the financy Ibsclosure disclosed in accordance with subsection (2) has
been audited, disclose&xistence and results of the audit.

3) Investme@ameters - The investment parameters applicable to investments
of any cash floy stwpluses.

comple inancial years or the lesser period commencing on the first date on which
yourga any had asset-backed securities outstanding, in respect of principal and
i st or capital and yield, each stated separately, on asset-backed securities of your
c&any outstanding.

4) F&&t History - The amount of payments made during the 3 most recently
i

(5) Acceleration Event - The occurrence of any event that has led to, or with the
passage of time could lead to, the accelerated payment of principal, interest or capital of
asset-backed securities.
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(6) Principal Obligors - The identity of any principal obligors for the outstanding
asset-backed securities of your company, the percentage of the pool of financial assets
servicing the asset-backed securities represented by obligations of each principal
obligor and whether the principal obligor has filed an AIF in any jurisdiction or a Form
10-K or Form 20-F in the United States.

INSTRUCTIONS N
0] Present the information requested under subsection (2) in a manner that '\sles
a reader to easily determine the status of the events, covenants, stanoﬁ&a and
preconditions referred to in subsection (1) of this item. N

o)

(A) is not compiled specifically on the pool of finangj %ets servicing the
asset-backed securities, but is compiled on a larger pool of t e assets from which
the securitized assets are randomly selected so that the pgfo ance of the larger pool

(i) If the information required under subsection (2)

is representative of the performance of the pool of secur assets, or

(B) inthe case of a new company, where I@Jool of financial assets servicing
the asset-backed securities will be randomly selected from a larger pool of the same
assets so that the performance of the lar pool will be representative of the
performance of the pool of securitized as tb be created, a company may comply
with subsection (2) by providing the inforn‘usayon required based on the larger pool and
disclosing that it has done so. Q 5

5.4 Companies With Mineral I@jeets

If your company had eral project, disclose the following information for each
project material to your (@ y:

(2) Project Des@@)n and Location

€) '@grea (in hectares or other appropriate units) and the location of the

project. C)

The nature and extent of your company's title to or interest in the project,
inclu surface rights, obligations that must be met to retain the project and the
e@g on date of claims, licences and other property tenure rights.

(©) The terms of any royalties, overrides, back-in rights, payments or other
agreements and encumbrances to which the project is subject.

(d)  All environmental liabilities to which the project is subject.
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(e) The location of all known mineralized zones, mineral resources, mineral
reserves and mine workings, existing tailing ponds, waste deposits and important
natural features and improvements.

) To the extent known, the permits that must be acquired to conduct the
work proposed for the project and if the permits have been obtained.

(2)  Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiograg{%
(@) The means of access to the property. (19

)
(b)  The proximity of the property to a population centre and‘@ nature of
transport.

(c) To the extent relevant to the mining project, the cli g/and length of the
operating season.

(d)  The sufficiency of surface rights for minin%’aﬂons the availability and
sources of power, water, mining personnel, potenﬂé gs storage areas, potential
waste disposal areas, heap leach pads areas and ial processing plant sites.

(e)  The topography, elevation and vqg(\atlon.
3) History (19

(@  The prior ownership aﬂg development of the property and ownership
changes and the type, amount, ity and results of the exploration work undertaken
by previous owners, and any p %us production on the property, to the extent known.

financial years or duri current financial year from, or intends to acquire a project
from, an informed p, or promoter of your company or an associate or affiliate of an
informed person % moter, the name of the vendor, the relationship of the vendor to
your company the consideration paid or intended to be paid to the vendor.

(b) If your comxrb acquired a project within the 3 most recently completed

(c) G’o the extent known, the name of every person that has received or is
expect receive a greater than 5% interest in the consideration received or to be
recei y the vendor referred to in paragraph (b).

(2&& Geological Setting - The regional, local and property geology.

(5) Exploration - The nature and extent of all exploration work conducted by, or on
behalf of, your company on the property, including

(@) the results of all surveys and investigations and the procedures and
parameters relating to surveys and investigations;
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(b)  aninterpretation of the exploration information;

(c) whether the surveys and investigations have been carried out by your
company or a contractor and if by a contractor, the name of the contractor; and

(d)  a discussion of the reliability or uncertainty of the data obtained in the
program. '\'\

(6) Mineralization - The mineralization encountered on the propél'& the
surrounding rock types and relevant geological controls, detailing length,ewidth, depth
and continuity together with a description of the type, character and digi¥dtion of the
mineralization.

an interpretation of all results.

(7)  Drilling - The type and extent of drilling, including the 6@%“% followed and

(8) Sampling and Analysis - The sampling and ass@ncluding

(@)  description of sampling methods ang@ location, number, type, nature,
spacing or density of samples collected; N

(b) identification of any drilling %@?}pling or recovery factors that could
materially impact the accuracy or reIiabiIity% e results;
4
(c) a discussion of the Qg‘nple quality and whether the samples are
representative and of any factors may have resulted in sample biases;

(d) rock types, ge@cal controls, widths of mineralized zones, cut-off grades
and other parameters u@ stablish the sampling interval; and

(e) qualit @rol measures and data verification procedures.

(9)  Securit o%amples - The measures taken to ensure the validity and integrity of
samples tak@%/

(20) I@ ral Resource and Mineral Reserve Estimates - The mineral resources
and yneral reserves, if any, including

\s (@) the quantity and grade or quality of each category of mineral resources
and mineral reserves;

(b) the key assumptions, parameters and methods used to estimate the
mineral resources and mineral reserves; and
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(c) the extent to which the estimate of mineral resources and mineral
reserves may be materially affected by metallurgical, environmental, permitting, legal,
title, taxation, socio-economic, marketing, political and other relevant issues.

(11) Mining Operations - For development properties and production properties, the
mining method, metallurgical process, production forecast, markets, contracts for sale of
products, environmental conditions, taxes, mine life and expected payback period of

capital. N

(12) Exploration and Development - A description of your company's CL@ and
contemplated exploration or development activities.

INSTRUCTIONS Q_

“

0] Disclosure regarding mineral exploration development ot ction activities on
material projects must comply with, and is subject to t itations set out in,
Regulation 43-101 respecting Standards of DisclogereN for Mineral Projects
(c. V-1.1,r. 15). Use the appropriate terminology to ﬁﬂbe mineral reserves and
mineral resources. Base the disclosure on a tec% eport, or other information,

prepared by or under the supervision of a quahﬁed&

(i) You may satisfy the disclosure require '\\ts in section 5.4 by reproducing the
summary from the technical report on t QE terial property, and incorporating the
detailed disclosure in the technical report i e AlIF by reference.

@ii)  In giving the information reﬂﬁ)’ed under section 5.4 include the nature of
ownership interests, such as fee '@ests, leasehold interests, royalty interests and any
other types and variations of @hip interests.

5.5 Companies With&'léd Gas Activities

If your comp engaged in oil and gas activities as defined in Regulation 51-
101 respectlng rds of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (c. V-1.1, r. 23),
disclose the fo&/ g information:

(2) ReQ_ s Data and Other Information

@ In the case of information that, for purposes of Form 51-101F1 Statement
0 serves Data and Other Oil and Gas Information, is to be prepared as at the end of
a\ﬁncial year, disclose that information as at your company's most recently completed
financial year-end.

(b) In the case of information that, for purposes of Form 51-101F1, is to be

prepared for a financial year, disclose that information for your company's most recently
completed financial year.
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(c) (paragraph revoked).

(2) Report of Independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator or Auditor - Include
with the disclosure under subsection (1) a report in the form of Form 51-101F2 Report
on Reserves Data by Independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator or Auditor, on the
reserves data included in the disclosure required under subsection (1).

(3) Report of Management -Include with the disclosure under subsection I)\a
report in the form of Form 51-101F3 Report of Management and Directors on | and
Gas Disclosure under Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure f67[9| and
Gas Activities that refers to the information disclosed under subsection (1)'Q"

(4) Material Changes — To the extent not reflected in the inforng@lign disclosed in
response to subsection (1), disclose the information contem by Part 6 of
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oj Gas Activities in
respect of material changes that occurred after your ’@any’s most recently
completed financial year-end. C)

INSTRUCTION O

O

The information presented in response to se?{o 5.5 must be in accordance with
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Digc\o ure for Oil and Gas Activities.

ltem 6 Dividends and Distributiongl/
4
6.1 Dividends and Distributions(b
(2) Disclose the amount of dividends or distributions declared per security for
each class of your compa ecurities for each of the 3 most recently completed

financial years.

(2) Describe an @iction that could prevent your company from paying dividends
or distributions. Q -

3) Discltégfour company’s current dividend policy and any intended change in
dividend oy

ItemQO Description of Capital Structure
7® General Description of Capital Structure

Describe your company's capital structure. State the description or the
designation of each class of authorized security, and describe the material
characteristics of each class of authorized security, including voting rights, provisions for

exchange, conversion, exercise, redemption and retraction, dividend rights and rights
upon dissolution or winding-up.
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INSTRUCTION

This section requires only a brief summary of the provisions that are material from a
securityholder's standpoint. The provisions attaching to different classes of securities do
not need to be set out in full. This summary should include the disclosure required in
subsection 10.1(1) of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

7.2  Constraints Q'\

If there are constraints imposed on the ownership of securities of ygyr.company
to ensure that your company has a required level of Canadian ownershi@~tescribe the
mechanism, if any, by which the level of Canadian ownership of the rities is or will

be monitored and maintained.

7.3 Ratings &OQ

If you have asked for and received a stability ratiag if you are aware that you
have received any other kind of rating, including a prayinal rating, from one or more
approved rating organizations for securities of yoy& pany that are outstanding and
the rating or ratings continue in effect, disclose N

(&) each security rating, includi '} provisional rating or stability rating,
received from an approved rating organizaﬁ@

4
(b)  for each rating disclo GQ)JQnder paragraph (a), the name of the approved
rating organization that has assi he rating;

(c) a definition or&ription of the category in which each approved rating
organization rated the sgcwlities and the relative rank of each rating within the
organization's overall @caﬂon system;

(d) an @aﬁon of what the rating addresses and what attributes, if any, of
the securities @ t addressed by the rating;

(e) y factors or considerations identified by the approved rating
organizg™w as giving rise to unusual risks associated with the securities;

f) a statement that a security rating or a stability rating is not a
reaQ®@mmendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision or
withdrawal at any time by the rating organization; and

(9) any announcement made by, or any proposed announcement known to
the issuer that is to be made by, an approved rating organization to the effect that the
organization is reviewing or intends to revise or withdraw a rating previously assigned
and required to be disclosed under this section.
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INSTRUCTIONS

There may be factors relating to a security that are not addressed by a ratings agency
when they give a rating. For example, in the case of cash settled derivative instruments,
factors in addition to the creditworthiness of the issuer, such as the continued
subsistence of the underlying interest or the volatility of the price, value or level of the
underlying interest may be reflected in the rating analysis. Rather than being addr Ped
in the rating itself, these factors may be described by an approved rating orgagwxation
by way of a superscript or other notation to a rating. Any such attributes(?&st be
discussed in the disclosure under section 7.3.
o

ltem 8 Market for Securities Qg_

8.1 Trading Price and Volume CDQ

“

Canadian marketplace, identify the marketplace and rice ranges and volume
traded or quoted on the Canadian marketplace on whi e greatest volume of trading
or quotation generally occurs. &

() For each class of securities of your company th;’ig\ traded or quoted on a

(2) If a class of securities of your companxﬁnot traded or quoted on a Canadian
marketplace, but is traded or quoted on eign marketplace, identify the foreign
marketplace and the price ranges and ume traded or quoted on the foreign
marketplace on which the greatest vqu@oof trading or quotation generally occurs.

3) Provide the information reQdjed under subsections (1) and (2) on a monthly
basis for each month or, if ap®ge®ble, partial months of the most recently completed
financial year. 5

8.2 Prior Sales O®

For each %ﬁf securities of your company that is outstanding but not listed or
guoted on a rRetplace, state the price at which securities of the class have been
issued duriq{?'most recently completed financial year by your company, the number

of securitQ_ the class issued at that price, and the date on which the securities were
issued.

It%g Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual
RRMtriction on Transfer

9.1 Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restriction on
Transfer

(1)  State, in substantially the following tabular form, the number of securities of each
class of your company held, to your company’s knowledge, in escrow or that are subject
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to a contractual restriction on transfer and the percentage that number represents of the
outstanding securities of that class for your company’s most recently completed
financial year.

ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT
TO CONTRACTUEL RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER

Designation of class Number of securities held in | Percentage of class
escrow or that are subject to a '\
contractual restriction on tranfer N
Q"

0

(2) In a note to the table disclose the name of the depository, if any, atNRke date of

and conditions governing the release of the securities from escrow e date the
contractual restriction on transfer ends, as applicable. Qg.
INSTRUCTIONS CDQ)

0] For the purposes of this item, escrow includes seey ies subject to a pooling
agreement. O

(i) For the purposes of this item, securities ;QO t to contractual restrictions on
transfer as a result of pledges made to lenders a;{n t required to be disclosed.

N
‘.19

10.1 Name, Occupation and Secu%@-folding

ltem 10 Directors and Officers

(1)  List the name, province o %te, and country of residence of each director and
executive officer of your com and indicate their respective positions and offices
held with your company their respective principal occupations during the 5
preceding years.

(2) State the pep Qr periods during which each director has served as a director
and when his or IQ rm of office will expire.

(3) State umber and percentage of securities of each class of voting securities
of your ¢ y or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or directed,
direc%@ directly, by all directors and executive officers of your company as a group.
(A% dentify the members of each committee of the board.

N\

5) If the principal occupation of a director or executive officer of your company is

acting as an officer of a person other than your company, disclose that fact and state
the principal business of the person.
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INSTRUCTION

For the purposes of subsection (3), securities of subsidiaries of your company that are
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by directors or
executive officers through ownership, or control or direction, directly or indirectly, over
securities of your company, do not need to be included.

10.2 Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions '\'\

If a director or executive officer of your company is, as at the date of t F, or
was within 10 years before the date of the AIF, a director, chief executive (@Qr or chief
financial officer of any company (including your company), that: (b

(@) was subject to an order that was issued while the @r or executive
officer was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive&@ or chief financial

officer, &
or OC)

(b)  was subject to an order that was i after the director or executive
officer ceased to be a director, chief executive offices or chief financial officer and which
resulted from an event that occurred while t erson was acting in the capacity as
director, chief executive officer or chief fing{t\al' officer, state the fact and describe the
basis on which the order was made and w er the order is still in effect.

4
(1.1) For the purposes of subsectiorﬂ% "order" means

(&) acease trade 0@

(b)  anorder s@r)o a cease trade order; or

(c) an or t denied the relevant company access to any exemption under
securities legislatj at was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days.

2.2 Ifa c@ér or executive officer of your company, or a shareholder holding a
sufficientQt_ er of securities of your company to affect materially the control of your
compa

a) is, as at the date of the AIF, or has been within the 10 years before the
a@of the AIF, a director or executive officer of any company (including your company)
that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person
ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings,
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or
trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or

117



(b) has, within the 10 years before the date of the AIF, become bankrupt,
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or
had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director,
executive officer or shareholder, state the fact.

(2)  Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they were
imposed, or the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances that gav, Ro

to the settlement agreement, if a director or executive officer of your compa ra
shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of your company% affect

materially the control of your company, has been subject to Q"
(@) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court rel to securities
legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entereQzifto a settlement

agreement with a securities regulatory authority; or

that would likely be considered important to a reas e investor in making an

(b)  any other penalties or sanctions imposed ;&ourt or regulatory body
investment decision.

3) Despite subsection (2), no disclosure i 'r%uwed of a settlement agreement
entered into before December 31, 2000 unles dlsclosure would likely be important
to a reasonable investor in making an inve%i/@ decision.

INSTRUCTIONS

0] The disclosure required bsectlons (1), (1.2) and (2) also applies to any
personal holding companles of the persons referred to in subsections (1), (1.2)

and (2).

(i) A managemen&&e trade order which applies to directors or executive officers
of a company is der" for the purposes of paragraph 10.2(1)(a) and must be
disclosed, wheth not the director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer

was named m@/ rder.

@y A %ﬂ‘lng fee, such as a filing fee that applies to the late filing of an insider
report, @ t a "penalty or sanction” for the purposes of section 10.2.

@ he disclosure in paragraph 10.2(1)(a) only applies if the director or executive
oN{ser was a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer when the order was
issued against the company. You do not have to provide disclosure if the director or
executive officer became a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer after
the order was issued.
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10.3 Conflicts of Interest

Disclose particulars of existing or potential material conflicts of interest between
your company or a subsidiary of your company and any director or officer of your
company or of a subsidiary of your company.

[tem 11 Promoters

N

11.1 Promoters Q'\

For a person that has been, within the 2 most recently completed figgngial years
or during the current financial year, a promoter of your company or of sidiary of

your company, state Q/Q.
(@) the person name;
OQ)

(b)  the number and percentage of each class o '&ng securities and equity
securities of your company or any of its subsidiaries be wllly owned, or controlled or
directed, directly or indirectly; O

(c) the nature and amount of anythir&o value, including money, property,
contracts, options or rights of any kind recej or to be received by the promoter
directly or indirectly from your company orgi'@ a subsidiary of your company, and the
nature and amount of any assets, servicegsor other consideration received or to be
received by your company or a subsidiQ ef your company in return; and

(d)  for an asset acquir @thin the 3 most recently completed financial years
or during the current financial »0r an asset to be acquired, by your company or by a
subsidiary of your company a promoter

() th ideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by
which the considera as been or will be determined;

j Q the person making the determination referred to in subparagraph (i)
and the per ationship with your company, the promoter, or an associate or affiliate
of your ¢ y or of the promoter; and

O (i)  the date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and the cost

o@gsset to the promoter.
Item 12 Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions
12.1 Legal Proceedings

Q) Describe any legal proceedings your company is or was a party to, or that any of
its property is or was the subject of, during your company’s financial year.
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(2) Describe any such legal proceedings your company knows to be contemplated.

(3) For each proceeding described in subsections (1) and (2), include the name of
the court or agency, the date instituted, the principal parties to the proceeding, the
nature of the claim, the amount claimed, if any, whether the proceeding is being
contested, and the present status of the proceeding. N

INSTRUCTION Q'\

You do not need to give information with respect to any proceeding that inyelygs a claim
for damages if the amount involved, exclusive of interest and costs, dcfés ot exceed
10% of the current assets of your company. However, if any proce@Ming presents in
large degree the same legal and factual issues as other proceedin nding or known
to be contemplated, you must include the amount involved in 6 er proceedings in
computing the percentage. &

12.2 Regulatory Actions OC)

Describe any &O

@) penalties or sanctions imposed o{éﬁst your company by a court relating
to securities legislation or by a securities reﬂ/@t ry authority during your financial year,

(b)  any other penalties or sgi#ons imposed by a court or regulatory body
against your company that woul ﬁbay be considered important to a reasonable
investor in making an investment jsion, and

(©) settlement agr nts your company entered into before a court relating
to securities Iegislation§ h a securities regulatory authority during your financial
year.

O
INSTRUCTION Q‘

You do not r@&o give information with respect to any proceeding that involves a claim
for dama% If the amount involved, exclusive of interest and costs, does not
exceed of the current assets of your company. However, if any proceeding
pres In large degree the same legal and factual issues as other proceedings
peNiny or known to be contemplated, you must include the amount involved in the
oﬁproceedings in computing the percentage.
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Item 13 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions
13.1 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions

Describe, and state the approximate amount of, any material interest, direct or
indirect, of any of the following persons in any transaction within the 3 most recently
completed financial years or during the current financial year that has materially affected
or is reasonably expected to materially affect your company: N

(@) adirector or executive officer of your company; (19

4
(b)  a person that beneficially owns, or controls or directs, direcﬂ'bg indirectly,
more than 10% of any class or series of your outstanding voting secu@s; and

(c) an associate or affiliate of any of the persons refer, @ in paragraphs (a)
or (b). ([)

INSTRUCTIONS OC)

() The materiality of the interest is to be deter on the basis of the significance
of the information to investors in light of all the ci U%sstances of the particular case. The
importance of the interest to the person ha the interest, the relationship of the
parties to the transaction with each othe "% the amount involved are among the
factors to be considered in determinirﬂﬁ/the significance of the information to
securityholders. (b 5

(i) This Item does not apply @ny interest arising from the ownership of securities
of your company if the securit er receives no extra or special benefit or advantage
not shared on an equal bass all other holders of the same class of securities or all
other holders of the same¢gl of securities who are resident in Canada.

(i)  Give a brief iption of the material transactions. Include the name of each
person whose in in any transaction is described and the nature of the relationship
to your comp

compa a subsidiary of your company, state the cost of the assets to the purchaser,
and t of the assets to the seller if acquired by the seller within 3 years before the
tr tlon

(iv) @ transactlon involving the purchase of assets by or sale of assets to your
s

(v) You do not need to give information under this Item for a transaction if

(A) the rates or charges involved in the transaction are fixed by law or
determined by competitive bids,
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(B) the interest of a specified person in the transaction is solely that of a
director of another company that is a party to the transaction,

(C) the transaction involves services as a bank or other depository of funds, a
transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust indenture or other similar services, or

(D) the transaction does not involve remuneration for services and the interest
of the specified person arose from the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, Pes
than 10% of any class of equity securities of another company that is part the
transaction and the transaction is in the ordinary course of business of your c%y or
your company's subsidiaries. Q N

an issuance of securities), directly or indirectly, to any of the s ied persons for
services in any capacity unless the interest of the person solely from the
beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, of less than 10% of a% Ss of equity securities

(vi)  Describe all transactions not excluded above that involve renjéwtlon (including

of another company furnishing the services to your c ny or your company's
subsidiaries. O

Item 14 Transfer Agents and Registrars &O
14.1 Transfer Agents and Registrars '\'\

State the name of your company'gbransfer agent(s) and registrar(s) and the
location (by municipalities) of the reglst%sa of transfers of each class of securities.

ltem 15 Material Contracté@

15.1 Material Contracts

Give particular@/ material contract

(@) req%g‘(o be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation at the time this
AlF is filed, as&/ red under section 12.3 of the Regulation, or

time thi is filed, as required under section 12.3 of the Regulation, but for the fact
that iQ/ previously filed.

I@RUCTIONS

0] You must give particulars of any material contract that was entered into within the
last financial year or before the last financial year but is still in effect, and that is required
to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation or would be required to be filed under
section 12.2 of the Regulation but for the fact that it was previously filed. You do not
need to give particulars of a material contract that was entered into before

b):gQ ould be required to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation at the
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January 1, 2002 because these material contracts are not required to be filed under
section 12.2 of the Regulation.

(i) Set out a complete list of all contracts for which particulars must be given under
this item, indicating those that are disclosed elsewhere in the AlF. Particulars need only
be provided for those contracts that do not have the particulars given elsewhere in the
AlF.

(i)  Particulars of contracts must include the dates of, parties to, consi@{ion
provided for in, and general nature and key terms of, the contracts.

)
Item 16 Interests of Experts (bQ

16.1 Names of Experts Q/Q‘
X

Name each person &

(@ who is named as having prepared or&fied a report, valuation,
statement or opinion described or included in a fili referred to in a filing, made
under Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuoy&%sclosure Obligations by your
company during, or relating to, your company's recently completed financial year;
and

(b)  whose profession or busine‘%' gives authority to the report, valuation,
statement or opinion made by the pers%«

16.2 Interests of Experts Q/
(2) Disclose all registereng&beneficial interests, direct or indirect, in any securities

or other property of your& any or of one of your associates or affiliates

@) held @ expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not an
individual, by theggﬁnated professionals of that expert, when that expert prepared the
report, valuati% tement or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a);

(b) Cﬁgceived by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not an
individ y the designated professionals of that expert, after the time specified in
para L§916.2(1)(a); or

N (0) to be received by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not
an individual, by the designated professionals of that expert.

(1.1) For the purposes of subsection (1), a "designated professional’ means, in
relation to an expert named in section 16.1,
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(&) each partner, employee or consultant of the expert who participated in and
who was in a position to directly influence the preparation of the report, valuation,
statement or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a); and

(b)  each partner, employee or consultant of the expert who was, at any time
during the preparation of the report, valuation, statement or opinion referred to in
paragraph 16.1(a), in a position to directly influence the outcome of the preparation of
the report, valuation, statement or opinion, including, without limitation N

0] any person who recommends the compensation of,"@ who
provides direct supervisory, management or other oversight of, the partner oyee or
consultant in the performance of the preparation of the report, valuatio tement or
opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a), including those at all succes y senior levels
through to the expert's chief executive officer;

(i) any person who provides consultaﬂ&b®gard|ng technical or
industry-specific issues, transactions or events for the paration of the report,
valuation, statement or opinion referred to in paragraph @Qﬁ) and

(i)  any person who provides qu@ntrol for the preparation of the
report, valuation, statement or opinion referred t ragraph 16.1(a).

(2)  For the purposes of subsection ( d\he person's interest in the securities
represents less than 1% of your outstandifg securities of the same class, a general
statement to that effect is sufficient. Q )

(2.1) Despite subsection (1), ditor who is independent in accordance with the
auditor's rules of professional ct in a jurisdiction of Canada or who has performed
an audit in accordance with $§ CAOB GAAS or U.S. AICPA GAAS is not required to
provide the disclosure i bsection (1) if there is disclosure that the auditor is
independent in acco with the auditor's rules of professional conduct in a
jurisdiction of Cana that the auditor has complied with the SEC's rules on auditor
independence. Q

3) If a pc%v(or a director, officer or employee of a person referred to in subsection
(1) is or ected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or
emp @ your company or of any associate or affiliate of your company, disclose the
fact (% ectation.

RUCTIONS
0] (paragraph revoked);

(i) Section 16.2 does not apply to
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(A) auditors of a business acquired by your company provided they have not
been or will not be appointed as your company's auditor subsequent to the acquisition,
and

(B) your company's predecessor auditors, if any, for periods when they were
not your company's auditor.

(i)  Section 16.2 does not apply to registered or beneficial interests, direct or intkr'éct,
held through mutual funds. (19

Item 17 Additional Information Q-

17.1 Additional Information Q_(b

(2) Disclose that additional information relating to your co may be found on
SEDAR at www.sedar.com. &

(2) If your company is required to distribute a ﬁ)Sl-lOZFS to any of its
securityholders, include a statement that additional i tion, including directors' and
officers' remuneration and indebtedness, principal rs of your company's securities

and securities authorized for issuance under eqyity dmpensation plans, if applicable, is
contained in your company's information circyi@r¥or its most recent annual meeting of
securityholders that involved the election o}igyc ors.

(3) Include a statement that addi{®gal financial information is provided in your
company's financial statements and(b &A for its most recently completed financial
year.

INSTRUCTION 50

Your company may a@ required to provide additional information in its AIF as set
out in Form 52-110Fé dit Committee Information Required in an AlF.

Item 18 @%onal Disclosure for Companies Not Sending Information
Circulars C)

18.1 @rional Disclosure

or companies that are not required to send a Form 51-102F5 to any of their
suaQurityholders, disclose the information required under Items 6 to 10, 12 and 13 of
Form 51-102F5, as modified below, if applicable:
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Form 51-102-F5 Reference

Modification

ltem 6 -Voting Securities and Principal
Holders of Voting Securities

Include the disclosure specified in section 6.1 without
regard to the phrase "entitled to be voted at the
meeting”. Do not include the disclosure specified in
sections 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4. Include the disclosure
specified in section 6.5.

Item 7 - Election of Directors

Disregard the preamble of section 7.1. Includ Rma

disclosure specified in section 7.1 without regar; he
word "proposed" throughout. Do not in the
disclosure specified in section 7.3.

QX

Item 8 - Executive Compensation

Disregard the preamble and paragrapf@;@f (b) and (c)
of Item 8. A company that s not send a
management information circul its securityholders
must provide the disclosur ired by Form 51-

102F6. P, O

ltem 9 - Securities Authorized for Issuance
under Equity Compensation Plans

Disregard subsection@‘b.

O

ltem 10 - Indebtedness of Directors and
Executive Officers

replace the. e "date of the informtion circular" with
"date of\the "AIF" throughout. Disregard paragraph

10.3(ap
D

Include the&@sure specified throughout; however,
P

Item 12 - Appointment of Auditor

PaY

NE$™th auditor. If the auditor was first appointed

&ith n the last 5 years state the date when the auditor

2o}

as first last 5 years, state the date when the auditor
was first appointed.

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51—102?&/‘.0. 2005-25, s. 3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 39; M.O. 2007-08,
1

s. 7, M.O. 2008-06, s. 9
02, s. 2.

; M.O. 2008-18, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 29; M.O. 2011-
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FORM 51-102F3
MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT

PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
€) Confidentiality

If this Report is filed on a confidential basis, state in block cq{fws
"CONFIDENTIAL" at the beginning of the Report. (19

(b)  Use of "Company" Q"

Wherever this Form uses the word "company"” the term inclu other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other unin€grdorated business
entities.

| | e
(c) Numbering and Headings C)

The numbering, headings and ordering of the iit®*s included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response bny item need not be repeated

elsewhere
N
N

(d) Defined Terms Q

If a term is used but not defined \this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure kﬁbﬂ ions (c. V-1.1, r. 24) and to Regulation 14-101
respecting Definitions (c. V-1.1, r &/f a term is used in this Form and is defined in both
the securities statute of a | Jurisdiction and in Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure ObligQdighs, refer to section 1.4 of Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure O&g ons.

(e) Plain Langué)

Write t% port so that readers are able to understand it. Consider both the
level of det; vided and the language used in the document. Refer to the plain

language iples listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respect'gg ontinuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12).
If yo technical terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.

PRRT 2 CONTENT OF MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT

Item 1 Name and Address of Company

State the full name of your company and the address of its principal office in
Canada.
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Item 2 Date of Material Change
State the date of the material change.
ltem 3 News Release

State the date and method(s) of dissemination of the news release issued under
section 7.1 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations. '\'\

Item 4 Summary of Material Change (19

)
Provide a brief but accurate summary of the nature and substance‘&ue material

change.
&

Item 5 Full Description of Material Change CDQ
5.1 Full Description of Material Change C’}

Supplement the summary required under It with sufficient disclosure to
enable a reader to appreciate the significance r%lmpact of the material change
without having to refer to other material. Manadement is in the best position to
determine what facts are significant and mu&?\!isclose those facts in a meaningful
manner. See also ltem 7. Q

Some examples of significant fa@ kelating to the material change include: dates,
parties, terms and conditions, desmﬂb’on of any assets, liabilities or capital affected,
purpose, financial or dollar valu sons for the change, and a general comment on
the probable impact on the is r its subsidiaries. Specific financial forecasts would
not normally be required. 5

Other additionb losure may be appropriate depending on the particular

situation. 2

5.2 Disclo%a or Restructuring Transactions

restruc transaction under which securities are to be changed, exchanged, issued
or diﬁ ted. This item does not apply if, in respect of the transaction, your company
S ah information circular to its securityholders or filed a prospectus or a securities
e&mge takeover bid circular.

'I%??g)n applies to a material change report filed in respect of the closing of a

Include the disclosure for each entity that resulted from the restructuring
transaction, if your company has an interest in that entity, required by section 14.2 of
Form 51-102F5. You may satisfy the requirement to include this disclosure by
incorporating the information by reference to another document.
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INSTRUCTIONS

0] If your company is engaged in oil and gas activities, the disclosure under Iltem 5
must also satisfy the requirements of Part 6 of Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards
of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (c. V-1.1, r. 23).

(i) If you incorporate information by reference to another document, clearly identify
the referenced document or any excerpt from it. Unless you have already fil Ne
referenced document or excerpt, you must file it with the material change rep% ou
must also disclose that the document is on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

)
Item 6 Reliance on subsection 7.1(2) of Regulation 51-102 (bQ

If this Report is being filed on a confidential basis in reIiancngu‘bsection 7.1(2)
of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Oblig @ state the reasons
for such reliance. &

INSTRUCTION OC)

Refer to subsections 7.1(5), (6) and (7) of Regu @ 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations concerning continuing &pll tions in respect of reports filed
under subsection 7.1(2) of Regulation 51& respecting Continuous Disclosure

Obligations. (19

ltem 7 Omitted Information Q«

State whether any informaé@has been omitted on the basis that it is confidential

information. 0

In a separate lett tbthe securities regulatory authority marked "Confidential"
provide the reasons f r company's omission of confidential significant facts in the
Report in sufficien il to permit the applicable securities regulatory authority to
determine wheth exercise its discretion to allow the omission of these significant

facts. Q/

INSTRU S

Inc Qcircumstances where a material change has occurred and a Report has been
o% out to be filed but subsection 7.1(2) or (5) of Regulation 51-102 respecting
O\inuous Disclosure Obligations is not or will no longer be relied upon, your company
may nevertheless believe one or more significant facts otherwise required to be
disclosed in the Report should remain confidential and not be disclosed or not be
disclosed in full detail in the Report.
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ltem 8 Executive Officer

Give the name and business telephone number of an executive officer of your
company who is knowledgeable about the material change and the Report, or the name
of an officer through whom such executive officer may be contacted.

Item 9 Date of Report N

Date the Report. Q'\

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 40; M.O. 2008-10, s. 8; 9608-18,
s. 13.
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FORM 51-102F4
BUSINESS ACQUISITION REPORT

PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of Business Acquisition Report

Your company must file a Business Acquisition Report after complet';%0 a
significant acquisition. See Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Cor\Quous
Disclosure Obligations (c. V-1.1, r. 24. The Business Acquisition Report des s the
significant businesses acquired by your company and the effect of the a@lljsition on
your company. (b

(b)  Use of "Company" Q/Q-

Wherever this Form uses the word "company", the tg@cludes other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and o@ nincorporated business

entities. O

(c) Focus on Relevant Information &O

When providing the disclosure requirec}\ﬁ}o this Form, focus your discussion on
information that is relevant to an investor, a}nl/@s or other reader.

(d)  Incorporating Material By RefWe

You may incorporate inforgRgtjon required by this Form, by reference to another
document. Clearly identify th erenced document, or any excerpt of it, that you
incorporate into this Report.@ess you have already filed the referenced document or
excerpt, including any ents incorporated by reference into the document or
excerpt, you must file | this Report. You must also disclose that the document is on
SEDAR at www.se

C

(e) Define%&ns

If gr?is used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respectmydContinuous Disclosure Obligations and to Regulation 14-101 respecting
Defir@ (c. V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this Form and is defined in both the
S ittes statute of a local jurisdiction and in Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
D%)sure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12)
for further guidance.

This Form also uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
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subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

() Plain Language

Write this Report so that readers are able to understand it. Consider both the
level of detail provided and the language used in the document. Refer to the plain
language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 5 N2
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use t@»ical
terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.

)
(9) Numbering and Headings (bQ
The numbering, headings and ordering of items include&his Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item not be repeated
elsewhere in the Report. &

PART 2 CONTENT OF BUSINESS ACQUISITION @RT
Item 1 Identity of Company &O
1.1 Name and Address of Company '\'\

State the full name of your compafﬂlv and the address of its principal office in
Canada. N

1.2  Executive Officer Q/
Give the name and @ess telephone number of an executive officer of your

company who is knowled le about the significant acquisition and the Report, or the
name of an officer thrc@&/hom such executive officer may be contacted.

ltem 2 Det& Acquisition
2.1 NatutngusinessAcquired

gﬁbe the nature of the business acquired.
Zég&cquisition Date
N State the acquisition date used for accounting purposes.
2.3 Consideration

Disclose the type and amount of consideration, both monetary and non-
monetary, paid or payable by your company in connection with the significant
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acquisition, including contingent consideration. Identify the source of funds used by your
company for the acquisition, including a description of any financing associated with the
acquisition.

2.4 Effect on Financial Position

Describe any plans or proposals for material changes in your business affairs or
the affairs of the acquired business which may have a significant effect on the fin MNal
performance and financial position of your company. Examples include any pro | to
liquidate the business, to sell, lease or exchange all or a substantial part of its ts, to
amalgamate the business with any other business organization or to mak ¥ material
changes to your business or the business acquired such as chang corporate

structure, management or personnel. Qg_

2.5 Prior Valuations
OQ’

Describe in sufficient detail any valuation opiniongeb¥Mined within the last 12
months by the acquired business or your company requi& securities legislation or a
Canadian exchange or market to support the consiggra#n paid by your company or

any of its subsidiaries for the business, including t e of the author, the date of the
opinion, the business to which the opinion relatff, e value attributed to the business
and the valuation methodologies used. N

2.6  Parties to Transaction q/

)
State whether the transactio fsbmth an informed person, associate or affiliate of
your company and, if so, the id @y and the relationship of the other parties to your

company.
»

2.7 Date of Report
Date the Rea@
ltem 3 I@/a?cial Statements and Other Information
In the financial statements or other information required by Part 8 of

Regulagf 1-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations. If applicable, disclose
that ditors have not given their consent to include their audit report in this Report.

Iﬁg 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F4; M.O. 2006-04, s. 41; M.O. 2008-18, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17,

s. 30.

133



FORM 51-102F5
INFORMATION CIRCULAR

PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Timing of Information

The information required by this Form 51-102F5 must be given as of a spe,c}ﬂ'ried
date not more than 30 days prior to the date you first send the information cir@l to

any securityholder of the company. q/
)
(b)  Use of "Company" (bQ
Wherever this Form uses the word "company", the term incé; other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other rporated business
entities. &

(c) Incorporating Information by Reference OC)

You may incorporate information requiredﬁ@e included in your information
circular by reference to another document. Clearly Nentify the referenced document or
any excerpt of it that you incorporate into yopkf formation circular. Unless you have
already filed the referenced document or e . including any documents incorporated
by reference into the document or excerpt, ygu must file it with your information circular.
You must also disclose that the docu@nt is on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and that,
upon request, you will promptly prov@ga copy of any such document free of charge to
a securityholder of the compa®¢  However, you may not incorporate information
required to be included in Fo% 02F6 by reference into your information circular.

(d) Defined Terms 5

respecting Conti S Disclosure Obligations (c. V-1.1, r. 24) and to Regulation 14-101
respecting Defpjtidns (c. V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this Form and is defined in both
the securiti% tute of the local jurisdiction and in Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuo sclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of Policy Statement to
Regulajf 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(Deci@ 006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12) for further guidance.

If a term is’@‘@ut not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102

\é This Form also uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

134


http://www.sedar.com/

(e) Plain Language

Write this document so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical
terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.

(f) Numbering and Headings '\r\

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in this are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not@ repeated
elsewhere.

() Tables and Figures Q/Q‘
Q

Where it is practicable and appropriate, present mform 1@ In tabular form. State
all amounts in figures.

(h)  Omitting Information O

O
You do not need to respond to any iten}\i:rfthis Form that is inapplicable. You
may also omit information that is not kno the person on whose behalf the
solicitation is made and that is not reason hin the power of the person to obtain, if
you briefly state the circumstances that rer@ the information unavailable.

You may omit information jh as contained in another information circular,
notice of meeting or form of p sent to the same persons whose proxies were

solicited in connection with t ame meeting, as long as you clearly identify the
particular document containi e information.

PART 2 CONTE!@

ltem 1 Dat Q‘

Spec@é date of the information circular.

Item 2 O Revocability of Proxy
%tate whether the person giving the proxy has the power to revoke it. If any right
vocation is limited or is subject to compliance with any formal procedure, briefly
descrlbe the limitation or procedure.

Item 3 Persons Making the Solicitation

3.1 If a solicitation is made by or on behalf of management of the company, state
this. Name any director of the company who has informed management in writing that

135



he or she intends to oppose any action intended to be taken by management at the
meeting and indicate the action that he or she intends to oppose.

3.2 If a solicitation is made other than by or on behalf of management of the
company, state this and give the name of the person by whom, or on whose behalf, it is
made.

3.3 If the solicitation is to be made other than by mail, describe the method Ne
employed. If the solicitation is to be made by specially engaged employees or sqlsc ing

agents, state, q/

)
(@) the parties to and material features of any contract or arrar@jgent for the

solicitation; and Q_

(b)  the cost or anticipated cost thereof. @
3.4  State who has borne or will bear, directly or indirectlc't)ﬁe cost of soliciting.

Item 4 Proxy Instructions OO

4.1  The information circular or the form of égce) to which the information circular
relates must indicate in bold-face type that they}n urityholder has the right to appoint a
person to represent the securityholder at eeting other than the person, if any,
designated in the form of proxy and must ain instructions as to the manner in which
the securityholder may exercise the ri{(;;3 )

4.2  The information circular form of proxy to which the information circular
relates must state that the secRtRs represented by the proxy will be voted or withheld
from voting in accordance he instructions of the securityholder on any ballot that
may be called for and t@' the securityholder specifies a choice with respect to any

matter to be acted up securities will be voted accordingly.
Item 5 InteQQ%f Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon

Briefl&cribe any material interest, direct or indirect, by way of beneficial
ownershi ecurities or otherwise, of each of the following persons in any matter to
be act on other than the election of directors or the appointment of auditors:

a) if the solicitation is made by or on behalf of management of the company,
e person who has been a director or executive officer of the company at any time
since the beginning of the company's last financial year;

(b) if the solicitation is made other than by or on behalf of management of the

company, each person by whom, or on whose behalf, directly or indirectly, the
solicitation is made;
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(c) each proposed nominee for election as a director of the company; and

(d)  each associate or affiliate of any of the persons listed in paragraphs (a) to

().
INSTRUCTIONS

(1) The following persons and companies are deemed to be persons by whom oNon
whose behalf the solicitation is made (collectively, "solicitors" or individ@l
"solicitor"):

“

(A) any member of a committee or group that solicits proxies, ny person
whether or not named as a member who, acting alone or with or more other
persons, directly or indirectly takes the initiative or engages in or ing, directing or

financing any such committee or group;

(B) any person who contributes, or joins with an@to contribute, more than
$250 to finance the solicitation of proxies; or

(C) any person who lends money, pro @credlt or enters into any other
arrangements, under any contract or understan JS\Wlth a solicitor, for the purpose of
financing or otherwise inducing the purchase holdlng or voting of securities of the
company but not including a bank or oth ing institution or a dealer that, in the
ordinary course of business, lends money g&ecutes orders for the purchase or sale of
securities.

(i) Subject to paragraph (i), t lowing persons and companies are deemed not to

be solicitors:
3

(A) any person getsfned or employed by a solicitor to solicit proxies or any
person who merely tr@s proxy-soliciting material or performs ministerial or clerical
duties;

(B) %erson employed or retained by a solicitor in the capacity of lawyer,
accountant, vertlsmg public relations, investor relations or financial advisor and
whose a are limited to the performance of their duties in the course of the
empl r retalner

< any person regularly employed as an officer or employee of the company

of |ts affiliates; or

(D) any officer or director of, or any person regularly employed by, any
solicitor.

Item 6 Voting Securities and Principal Holders of Voting Securities
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6.1 For each class of voting securities of the company entitled to be voted at the
meeting, state the number of securities outstanding and the particulars of voting rights
for each class.

6.2 For each class of restricted securities, provide the information required in
subsection 10.1(1) of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

6.3 Give the record date as of which the securityholders entitled to vote %t;me

meeting will be determined or particulars as to the closing of the security fer
register, as the case may be, and, if the right to vote is not limited to security rs of
record as of the specified record date, indicate the conditions ngr which
securityholders are entitled to vote. (b

6.4 If action is to be taken with respect to the election of 'QTors and if the
securityholders or any class of securityholders have the ri elect a specified
number of directors or have cumulative or similar voting rig clude a statement of

such rights and state briefly the conditions precedent, if amct)o he exercise thereof.

6.5 If, to the knowledge of the company’s directorg oNxecutive officers, any person
beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly o i@rectly, voting securities carrying
10% or more of the voting rights attached to, an¥ class of voting securities of the
company, name each person and state ;\'\

(@) the approximate number of Qourities beneficially owned, or controlled or
directed, directly or indirectly, by each %h person; and

(b) the percentage onp class of outstanding voting securities of the
company represented by the ber of voting securities so owned, controlled or
directed, directly or indirectlys

ltem 7 Election&ectors

7.1 If directors@bg'fo be elected, provide the following information, in tabular form to
the extent praggticable, for each person proposed to be nominated for election as a
director (a "ﬁa&ed director") and each other person whose term of office as a director

will contir@_ er the meeting:

g@ State the name, province or state, and country of residence, of each
diggdstor and proposed director.

(b) State the period or periods during which each director has served as a
director and when the term of office for each director and proposed director will expire.

(c) Identify the members of each committee of the board.
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(d)  State the present principal occupation, business or employment of each
director and proposed director. Give the name and principal business of any company in
which any such employment is carried on. Furnish similar information as to all of the
principal occupations, businesses or employments of each proposed director within the
5 preceding years, unless the proposed director is now a director and was elected to the
present term of office by a vote of securityholders at a meeting, the notice of which was
accompanied by an information circular. N

(e) If a director or proposed director has held more than one positioQ'n\the
company, or a parent or subsidiary, state only the first and last position held. q/

)
() State the number of securities of each class of voting sé&ties of the
company or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled o@.j,rected, directly

or indirectly, by each proposed director. @Q/

(9) If securities carrying 10% or more of the voting ;@ attached to all voting
securities of the company or of any of its subsidiarie beneficially owned, or
controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by any prop@director and the proposed
director’s associates or affiliates,

0] state the number of securli}i\({s&of each class of voting securities
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, (j'\e tly or indirectly, by the associates or
affiliates; and

(i) name each associ@«or affiliate whose security holdings are 10%
or more.

7.2 If a proposed director Oé@

(@) is, as at the ak of the information circular, or has been, within 10 years
before the date of th&maﬁon circular, a director, chief executive officer or chief
financial officer of company (including the company in respect of which the
information circul Q'Being prepared) that,

was subject to an order that was issued while the proposed director
was acting}™e capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or

%O (i) was subject to an order that was issued after the proposed director
c to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which
reQylted from an event that occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer,

state the fact and describe the basis on which the order was made and
whether the order is still in effect; or
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(b) is, as at the date of the information circular, or has been within 10 years
before the date of the information circular, a director or executive officer of any company
(including the company in respect of which the information circular is being prepared)
that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person
ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings,
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or

trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or N
(c) has, within the 10 years before the date of the informatio cular,

become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to Kruptcy or

insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, a ement or

compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trQee appointed to
hold the assets of the proposed director, state the fact.

7.2.1 Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the gy@js on which they were
imposed, or the terms of the settlement agreement and theeircemstances that gave rise
to the settlement agreement, if a proposed director has L@i!ubject to

(@) any penalties or sanctions impose @ a court relating to securities
legislation or by a securities regulatory autho'rait‘y r has entered into a settlement
agreement with a securities regulatory authorit)K

(b)  any other penalties or sancﬁins imposed by a court or regulatory body
that would likely be considered impo@x to a reasonable securityholder in deciding
whether to vote for a proposed dire t5b

7.2.2 Despite section 7.2.1, isclosure is required of a settlement agreement
entered into before Decem , 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be important
to a reasonable securityhqlde? in deciding whether to vote for a proposed director.

INSTRUCTIONS O

0] The dis gre required by sections 7.2 and 7.2.1 also applies to any personal
holding com s of the proposed director.

(i) nagement cease trade order which applies to directors or executive officers
of a% pany is an "order" for the purposes of paragraph 7.2(a)(i) and must be
diglgsed, whether or not the proposed director was named in the order.

(i) A late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies to the late filing of an insider
report, is not a "penalty or sanction" for the purposes of section 7.2.1.

(iv)  The disclosure in paragraph 7.2(a)(i) only applies if the proposed director was a

director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer when the order was issued
against the company. You do not have to provide disclosure if the proposed director
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became a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer after the order was
issued.

7.2.3 For the purposes of subsection 7.2(a), "order" means
(@) acease trade order,
(b)  an order similar to a cease trade order; or '\'\

(c) an order that denied the relevant company access to any exempﬂ%mder
securities legislation, Q-

that was in effect for a period of more than 30 (‘Qs,ecutive days.

7.3  If any proposed director is to be elected under any arran %or understanding

between the proposed director and any other person, except rectors and executive
officers of the company acting solely in such capacity, 6 the other person and
describe briefly the arrangement or understanding. O

Item 8 Executive Compensation &O

Despite section 9.3.1 of the Regulati&r{,\if you are sending this information
circular in connection with a meeting Q

(@) thatis an annual general @eting,
(b) at which the compa&5,directors are to be elected, or

(©) at which the c@ny’s securityholders will be asked to vote on a matter
relating to executive compgnsation, include a completed Form 51-102F6.

Item 9 Securj @ Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation
Plans <<¢'

9.1 Equi(&npensation Plan Information

(1) g’de the information in subsection (2) if you are sending this information
circulQ connection with a meeting

N\ (@) thatis an annual general meeting,
(b)  at which the company’s directors are to be elected, or
(c) at which the company’s securityholders will be asked to vote on a matter

relating to executive compensation or a transaction that involves the company issuing
securities.
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(2) In the tabular form under the caption set out, provide the information specified in
section 9.2 as of the end of the company's most recently completed financial year with
respect to compensation plans under which equity securities of the company are
authorized for issuance, aggregated as follows:

(@) all compensation plans previously approved by securityholders; and

(b)  all compensation plans not previously approved by securityholdersQ\

Equity Compensation Plan Information
)
0P

to be issued upon exercise price of Ining available
exercise of outstanding uture issuance
outstanding options, | options, warrant nder equity
warrants and rights and rights &D compensation plans

Number of securitie Weighted-average %&e‘f’of securities

(excluding securities

OC) reflected in column

(@)

Plan Category (a) O\Db) (c)
Equity compensation plans &V

approved by

securityholders N '\

Equity compensation plans >

not approved by (19

securityholders

AN
Total A"
J

9.2 Include in the table the f@ﬂg information as of the end of the company's most
recently completed financial or each category of compensation plan described in
section 9.1:

(@ the nu f securities to be issued upon the exercise of outstanding
options, warrants a. ts (column (a));

(b) 1 eighted-average exercise price of the outstanding options, warrants
and rights diGcySed under subsection 9.2(a) (column (b)); and

@ other than securities to be issued upon the exercise of the outstanding
optloN§, warrants and rights disclosed in subsection 9.2(a), the number of securities
r ¢ning available for future issuance under the plan (column (c)).

9.3

For each compensation plan under which equity securities of the company are

authorized for issuance and that was adopted without the approval of securityholders,
describe briefly, in narrative form, the material features of the plan.
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INSTRUCTIONS

0] The disclosure under Item 9 relating to compensation plans must include
individual compensation arrangements.

(i) Provide disclosure with respect to any compensation plan of the company (or
parent, subsidiary or affiliate of the company) under which equity securities of the
company are authorized for issuance to employees or non-employees (suc'gh'\as
directors, consultants, advisors, vendors, customers, suppliers or lenders) in e ge
for consideration in the form of goods or services. You do not have to provide #iggtosure
regarding any plan, contract or arrangement for the issuance of warrants ights to all
securityholders of the company on a pro rata basis (such as a rights offerfr’g;;

@) If more than one class of equity security is issued u the company's
compensation plans, disclose aggregate plan information for class of security
separately.

(iv)  You may aggregate information regarding indiwdg@ mpensatlon arrangements
with the plan information required under subsection36 and (b), as applicable.

(V) You may aggregate information regardj 'S& compensation plan assumed in
connection with a merger, consolidation or q% acquisition transaction pursuant to
which the company may make subsequent s or awards of its equity securities with
the plan information required under subsetfens 9.1(a) and (b), as applicable. Disclose
on an aggregated basis in a footno@\t the table the information required under
subsections 9.2(a) and (b) with r sﬁb: to any individual options, warrants or rights
outstanding under the compen n plan assumed in connection with a merger,
consolidation or other acquisitis nsaction.

(vi) To the extent th ae number of securities remaining available for future
issuance disclosed in@in (c) includes securities available for future issuance under
any compensation other than upon the exercise of an option, warrant or right,
disclose the num%ﬁ! securities and type of plan separately for each such plan in a
b

footnote to the sa

statemg contains the disclosure required by section 9.3, a cross-reference to the
dech: satisfies the requirements of section 9.3.

(@ If an equity compensation plan contains a formula for calculating the number of
securities available for issuance under the plan, including, without limitation, a formula
that automatically increases the number of securities available for issuance by a
percentage of the number of outstanding securities of the company, describe this
formula in a footnote to the table.

(vii) I&%scription of a compensation plan set forth in the company's financial
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ltem 10 Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers

10.1 Aggregate Indebtedness

AGGREGATE INDEBTEDNESS ($)
To the Company or its

Purpose Subsidiaries To Another Entity
(a) (b) (©)
Share '\'\

purchases

Other (19

)
Q) Complete the above table for the aggregate indebtedness outstﬁ&‘ug as at a

date within 30 days before the date of the information circular entere In connection
with: @

(@) a purchase of securities; and &O

(b) all other indebtedness. OC)

(2) Report separately the indebtedness to &O
(@) the company or any of its subsidis{{és (column (b)); and

(b) another entity if the indebte(ﬂess Is the subject of a guarantee, support
agreement, letter of credit or other sjiQas arrangement or understanding provided by
the company or any of its subsidiar'egjbolumn (c)),

of all executive officer errectors, employees and former executive officers,
directors and employees of t ompany or any of its subsidiaries.

3) "Support agree@ includes, but is not limited to, an agreement to provide
assistance in the JNiZnance or servicing of any indebtedness and an agreement to

provide compen for the purpose of maintaining or servicing any indebtedness of

the borrower.
&

X

<

N\
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10.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers under (1) Securities
Purchase and (2) Other Programs

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS UNDER (1)
SECURITIES PURCHASE AND (2) OTHER PROGRAMS

Name and | Involvement Largest Amount Financially Security for Amount
Principal of Company Amount Outstanding Assisted Indebtedness Forgiven
Position or Subsidiary | Outstanding as at [Date Securities During [Mpst

During [Most within Purchases
Recently 30 days] During
Completed %) [Most
Financial Recently
Year] Completed Ofb" $)
(%) Financial J
Year] Q-
(#) &
(@) (b) (©) (d) (e) Qﬁ)’ Q)
Securities Purchase Programs Ne)
«v
@
Other Programs Y-
ot
O
"\

(1) Complete the above table for each indp faual who is, or at any time during the
most recently completed financial year @ a director or executive officer of the
company, each proposed nominee for eleﬁon as a director of the company, and each
associate of any such director, execu‘gb\@)fﬁcer or proposed nominee,

(& whois, or at any ti ince the beginning of the most recently completed
financial year of the compa s been, indebted to the company or any of its
subsidiaries, or 5

(b)  whose |
beginning of the
guarantee, sup

understanding@

an arately disclose the indebtedness for security purchase programs and all

edness to another entity is, or at any time since the
ecently completed financial year has been, the subject of a
agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or
ided by the company or any of its subsidiaries,

otheréV ms.
(?% ote the following:
A\

Column (a) - disclose the name and principal position of the borrower. If the
borrower was, during the most recently completed financial year, but no longer is a
director or executive officer, state that fact. If the borrower is a proposed nominee for
election as a director, state that fact. If the borrower is included as an associate,
describe briefly the relationship of the borrower to an individual who is or, during the
financial year, was a director or executive officer or who is a proposed nominee for
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election as a director, name that individual and provide the information required by this
subparagraph for that individual.

Column (b) - disclose whether the company or a subsidiary of the company is the
lender or the provider of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar
arrangement or understanding.

Column (c) - disclose the largest aggregate amount of the indebtekfées
outstanding at any time during the most recently completed financial year. Q

Column (d) - disclose the aggregate amount of indebtedness outsta@iqg as ata
date within 30 days before the date of the information circular. (b

Column (e) - disclose separately for each class or series of %es, the sum of
the number of securities purchased during the most recently ted financial year
with the financial assistance (security purchase programs 0”')(

Column (f) - disclose the security for the indebt&s, if any, provided to the
company, any of its subsidiaries or the other entity (561 purchase programs only).

Column (g) - disclose the total amount of ir'ésbtedness that was forgiven at any
time during the most recently completed finanq’q ar.

(3) Supplement the above table with a §-lemary discussion of

each guarantee, support agree , letter of credit or other similar arrangement or

4
(@ the material terms of a((,bglncidence of indebtedness and, if applicable, of
understanding, including Oév

0] the@ of the transaction in which the indebtedness was

O
(i) QQ% rate of interest;

Cﬁ/ the term to maturity;

02 (iv)  any understanding, agreement or intention to limit recourse; and

incurred:;

éQ (v)  any security for the indebtedness;
N\

(b) any material adjustment or amendment made during the most recently
completed financial year to the terms of the indebtedness and, if applicable, the
guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar arrangement or understanding.
Forgiveness of indebtedness reported in column (g) of the above table should be
explained; and
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(c) the class or series of the securities purchased with financial assistance or
held as security for the indebtedness and, if the class or series of securities is not
publicly traded, all material terms of the securities, including the provisions for
exchange, conversion, exercise, redemption, retraction and dividends.

10.3 You do not need to disclose information required by this Item

@) if you are not sending this information circular in connection vyi{h\a
meeting (19

0] that is an annual general meeting, Q"
(i) at which the company’s directors are to be electe

(i)  at which the company’s securltyholders wil @g/ked to vote on a
matter relating to executive compensation,

(b)  for any indebtedness that has been entirelé&ld on or before the date of
the information circular, or

(c) for routine indebtedness. &

"Routine indebtedness” means ind?@ess described in any of the following
clauses:

4
0] If the company or its&u/ﬁ&ary makes loans to employees generally,

(A) the Ioansyade on terms no more favourable than the terms on
which loans are made by thes pany or its subsidiary to employees generally, and

(B) th %unt, at any time during the last completed financial year,

remaining unpaid the loans to the director, executive officer or proposed
nominee, togethe, his or her associates, does not exceed $50,000.

(i) &an to a person who is a full-time employee of the company,

O (A) thatis fully secured against the residence of the borrower, and

% (B) the amount of which in total does not exceed the annual salary of
thQvorrower.

(i) If the company or its subsidiary makes loans in the ordinary course of
business, a loan made to a person other than a full-time employee of the company
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(A)  on substantially the same terms, including those as to interest rate
and security, as are available when a loan is made to other customers of the company
or its subsidiary with comparable credit, and

(B)  with no more than the usual risks of collectibility.

(iv) A loan arising by reason of purchases made on usual trade terms or of
ordinary travel or expense advances, or for similar reasons, if the repa¥\
arrangements are in accord with usual commercial practice. Q

Item 11 Interest of Informed Persons in Material Transactions Q-

Describe briefly and, where practicable, state the approxim
material interest, direct or indirect, of any informed person of
proposed director of the company, or any associate or affiliate informed person
or proposed director, in any transaction since the comme nt of the company's
most recently completed financial year or in any prop;e transaction which has

company, any

materially affected or would materially affect the compa ny of its subsidiaries.

INSTRUCTIONS: &O

(1) Briefly describe the material transactlo;\'\State the name and address of each
person whose interest in any transaction is @crlbed and the nature of the relationship
giving rise to the interest. (1/

4
(i) For any transaction involvin tﬂé)purchase or sale of assets by or to the company
or any subsidiary, other than in rdinary course of business, state the cost of the
assets to the purchaser and t t of the assets to the seller, if acquired by the seller
within 2 years prior to the tr tion.

(i) This Item does ply to any interest arising from the ownership of securities
of the company w, the securityholder receives no extra or special benefit or
advantage not s% on a proportionate basis by all holders of the same class of
securities or b@l olders of the same class of securities who are resident in Canada.

(iv) Incé’mformation as to any material underwriting discounts or commissions

upon t le of securities by the company where any of the specified persons was or is

to b% underwriter in a contractual relationship with the company with respect to

@I es or is an associate or affiliate of a person that was or is to be such an
writer.

(v) You do not need to disclose the information required by this Item for any
transaction or any interest in that transaction if

(A) the rates or charges involved in the transaction are fixed by law or
determined by competitive bids,
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(B) the interest of the specified person in the transaction is solely that of
director of another company that is a party to the transaction,

(C) the transaction involves services as a bank or other depositary of funds,
transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust indenture or other similar services, or

(D) the transaction does not directly or indirectly, involve remuneratigq"{or

services, and Q

() the interest of the specified person arose from te Jpeneficial
ownership, direct or indirect, of less than 10% of any class of votin curities of
another company that is a party to the transaction, Q_

(I the transaction is in the ordinary course of ss of the company
or its subsidiaries, and &

(1) the amount of the transaction or sep f transactions is less than
10% of the total sales or purchases, as the case e, of the company and its
subsidiaries for the most recently completed financj @ar.

(vi)  Provide information for transactjér% not excluded above which involve
remuneration, directly or indirectly, to any specified persons for services in any
capacity unless the interest of the person” grses solely from the beneficial ownership,
direct or indirect, of less than 10% of a@elass of voting securities of another company
furnishing the services to the com?r/ﬁbr its subsidiaries.

or

Item 12 Appointment o@i

Name the auditor tlé company. If the auditor was first appointed within the last
5 years, state the date the auditor was first appointed.

If action i%b'e taken to replace an auditor, provide the information required
under section@ f Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

Item 13 ananagement Contracts

%Qlanagement functions of the company or any of its subsidiaries are to any
S ahtial degree performed other than by the directors or executive officers of the
cdNpany or subsidiary,

(@) give details of the agreement or arrangement under which the
management functions are performed, including the name and address of any person
who is a party to the agreement or arrangement or who is responsible for performing the
management functions;
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(b)  give the names and provinces of residence of any person that was, during
the most recently completed financial year, an informed person of any person with
which the company or subsidiary has any such agreement or arrangement and, if the
following information is known to the directors or executive officers of the company, give
the names and provinces of residence of any person that would be an informed person
of any person with which the company or subsidiary has any such agreement or
arrangement if the person were an issuer,

N
(c) for any person named under paragraph (a) state the amountgigim or

payable by the company and its subsidiaries to the person since the commen nt of
the most recently completed financial year and give particulars; and Q"
(d)  for any person named under paragraph (a) or (b) and [l associates or

affiliates, give particulars of,

0] any indebtedness of the person, compayq@ssociate or affiliate to
the company or its subsidiaries that was outstanding, and C)

(i) any transaction or arrangement 8 person, company, associate
or affiliate with the company or subsidiary, &

at any time since the start of &g\company's most recently completed

financial year. (19

INSTRUCTIONS: Q«

) Do not refer to any matteré@,is relatively insignificant.

(i) In giving particulars ?ﬂdebtedness, state the largest aggregate amount of
indebtedness outstandingeat €ny time during the period, the nature of the indebtedness

and of the transactk@]| which it was incurred, the amount of the indebtedness
presently outstandi the rate of interest paid or charged on the indebtedness.

purchases to usual trade terms, for ordinary travel and expense advances and

(i) Do not g &de as indebtedness amounts due from the particular person for
for other QL transactions.

Item O Particulars of Matters to be Acted Upon

1@ If action is to be taken on any matter to be submitted to the meeting of
securityholders other than the approval of annual financial statements, briefly describe
the substance of the matter, or related groups of matters, except to the extent described
under the foregoing items, in sufficient detail to enable reasonable securityholders to
form a reasoned judgment concerning the matter. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, such matters include alterations of share capital, charter amendments,
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property acquisitions or dispositions, reverse takeovers, amalgamations, mergers,
arrangements or reorganizations and other similar transactions.

14.2 If the action to be taken is in respect of a significant acquisition as determined
under Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 under which securities of the acquired business are
being exchanged for the company’s securities, or in respect of a restructuring
transaction under which securities are to be changed, exchanged, issued or distributed,
include disclosure for N

(@) the company, if the company has not filed all documents requi@mder
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, Q"

(b)  the business being acquired, if the matter is a significam@qwsition,

(c) each entity, other than the company, whose securj re being changed,
exchanged, issued or distributed, if &

0] the matter is a restructuring transac@nd

(i) the company’s current securig&@ers will have an interest in that
entity after the restructuring transaction is compl?{a Mand
(d) each entity that would r '\from the significant acquisition or
restructuring transaction, if the company’ curityholders will have an interest in that
entity after the significant acquisition or@structuring transaction is completed.

The disclosure for the ny, business or entity must be the disclosure
(including financial statemen\é cribed under securities legislation and described in
the form of prospectus tha company, business or entity, respectively, would be
eligible to use immediate &or to the sending and filing of the information circular in
respect of the signifi@cqwsition or restructuring transaction, for a distribution of

securities in the Jura‘

14.3 If the r is one that is not required to be submitted to a vote of
securityhold tate the reasons for submitting it to securityholders and state what
action@_ ment intends to take in the event of a negative vote by the
securit

%ectlon 14.2 does not apply to an information circular that is sent to holders of
v&; securities of a reporting issuer soliciting proxies otherwise than on behalf of
management of the reporting issuer (a "dissident circular"), unless the sender of the
dissident circular is proposing a significant acquisition or restructuring transaction
involving the reporting issuer and the sender, under which securities of the sender, or
an affiliate of the sender, are to be distributed or transferred to securityholders of the
reporting issuer. However, a sender of a dissident circular shall include in the dissident
circular the disclosure required by section 14.2 if the sender of the dissident circular is
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proposing a significant acquisition or restructuring transaction under which securities of
the sender or securities of an affiliate of the sender are to be changed, exchanged,
issued or distributed.

145 A company satisfies section 14.2 if it prepares an information circular in
connection with a Qualifying Transaction, for a company that is a CPC, or in connection
with a Reverse Take-Over (as Qualifying Transaction, CPC and Reverse Take-Over are
defined in the TSX Venture Exchange policies) provided that the company co ﬂﬁes
with the policies and requirements of the TSX Venture Exchange in respect@ hat
Qualifying Transaction or Reverse Take-Over.

)
INSTRUCTION (bQ
For the purposes of section 14.2, a securityholder will not be co@ed to have an
interest in an entity after an acquisition or restructuring transa s completed if the
securityholder will only hold a redeemable security that is j diately redeemed for
cash. C)
Item 15 Restricted Securities O

O

15.1 If the action to be taken involves a trapsacsion that would have the effect of
converting or subdividing, in whole or in RQ{ existing securities into restricted
securities, or creating new restricted se ies, the information circular must also
include, as part of the minimum disclosure‘riguired, a detailed description of:

4

(@) the voting rights attac &bo the restricted securities that are the subject of
the transaction or that will res m the transaction either directly or following a
conversion, exchange or exq®y®e, and the voting rights, if any, attached to the
securities of any other clas ecurities of the company that are the same or greater
on a per security basis thhose attached to the restricted securities that are the
subject of the trans or that will result from the transaction either directly or
following a conversi change or exercise;

(b) t &rcentage of the aggregate voting rights attached to the company's
securities th represented by the class of restricted securities;

@N any significant provisions under applicable corporate and securities law, in
parti(Q hether the restricted securities may or may not be tendered in any takeover
b%r securities of the reporting issuer having voting rights superior to those attached
tONWe restricted securities, that do not apply to the holders of the restricted securities
that are the subject of the transaction or that will result from the transaction either
directly or following a conversion, exchange or exercise, but do apply to the holders of
another class of equity securities, and the extent of any rights provided in the constating
documents or otherwise for the protection of holders of the restricted securities; and
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(d)  any rights under applicable corporate law, in the constating documents or
otherwise, of holders of restricted securities that are the subject of the transaction either
directly or following a conversion, exchange or exercise, to attend, in person or by
proxy, meetings of holders of equity securities of the company and to speak at the
meetings to the same extent that holders of equity securities are entitled.

15.2 If holders of restricted securities do not have all of the rights referred to in section
15.1, the detailed description referred to in section 15.1 must include, in bold—face't\ype,
a statement of the rights the holders do not have. Q
Item 16 Additional Information Q:I/

16.1 Disclose that additional information relating to the compan on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com. Disclose how securityholders may contact the any to request
copies of the company's financial statements and MD&A. ()Q

16.2 Include a statement that financial information is @r ided in the company's

comparative annual financial statements and MD&A f most recently completed
financial year.

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F5; M.O. 2006-04, s, 42\M.O. 2007-08, s. 8; M.O. 2008-06,
s. 10 and 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 10 and 13; M.Op\ 10-17, s. 31.

‘.19
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FORM 51-102F6
STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION (in respect of financial years
ending before December 31, 2008)

ltem 1 General Provisions

1.1  The purpose of this Form is to provide disclosure of all compensation, whatever
the source, earned by certain executive officers and directors in connection with Mhce
or employment by your company or a subsidiary of your company. Wherever thg 'IQ—\)rm
uses the word "company"”, the term includes other types of business organiza@

as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business entities. Q"

such

purpose, the definition of "executive officer" in the Regulation, a a manner that

The particular requirements in this Form should be interpret%w regard to this
gives priority to substance over form.

1.2 You should prepare the Form in the prescribed forr@t&You may omit a table or
column of a table if it is not applicable. O

1.3  For the purposes of this Form &O

"Chief Executive Officer" or "CEO" me@each individual who served as chief
executive officer of your company or acted Q similar capacity during the most recently
completed financial year; ‘JI/

4
"Chief Financial Officer" or (f@ means each individual who served as chief
financial officer of your company. cted in a similar capacity during the most recently
completed financial year; 0%

intended to motivate ance over a period greater than one financial year. LTIPs

"long-term incenti )an" or "LTIP" means a plan providing compensation
do not include o%@SAR plans or plans for compensation through shares or units

that are subject t ictions on resale;

"mea %ﬁent period" means the period beginning at the "measurement point"
which is shed by the market close on the last trading day before the beginning of
your c ny's fifth preceding financial year, through and including the end of your
com;ﬁu‘ most recently completed financial year. If the class or series of securities has
b publicly traded for a shorter period of time, the period covered by the comparison

correspond to that time period;

"Named Executive Officers" or "NEOs" means the following individuals:

(@) each CEO;

(b)  each CFO;
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(c) each of your company's 3 most highly compensated executive officers,
other than the CEO and CFO, who were serving as executive officers at the end of the
most recently completed financial year and whose total salary and bonus exceeds
$150,000; and

(d)  any additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been provided
under (c) except that the individual was not serving as an officer of your company &Me
end of the most recently completed financial year-end; Q

"normal retirement age" means normal retirement age as defined ¢R @ pension
plan or, if not defined, the earliest time at which a plan participant may reﬁb ithout any
benefit reduction due to age; Q_

"options"” includes all options, share purchase warrants @ ghts granted by a
company or its subsidiaries as compensation for employm ervices or office. An
extension of an option or replacement grant is a grant of, w option. Also, options
includes any grants made to a NEO by a third party or ﬁsubsidiary affiliate of your
company in respect of services to your company or a 6 lary of your company;

"plan” includes, but is not limited to, any arradgement, whether or not set forth in
any formal document and whether or not applj ZNe to only one individual, under which
cash, securities, options, SARs, phantom s @K,\Narrants, convertible securities, shares
or units that are subject to restrictions on‘jls»sale, performance units and performance
shares, or similar instruments may be@oeived or purchased. It excludes the Canada
Pension Plan, similar government Igb and group life, health, hospitalization, medical
reimbursement and relocation s that are available generally to all salaried
employees (for example, does Iscriminate in scope, terms or operation in favour of

executive officers or directorS

"replacement ggaRNMmeans the grant of an option or SAR reasonably related to
any prior or potenti ellation of an option or SAR;

exercise or price of a previously awarded option or SAR. Any repricing occurring
through t eration of a formula or mechanism in, or applicable to, the previously
award tion or SAR equally affecting all holders of the class of securities underlying
the o{& or SAR is excluded; and

"reprici§"%f an option or SAR means the adjustment or amendment of the

\é "stock appreciation right" or "SAR" means a right, granted by a company or any
of its subsidiaries as compensation for employment services or office to receive cash or
an issue or transfer of securities based wholly or in part on changes in the trading price
of publicly traded securities.

If a term is used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (c. V-1.1, r. 24) and to Regulation 14-101
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respecting Definitions (c. V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this Form and is defined in both
the securities statute of a local jurisdiction and in Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of Policy Statement to
RegulatiOn 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12).

1.4  In preparing this Form:

€) Determination of Most Highly Compensated Executive OffIC
determination of your company's most highly compensated executive offlcer ased
on the total annual salary and bonus of each executive officer during oncpmpanys
most recently completed financial year.

(b) Change in Status of a NEO During the Financi ar. If the NEO
served in that capacity during any part of a financial year ich disclosure is
required, disclose all of his or her compensation for the full fir}{ year.

(c) Exclusion Due to Unusual Compensé@' or Compensation for
Foreign Assignment. In limited circumstances, y n exclude disclosure of an
individual, other than a CEO or CFO, who is on he 3 most highly compensated
executive officers. Factors to consider in determi sg~to exclude an individual are

(M a payment or accru '\an unusually large amount of cash
compensation (such as bonus or coninyssion) that is not part of a recurring
arrangement and is unlikely to continue@r«

(i) the paymen@additional amounts of cash compensation for
increased living expenses due assignment outside of Canada.

(d)  All Compe Qon Covered. This Form requires disclosure of all plan
and non-plan compens@@¥1 for each NEO, and each director in accordance with Item

11. Except as expr rovided, no amount, benefit or right reported as compensation
for a financial ye ed be reported as compensation for any subsequent fiscal year.

(e) rces of Compensation. Compensation to officers and directors must
include ¢ sation from the company and its subsidiaries. Also, the company must
include he appropriate compensation category any compensation paid under an
und ding, arrangement or agreement existing among

\é 0] any of

(A) the company,
(B) its subsidiaries, or

(C) an officer or director of the company or its subsidiary, and
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(i) another entity,

for the purpose of the entity compensating the officer or director for
employment services or office.

If the company’s executive management is employed or retained by an external
management company (including a subsidiary, affiliate or associate) and the co y
has entered into an understanding, arrangement or agreement of any kind Qrithe
provision of executive management services by the external management ccﬂgny to
the company directly or indirectly, the company must disclose any C@lpensation
payable

(i) directly by the company to any persons em i%; or retained by
the external management company who are acting as executive rs and directors of
the company; and &

(iv) by the external management con'é} to such persons that is
attributable to services rendered to the company direa indirectly.

associate, under an understanding or agre t among any of the company, its
subsidiaries or another entity and an office rector of the company or its subsidiary
for the purpose of the company, its subsiggary or the other entity compensating the
officer or director for employment servi@er office, must be included in the appropriate
compensation category.

() Compensation Furnished to %nﬁsf&iates. Any compensation to an

() Allocation of C nsation — If the company’s executive management
is provided through an exte management company, and the external management
company has other clie&' addition to the company, the company must disclose

either,
O

) portion of the compensation paid to the officer or director by the
external manggerdent company that can be attributed to services rendered to the
company; or, %

(i) the entire compensation paid by the external management
com@ o the officer or director.

\s If the company does allocate the compensation paid to the officer or director, it
should disclose the basis for the allocation.
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ltem 2

2.1

Summary Compensation Table

Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
Awards Payouts
NEO Year | Salary | Bonus Other Annual Securities Shares of LTIP All Other
Name (b) (6)] (6)] Compensation Under Units Subject | Payouts | Compensation
and (@) (d) (%) Options / to Resale %) ;\
Principal (e) SARs Restrictions (h) ?\
Position Granted (%) 6
() (#) (9)
() l'\ .
CEO XXX3 NN
XXX2 J
XXX1 ,Q~
CFO XXX3
XXX2 Qg</
XXX1 e
A XXX3 &V
XXX2
O
B XXX3 @)
XXX2
XXX1 1()
C XXX3 N
XXX2 N
XXX1 N
P
1. Complete this table for each @ NEOs for your company's 3 most recently

completed financial years. Note th ing:
- Columns (c) an % - include any cash or non-cash base salary and
bonus earned by the NEO. non-cash compensation, disclose the fair market value
of the compensation at time the compensation is earned. Amounts deferred at the
election of a NEO mu included in the financial year in which earned. If the amount
of salary and/or b arned in a given financial year is not calculable, that fact must
be disclosed in aﬁo ote and the amount must be disclosed in the subsequent financial
year in the coI or the financial year in which earned.
ny salary or bonus earned in a covered year that was foregone, at the

electl ?a NEO, under a program of your company under which non-cash
satlon may be received in lieu of a portion of annual compensation, need not be

'%:&ed in the salary or bonus columns

c

. Instead, you may disclose the non-cash

owmipensation in the appropriate column for that year (i.e. columns (f), (g) and (i)). If the

election was made under a LTIP and therefore is not reportable at the time of grant in

this table, a footnote must be added to the salary or bonus column disclosing this fact
and referring to the table in section 3.1.
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- Commissions can be treated as salary or bonus. You can add a footnote
to the table to indicate that such amounts are paid under a commission arrangement
and disclose details of the arrangement in the compensation committee report (Item 9).

- Column (e) - disclose all other compensation of the NEO that is not
properly categorized as salary or bonus, including

(@) Perquisites and other personal benefits, securities or pro éKy,
unless the aggregate amount of such compensation is less than $50,000 and of
the total of the annual salary and bonus of the NEO for the financial year. G lly, a
perquisite is the cost or value of a personal benefit provided to the NE%that iS not
available to all employees. Examples of things that could be perquisites afb

- Car allowance Q/Q‘
- Car lease O@
A

- Cars OC)

- Corporate aircraft &O

- Club membership ;\'\

- Financial assistglyse to provide education to children

4
- Financ%&b%selling
TA return preparation

é@following are not considered perquisites and thus need not be

reported: Q

C)Q/ - Contributions to professional dues

02 - Canada Pension Plan or Québec Pension Plan

<
\é - Dentall

- Employee relocation plans available to all employees
- Group life benefits available to all employees

- Long-term benefits available to all employees
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- Medical

Each perquisite or other personal benefit exceeding 25% of the
total perquisites and other personal benefits reported for a NEO must be identified by
type and amount in a footnote to column (e). Perquisites and other personal benefits
must be valued on the basis of the aggregate incremental cost to your company and its
subsidiaries; N

Cther

(b)  The above-market portion of all interest, dividends oq'\t
amounts paid concerning securities, options, stock appreciation rights (SAR@}, oans,
deferred compensation or other obligations issued to a NEO during the fingsgial year or
payable during that period but deferred at the election of the NEO. A -market or
preferential means a rate greater than the rate ordinarily paid by t ompany or its
subsidiary on securities or other obligations having the same or si@eatures issued
to third parties. Any above-market portion not reported in columb@ hould be reported

in column (i); &

(c) Earnings on LTIP compensation or wnd equivalents paid during
the financial year or payable during that period but de@ at the election of the NEO;

(d)  Amounts reimbursed durin t'k&financial year for the payment of

taxes; \

(e)  The difference betwe&l/%e price paid by a NEO for a security of
your company or its subsidiaries th@\was purchased from your company or its
subsidiaries and the fair market val he security at the time of purchase, unless the
discount was available gener ither to all securityholders or to all salaried

employees of your company;o

() The [)ted interest benefits from loans provided to, or debts
incurred on behalf of, EO by your company and its subsidiaries as computed in
accordance with th e Tax Act (R.S.C. 1985, c.1 (5" Suppl.)); and

)QThe amounts of loan or interest obligations of the NEO to your

idiaries or third parties that were serviced or settled by the company
les without the substitution of an obligation to repay the amount to the
subsidiaries in its place.

% - Column (f) - includes the number of securities under option
¥ or without SARs awarded with the options) and, separately, the number of
securities subject to freestanding SARs. The figures in this column for the most recent
fiscal year should equal those reported in the table in section 4.1, column (b). These
figures are not cumulative.

- If at any time during the most recently completed financial
year your company repriced options or freestanding SARs previously awarded to a
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NEO, disclose the repriced options or SARs as new options or SARs grants in
column (f).

- Column (g) - includes the dollar value (net of consideration
paid by the NEO) of any shares or units that are subject to restrictions on resale
(calculated by multiplying the closing market price of your company's freely trading
shares on the date of grant by the number of stock or stock units awarded). N

- In a footnote to column (g) disclose Q'\

- the number and value of the aggregate holdi :).Pshares
and units that are subject to restrictions on resale at the end of the t recently
completed financial year;

- for any shares or units that are s g/to restrictions on
resale that will vest, in whole or in part, in less than 3 years the date of grant, the
total number of securities awarded and the vesting schedulgs and

- whether dividends or divid Qquivalents will be paid on the
shares and units that are subject to restrictions on;@ disclosed in the column.

- Column (h) - incIud{s\the dollar value of all payouts under
LTIPs.

- Awards of @r«es or units that are subject to restrictions on
resale that are subject to perfor Q}:e-based conditions prior to vesting may be
disclosed as LTIP awards under able in section 3.1 instead of under column (g). If
this approach is selected, onc % share or unit vests, it must be reported as an LTIP
payout in column (h). 56

- @ any specified performance target, goal or condition to
payout was waived @ding any amount included in LTIP payouts, disclose this fact in
a footnote to coluQQﬁ)

C)Q/ - Column (i) - must include, but is not limited to,
02 (@) The amount paid, payable or accrued to a NEO for
Q ) the resignation, retirement or other termination
oN¥e NEO's employment with your company or one of its subsidiaries; or

(i) a change in control of your company or one of
its subsidiaries or a change in the NEO's responsibilities following such a change in
control.
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(b)  The dollar value of the above-market portion of all
interest, dividends or other amounts earned during the financial year, or calculated with
respect to that period, excluding amounts that are paid during that period, or payable
during that period at the election of the NEO that were reported as other annual
compensation in column (e). See the description for column (e), point (b) for an
explanation of the above market portion. N

(c) The dollar value of amounts earned o TIP
compensation during the financial year, or calculated with respect to that pérjgd, and
dividend equivalents earned during that period except that amounts paigh\dyring that
period, or payable during that period at the election of the NEO must % ported as
other annual compensation in column (e). Q_

(d)  Annual contributions or o%ﬁcaﬂons by the
company or its subsidiaries to vested and unvested defig\ contribution plans or
employee savings plans. These benefits are not conside&) 0 be perquisites due to
their all-inclusive nature. O

(e)  The dollar value @/ insurance premium paid by, or
on behalf of, your company or its subsidiaries ugigng the financial year with respect to
term life insurance for the benefit of a %@ If there is an arrangement or
understanding, whether formal or informal, e NEO has received or will receive or
be allocated an interest in any cash surrenﬁ» value under the insurance policy, either

4
(i (b%e full dollar value of the remainder of the
premiums paid by, or on behalf o company or its subsidiaries; or

0 (i) if the premiums will be refunded to the
company or its subsidiari & termination of the policy, the dollar value of the benefit to
the NEO of the remai@f the premium paid by, or on behalf of, the company or its
subsidiaries during nancial year. This benefit must be determined for the period,
projected on an aQéﬂal basis, between payment of premium and the refund.

() If the NEO's compensation takes the form of a
contributiQ_ assist in the NEO's purchase of shares, the amount of the contribution,
unless contribution was available generally, either to all securityholders or to all
salar&nployees of the company.

AN\ - The same method of reporting under this paragraph must be
used for each NEO. If your company changes methods of reporting from one year to the
next, that fact and the reason for the change must be disclosed in a footnote to
column (i).

- The following need not be reported in column (i):
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0] LTIP awards and amounts received on exercise of
options and SARs; and

(i) information on defined benefit and actuarial plans.

2. The $150,000 threshold only applies to the most recent fiscal year in determining
the NEOs.
N

3. If, during any of the financial years covered by the table, your comparg\o" its
subsidiaries did not employ a NEO for the entire financial year, disclose this faéﬁd the
number of months the NEO was so employed during the year in a footnote che table.

4. If during any of the financial years covered by the talQ_a NEO was
compensated by a non-subsidiary affiliate of your company, discl in a note to the
table

(@) the amount and nature of such compensationéﬁd

(b)  whether the compensation is included i@h ompensation reported in the

table. &

5. Information with respect to a financi '}ear—end prior to the most recently
completed financial year-end need not be jded if your company was not a reporting
issuer at any time during such prior financial{year.

4

Item 3 LTIP Awards Table (b

3.1 LTIP Awards In Most@ntly Completed Financial Year
AN

J Estimated Future Payouts Under
.& Non-Securities-Price-Based Plans
NEO Name Seg%ghits Performance or Threshold Target Manimum
(@) or ights Other Period ($or#) ($or#) (Sor#)
#) Until Maturation (d) (e) )
@ (b) or Payout
- (©)

CEO A\
CFO_ ~X|
A NI
B\ %

1. Complete this table for each LTIP award made to the NEOs during the most
recently completed financial year. Note the following:

- Column (b) - Include the number of securities, units or other rights

awarded under any LTIP and, if applicable, the number of securities underlying any
such unit or right.
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- Columns (d) to (f) - For plans not based on stock price, the dollar value of
the estimated payout or range estimated payouts under the award (threshold, target and
maximum amount), whether such award is denominated in stock or cash.

- Threshold is the minimum amount payable for a certain level of
performance under the plan. N

- Target is the amount payable if the specified performance tar '2*) is
reached. You should provide a representative amount based on the previoud Jiprancial
year's performance if the target award is not determinable. Q"

- Maximum is the maximum payout possible under the pIaQ_
2. Describe in a footnote to the table, the material terms o award including a
general description of the formula or criteria applied |n mining the amounts

payable. You are not required to disclose confidential infoC} on that would adversely
affect your company's competitive position. O

3. A grant of 2 instruments in conjunction w @ch other, only one of which is
under an LTIP, need be reported only in the tabl(;\ licable to the other instrument.

Item 4 Options and SARs Q

4.1 Option/SAR Grants During Th@lest Recently Completed Financial Year

NEO Name | Securities, Exercice of Base Market Value of Expiration
(@) Under Price Securities Date
Options / ($/Security) Underlying Options / ®
SARs (d) SARs on the Date of
Granted Grant
#) ($/Security)
) A (©) (e)
CEO =
CFO L, X
A <,
B ( @)
C —~

J§ Complete this table for individual grants of options to purchase or acquire
rities of your company or any of its subsidiaries (whether or not in conjunction with
SARs) and freestanding SARs made during the most recently completed financial year

to each of NEO. Note the following:

within these groups in reverse chronological order.

The information must be presented for each NEO in groups according to
each issuer and class or series of security underlying the options or SARs granted and
For each grant, disclose in a
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footnote the issuer and the class or series of securities underlying the options or
freestanding SARs granted.

- If more than one grant of options or freestanding SARs was made to a
NEO during the most recently completed financial year, a separate row must be used to
provide the particulars of each grant. However, multiple grants during a single financial
year to a NEO can be aggregated if each grant was made on the same terms (eg.
exercise price, expiration date and vesting thresholds, if any). N

- A single grant of options or freestanding SARs must be repqpred as
separate grants for each tranche with a different exercise or base price, e@rqﬂon date
or performance-vesting threshold.

- Each material term of the grant, including but not Ii@to the date of

exercisability, the number of SARs, dividend equivalents, per ce units or other
instruments granted in conjunction with options, a perfor e-based condition to
exercisability, a re-load feature or a tax-reimbursement fe@ must be disclosed in a
footnote to the table. O

- Options or freestanding SARs gran'@ an option repricing transaction
must be disclosed. N

- If the exercise or base price ] '}justable over the term of an option or
freestanding SAR in accordance with a cribed standard or formula, include in a
footnote to the table, a description of th@t«andard or formula.

- If any provision of @ption or SAR (other than an anti-dilution provision)
could cause the exercise or b Ice to be lowered, a description of the provision and
its potential consequences be included in a footnote to the table.

- In deter
options or freestangi
prescribed under,
establishment
may be useg:

Q&
K
N\

the grant date market value of the securities underlying
ARs, use either the closing market price or any other formula
option or SAR plan. For options or SARs granted prior to the
trading market in the underlying securities, the initial offering price
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4.2 Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises During The Most Recently Completed
Financial Year And Financial Year-End Option/SAR Values

NEO Name Securities, Aggregate Value Unexercised Value of Unexercised
(a) Acquired on Realized Options / SARs at | in-the-Money Options /
Exercice (3) (%) FY-End SARs at FY-End
(b) (© (#) (%)
Exercisable / Exercisable /
Unexercisable Unexercisal)g\
(d) e) O\
CEO aY’
CFO Vv
A AV’
B D
c L=
4 A
1. Complete this table for each exercise of options (or awarded with the
options) and freestanding SARs during the most recently ted financial year by
each NEO and the financial year-end value of unexercis@o tions and SARs, on an
aggregated basis. Note the following: O

- Column (c) - the aggregate dollar va&?alized upon exercise. The dollar
value is equal to column (b) times the differegce "between the market value of the
securities underlying the options or SARs at gd)(Clse or financial year-end, respectively,
and the exercise or base price of the optiorﬁé SARs.

- Column (d) - the total n@r of securities underlying unexercised options
and SARs held at the end of the,madt recently completed financial year, separately
identifying the exercisable and lgmcisable options and SARs.

- Column (e) - }%Qaggregate dollar value of in-the-money, unexercised
options and SARs hel e end of the financial year, separately identifying the
exercisable and une ble options and SARs. The dollar value is calculated the
same way as in co c). Options or freestanding SARs are in-the-money at financial
year-end if the r? et value of the underlying securities on that date exceeds the
exercise or b ce of the option or SAR.

@)

((O%
N3
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Item 5 Option and SAR Repricings
5.1 Table of Option and SAR Repricings
NEO Date of Securities Market Exercise Price New Exercise Length of Original
Name | Repricing Uner Price of at Time of Price Option Term
@) (b) Options / Securities Repricing or ($/Security) (f) | Remaining at Date
SARS at Time of Amendment of Reprlcmg&
Repriced | Repricing or | ($/Security) Amend
or Amendment (e)
Amended | ($/Security) $
(#) (c) (d) o

CEO A"

CFO ~ <

A ys o~

B I\Yv/

C ~X)

U

1. Complete this table if at any time during the most ntly completed financial
year, your company has repriced downward any optioné:feestanding SARs held by
any NEO. O
2. State the following information for all do&%rd repricings of options or SARs

held by any NEO during the shorter of

(@)

the 10 year period ending on‘t]e date of this Form; and

4
(b) the period during Wk@bur company has been a reporting issuer.

3. Information about a r
disclosed even if the corres

N

terms of the grantin a

replacement grant is not§

4. The infor

series of sec

i

chronologlc@ er.

5 I 2r:arratlve immediately before or after this table, explain in reasonable detalil

the

S

of@lons and SARs held by any of the NEOs.

ent grant made during the financial year must be
ing original grant was cancelled in a prior year. If the
e at the current market value, describe this fact and the
ote to the table.

n must be presented in groups according to issuer and class or
nderlying options or SARs and within these groups in reverse

for all downward repricings during the most recently completed financial year
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ltem 6 Defined Benefit or Actuarial Plan Disclosure

6.1 Pension Plan Table

Remunaration Years of Service

$) 15 20 25 30 35

125,000

150,000

N
175,000 N

200,000 ~AA)

250,000 7

300,000 O\ »

400,000 Ny

-~
[insert additional rows as appropriate for additional increments] Q/z

1. Complete this table for defined benefit or actuarial pla er which benefits are
determined primarily by final compensation (or average figal ompensation) and years
of service. The estimated annual benefits payable upoﬁement (including amounts
attributable to any defined benefit supplementary or S pension awards plan) for
the specified compensation and years of service SD{ be disclosed .

2. Immediately following the table disclose,\'\

(@) the compensation covered bf/lhe plan(s), including the relationship of the
covered compensation to the compens@n reported in the table in section 2.1,

(b)  the current compe jon covered by the plan for any NEO whose total
compensation differs substanti y more than 10%) from that set out in the table in
section 2.1; 5

(c) a staten@s to the basis upon which benefits are computed (for
uity amounts), and whether or not the benefits listed in the

example; straight-lif
table are subject@y deduction for social security or other offset amounts such as
Canada Pensi% n or Québec Pension Plan amounts; and

(d)Qgﬂe estimated credited years of service for each NEO.

3. %anensation disclosed in the table must allow for reasonable increases in
exiq{ny compensation levels or, alternately, you may present, as the highest
c‘ﬁensation level in the table, an amount equal to 120% of the amount of covered
compensation of the most highly compensated of the NEOs.

4. For defined benefit or actuarial plans which are not reported in the table in

section 6.1 because the benefits are not determined primarily by final compensation (or
average final compensation) or years of service, state in narrative form
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(@ the formula by which benefits are determined; and

(b) the estimated annual benefits payable upon retirement at normal
retirement age for each of the NEOs.

Item 7 Termination of Employment, Change in Responsibilities and
Employment Contracts

7.1 Describe the terms and conditions, including dollar amounts, of eac the
following contracts or arrangements which are in existence at the end of {thg™”most
recently completed financial year: Q .

(& any employment contract between your company or its thdiaries and a
NEO; and

(b)  any compensatory plan, contract or arrangem %a ere a NEO is entitled
to receive more than $100,000 from the issuer or its su@ ries, including periodic
payments or instalments, in the event of O

0] the resignation, retirement o,{@other termination of the NEO's
employment with your company and its subsidiaries

,\'\

(i) a change of control of)‘i/@ company or any of its subsidiaries; or
(i)  achange in the N%&responsibilities following a change in control.

7.2 A cross reference to disc e already made of any payments, instalments or
contributions to defined benefit. lon plans under Items 2 or 6 is permitted.

Item 8 Composit@&the Compensation Committee

8.1 If any comp n is reported in Items 2 to 6 for the most recently completed
financial year, the caption "Composition of the Compensation Committee",
identify each gnember of your company's compensation committee (or other board
committee p %ming equivalent functions or in the absence of any such committee, the
entire bo f directors) during the most recently completed financial year. Also,
indicat h committee member who

a) was, during the most recently completed financial year, an officer or
loyee of your company or any of its subsidiaries;

(b)  was formerly an officer of your company or any of its subsidiaries;
(c) had or has any relationship that requires disclosure by your company

under Form 51-102F5 Information Circular, Item 10 "Indebtedness of Directors and
Executive Officers" and Item 11 "Interest of Informed Persons in Material Transactions";
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(d)  was an executive officer of your company and also served as a director or
member of the compensation committee (or other board committee performing
equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire board of
directors) of another issuer, one of whose executive officers served either

0] on the compensation committee (or other board commlttee
performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the K e
board of directors) of the issuer; or

(i) as a director of the issuer. Q :1/

8.2 If the composition of the compensation committee changed ing the year or
before the report in Item 9 "Report on Executive Compensatiok/i® prepared, then

disclose the change in membership as well as any of the re hips described in
section 8.1, if any. &

Item 9 Report on Executive Compensation OC)

9.1 If any compensation is reported in Items 2 or the most recently completed

financial year, describe under the caption "RP’BQ on Executive Compensation” the
policies of the compensation committee or oth ard committee performing equivalent
functions, or in the absence of any such c ittee then of the entire board of directors
of your company, during the most recentlj,completed financial year, for determining
compensation of executive officers. Boi@olate language should be avoided.

9.2  This report should include &discussion of

(@) the relative em%sis of your company on cash compensation, options,
SARSs, securities purchas prgrams, shares or units that are subject to restrictions on
resale and other incen@ans, and annual versus long-term compensation;

(b) wh% e amount and terms of outstanding options, SARs, shares and
units subject strictions on resale were taken into account when determining
whether an many new option grants would be made;

the specific relationship of your company's performance to executive
com;ﬁu tion, and, in particular, describing each measure of your company's
ance, whether quantitative or qualitative, on which executive compensation was

d and the weight assigned to each measure, e.g. percentage ranges; and

(d) the waiver or adjustment of the relevant performance criteria and the
bases for the decision if an award was made to a NEO under a performance-based plan

despite failure to meet the relevant performance criteria. For example, you should
explain how bonuses are earned and why they were awarded this period, if applicable.
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9.3 The report should state the following information about each CEO's
compensation:

(@) the bases for the CEQO's compensation for the most recently completed
financial year, including the factors and criteria upon which the CEO's compensation
was based and the relative weight assigned to each factor;

(b)  the competitive rates, if compensation of the CEO was base,{‘en
assessments of competitive rates, with whom the comparison was made, the n

and the basis for, selecting the group with which the comparison was made a what
level in the group the compensation was placed. Disclose if differenpx¢cqmpetitive
standards were used for different components of the CEO's compensatio d

(c) the relationship of your company's performan%gz) the CEO's
compensation for the most recently completed financial year, d Qp Ing each measure
of your company's performance, whether quantitative or qual)'@, on which the CEQO's
compensation was based and the weight assigned to @ measure, for example,

percentage ranges. O

9.4  Name each member of your company's coryi ation committee (or other board
committee performing equivalent functions or, ip th® absence of any such committee,
the entire board of directors). If the board irectors modified or rejected in any
material way any action or recommendatio % e committee with respect to decisions
in the most recently completed financial yeé/ e report should indicate this fact, explain
the reasons for the board's action and@olude the names of all of the members of the
board.

9.5 If a compensation com{&teee member dissents concerning the content of the
report, the report must ident e dissenting member and the reasons provided to the
committee for the dissent.

performance-rel ctors considered by the committee (or board), or any factors or

9.6 Disclosure o?@get levels with respect to specific quantitative or qualitative
criteria |nvoIV| fidential information is not required.

commi a joint report may be presented indicating the separate committee's
resp ities and members of each committee or alternatively separate reports may
ared for each committee.

.§L ensatlon of executive officers is determined by different board
[

Item 10 Performance Graph
10.1 If any compensation is reported in response to Items 2 to 6 for the most recently

completed financial year, immediately after Item 9, provide a line graph called
"Performance Graph" comparing
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(@) the vyearly percentage change in your company's cumulative total
shareholder return on each class or series of equity securities that are publicly traded,
as measured in accordance with section 10.2, with

(b)  the cumulative total return of a broad equity market index assuming
reinvestment of dividends, that includes issuers whose securities are traded on the
same exchange or are of comparable market capitalization, provided that, if your
company is within the S&P/TSX Composite Index, you must use the total return "r\'fdex
value of the S&P/TSX Composite Index. Q

10.2 The yearly percentage change in your company's cumulative tota@k@reholder
return on a class or series of securities must be measured by dividing (b

(@  the sum of Q/Q‘

0] the cumulative amount of dividends fo;{@measurement period,
assuming dividend reinvestment, and C)

(i) the difference between the priceJoshe securities of the class or
series at the end and the beginning of the measure& period, by

(b)  the price for the securities of thy\ﬁass or series at the beginning of the
measurement period. Q

At the measurement point, whi%is the beginning of the measurement period,
the closing price must be converte f&y) a fixed investment of $100 in your company's
securities (or in the securities re nted by a given index), with cumulative returns for
each subsequent financial ye% sured as a change from that investment.

10.3 In preparing the r@iéd graphic comparisons,
assumptions for Otal return calculations, provided that, if your company constructs

its own peer gppudNindex under section 10.5(b), the same methodology must be used in
calculating ur company's total return and that of the peer group index;

@) use%@ extent feasible, comparable methods of presentation and

@2 assume the reinvestment of dividends into additional securities of the
sam* s or series at the frequency with which dividends are paid on the securities
he applicable financial year; and

d

(©) each financial year should be plotted with points showing the cumulative
total return as of that point. The value of the investment as of each point plotted on a
given return line is the number of securities held at that point multiplied by the then-
prevailing security price.
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10.4 You must present information for your company's last 5 most recently completed
financial years, and may choose to graph a longer period but the $100 measurement
point remains the same. A period shorter than 5 years may be used if the class or series
of securities forming the basis for the comparison has been publicly traded for a shorter
time period.

10.5 You also may elect to include in the graph a line charting the cumulative total

return, assuming reinvestment of dividends, of N
(@) a published industry or line-of-business index which is any ind at is

prepared by a party other than your company or its affiliate and is accegsile to your

company's securityholders, provided that, you may use an index pr d by your

company or its affiliate if such index is widely recognized and used; Q_

(b) peer issuer(s) selected in good faith. If you do Un{c@&d your company's

peer issuers on an industry or line-of-business basis, you Isclose the basis for
your selection; or C)

(c) issuer(s) with similar market capitalizati 7 but only if you do not use a
published industry or line-of-business index and ﬁot believe you can reasonably
identify a peer group. If you use this alternative, thesgraph must be accompanied by a
statement of the reasons for this selection. ;\'\

10.6 If you use peer issuer comparisorﬂ/or comparisons with issuers with similar
market capitalizations, the identity of tk@e‘issuers must be disclosed and the returns of
each component issuer of the gr uﬁ)nust be weighted according to the respective
issuer's market capitalization a beginning of each period for which a return is

indicated. 0

10.7 Any election to us hﬁdditional index under section 10.5 is considered to apply
in respect of all sub@t financial years unless abandoned by your company in
accordance with thi tion. To abandon the index, your company must have, in the
information circul IF for the financial year immediately preceding the most recently

completed fin%i year
(a)anted its intention to abandon the index;

Q@ explained the reason(s) for this change; and

N (0) compared your company's total return with that of the elected additional
index.

10.8 You may include comparisons using performance measures in addition to total
return, such as return on average common shareholders' equity, so long as your
company's compensation committee (or other board committee performing equivalent
functions or in the absence of any such committee the entire board of directors)
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describes the link between that measure and the level of executive compensation in the
report required by Item 9.

Item 11 Compensation of Directors
11.1 Disclose the following under the "Compensation of Directors" heading:

(@) any standard compensation arrangements, stating amounts, earn(i%‘by
directors of your company for their services as directors from your compané/ﬁ its

subsidiaries during the most recently completed financial year, including any ional
amounts payable for committee participation or special assignments; Q"

name of the
s directors from
ed financial year;

(b)  any other arrangements, stating the amounts paid an
director, under which directors were compensated for their servic
your company and its subsidiaries during the most recently c

and &

(c) any other arrangements, stating the amo@aid and the name of the
director, under which directors of your company wgreNeompensated for services as
consultants or experts, by your company and its & iaries during the most recently
completed financial year.

11.2 If information required by section 11 \rovided in response to another item of
this Form, a cross-reference to where the ihfprmation is provided satisfies section 11.1.

4
Item 12 Unincorporated Issuelrsb

12.1 Unincorporated issuer@ report

(@) a descriptio cband amount of fees or other compensation paid by the
issuer to individuals as directors or trustees of the issuer for the most recently
completed financial and

(b) egcription of and amount of expenses reimbursed by the issuer to such
individuals ctors or trustees during the most recently completed financial year.

finan atements instead.

I@B Venture Issuers

13.1 A venture issuer may omit the disclosure required by Items 5, 6, 8, 9 and 10. A
venture issuer must, in a narrative that accompanies the table required in section 4.1,
disclose which grants of options or SARs result from repricing and explain in reasonable
detail the basis for the repricing.

12.2@@ information required by this Item may be disclosed in the issuer's annual

174



Item 14 Issuers Reporting in the United States

14.1 Except as provided in section 14.2, SEC issuers may satisfy the requirements of
this Form by providing the information required by Item 402 "Executive Compensation”
of Regulation S-K under the 1934 Act.

14.2 Section 14.1 is not available to an issuer that, as a foreign private issuer,
satisfies Item 402 of Regulation S-K by providing the information required by IterrR'&B
"Compensation" and 6.E.2 "Share Ownership" of Form 20-F under the 1934 Act.Q

M.O. 2005-03, Form 51-102F6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 43; M.O. 2008-18, s. 11 a@l‘}
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FORM 51-102F6
STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION (in respect of financial years
ending on or after December 31, 2008)

ITEM 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

1.1  Objective

directors for, or in connection with, services they have provided to the com or a

N
All direct and indirect compensation provided to certain executive offéﬁ&nd
subsidiary of the company must be disclosed in this form. Q"

directors intended the company to pay, make payable, award, grafy fyive or otherwise
provide to each NEO and director for the financial year. Thi @osure will provide
insight into executive compensation as a key aspect of th @rall stewardship and
governance of the company and will help investors undessidd how decisions about
executive compensation are made. O

The objective of this disclosure is to communicate the comp@bn the board of

A company’s executive compensation disclg@under this form must satisfy this
objective. N

N

1.2  Definitions Q

If a term is used in this form but@ Kot defined in this section, refer to subsection
1.1(1) of the Regulation or to Regulat@p 4-101 respecting Definitions (c. V-1.1, r. 3).

In this form, 0%

"CEQO" means an i ihﬂual who acted as chief executive officer of the company,
or acted in a similar ¢ y, for any part of the most recently completed financial

year; Q‘

"CFO" mgeans an individual who acted as chief financial officer of the company,
or acted in ac%far capacity, for any part of the most recently completed financial year;

Q ing market price” means the price at which the company’s security was last
sold, e applicable date,
N (@) in the security’s principal marketplace in Canada, or

(b) if the security is not listed or quoted on a marketplace in Canada, in the
security’s principal marketplace;

"company" includes other types of business organizations such as partnerships,
trusts and other unincorporated business entities;
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"equity incentive plan” means an incentive plan, or portion of an incentive plan,
under which awards are granted and that falls within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment;

"external management company" includes a subsidiary, affiliate or associate of
the external management company;

"grant date” means a date determined for financial statement reporting @ses
under IFRS 2 Share-based Payment; (El/

)
“incentive plan" means any plan providing compensation thd%pends on
achieving certain performance goals, or similar conditions within a sp@‘ie period;

"incentive plan award" means compensation awarded, , paid, or payable
under an incentive plan; &

"NEQO" or "named executive officer" means each (&’following individuals:
(@) aCEO; <O
(b) aCFO: ,\'\

(c) each of the 3 most highly ccf?ﬁpensated executive officers, or the 3 most
highly compensated individuals actin «a similar capacity, other than the CEO and

CFO, at the end of the most ently completed financial year whose total
compensation was, individually, than $150,000, as determined in accordance with
subsection 1.3(6), for that fina ear; and

(d)  each individ I)/ho would be an NEO under paragraph (c) but for the fact
that the individual w ither an executive officer of the company, nor acting in a
similar capacity, at@d of that financial year;

"non-e |tancent|ve plan” means an incentive plan or portion of an incentive
plan that i |s eqwty incentive plan;

n- based award" means an award under an equity incentive plan of options,
|nclu “for greater certainty, share options, share appreciation rights, and similar
ents that have option-like features;

plan includes any plan, contract, authorization, or arrangement, whether or not
set out in any formal document, where cash, securities, similar instruments or any other
property may be received, whether for one or more persons;

"replacement grant” means an option that a reasonable person would consider to
be granted in relation to a prior or potential cancellation of an option;
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“repricing" means, in relation to an option, adjusting or amending the exercise or
base price of the option, but excludes any adjustment or amendment that equally affects
all holders of the class of securities underlying the option and occurs through the
operation of a formula or mechanism in, or applicable to, the option;

"share-based award" means an award under an equity incentive plan of equity-
based instruments that do not have option-like features, including, for greater cer Y,
common shares, restricted shares, restricted share units, deferred share units, om
shares, phantom share units, common share equivalent units and stock.

)
1.3  Preparing the form (bQ

(1) All compensation to be included Q/a

(@  When completing this form, the company must
paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or otherwise provj
the company, or a subsidiary of the company, to e EO and director, in any
capacity, including, for greater certainty, all plan and an compensation, direct and
indirect pay, remuneration, economic or finang{ ward, reward, benefit, gift or
perquisite paid, payable awarded, granted, givep, odsotherwise provided to the NEO or
director for services provided, directly or indire& Mo the company or a subsidiary of the
company.

ose all compensation
directly or indirectly, by

(b) Despite paragraph (a), iNsspect of the Canada Pension Plan, similar
government plans, and group life, h , hospitalization, medical reimbursement and
relocation plans that do not discri®fiate in scope, terms or operation and are generally
available to all salaried em es, the company is not required to disclose as
compensation 5

0] a @Itributions or premiums paid or payable by the company on
behalf of an NEO, c@director, under these plans, and

j Qany cash, securities, similar instruments or any other property
received by @%EO or by a director, under these plans.

@ For greater certainty, the plans described in paragraph (b) include plans
that e for such benefits after retirement.

\é (d) If an item of compensation is not specifically mentioned or described in

this form, it is to be disclosed in column (h) ("All other compensation™) of the summary
compensation table in section 3.1.
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(2) Departures from format

Although the required disclosure must be made in accordance with this form, the
disclosure may

(@) omit a table, column of a table, or other prescribed information, if it does
not apply, and
N

(b)  add tables, columns, and other information, if necessary to sa@the
objective in section 1.1.

3) Information for full financial year (bgﬂ

If an NEO acted in that capacity for the company during pard‘% financial year
for which disclosure is required in the summary compensation , provide details of
all of the compensation that the NEO received from the com or that financial year.
This includes compensation the NEO earned in any oth@ ition with the company
during the financial year. O

Do not annualize compensation in a table %@uy part of a year when an NEO
was not in the service of the company. Annuallz mpensation may be disclosed in a
footnote.

4) External management companiesq/

4
@) If one or more indiv'dﬁ@s acting as an NEO of the company are not
employees of the company, discl he names of those individuals.

(b) If an external $&§1agement company employs or retains one or more
individuals acting as N rectors of the company and the company has entered
into an understandin %angement or agreement with the external management
company to provi ecutive management services to the company directly or
indirectly, disclos%y‘compensatlon that:

é/ the company paid directly to an individual employed, or retained by
the exterQ_ anagement company, who is acting as an NEO or director of the
compa

N
\% an

(i) the external management company paid to the individual that is
attributable to the services they provided to the company directly or indirectly.

(c) disclose: If an external management company provides the
company’s executive management services and provides executive management
services to another company,
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0) the portion of the compensation paid to the individual acting as an
NEO or director that the external management company attributes to services the
external management company provided to the company; or

(i) the entire compensation the external management company paid to
the individual acting as an NEO or director. If the management company allocates the
compensation paid to an NEO or director, disclose the basis or methodology used to
allocate this compensation. N

Commentary (19

An NEO may be employed by an external management compaﬁbgt.a provide
services to the company under an understanding, arrangement or ement. In this
case, references in this form to the CEO or CFO are references t individuals who
performed similar functions to that of the CEO or CFO. They enerally the same
individuals who signed and filed annual and interimrg\l tes to comply with

S

Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification of Disclosure i ers’ Annual and Interim
Filings (c. V-1.1, r. 27). O

(5) Director and NEO compensation &O

Disclose any compensation awarded tq\'\rned by, paid to, or payable to each
director and NEO, in any capacity with ect to the company. Compensation to
directors and NEOs must include all pensation from the company and its
subsidiaries. Q"

NEO, or director, in any cap ith respect to the company, by another person or
company. 5

(6) Determining if&dividual is an NEO

For the pu% e of calculating total compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to,
or payable to ividual under paragraph (c) of the definition of NEO,

Disclose any compensati;@warded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to, an

summ mpensation table required by section 3.1 for each executive officer, as if

a)zg e the total compensation that would be reported under column (i) of the
that tive officer were an NEO for the company’s most recently completed financial

(b) exclude from the calculation,

) any compensation that would be reported under column (g) of the
summary compensation table required by section 3.1,
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(i) any incremental payments, payables, and benefits to an executive
officer that are triggered by, or result from, a scenario listed in section 6.1 that occurred
during the most recently completed financial year, and

(i)  any cash compensation that relates to foreign assignments that is
specifically intended to offset the impact of a higher cost of living in the foreign location,
and is not otherwise related to the duties the executive officer performs for the

company. '\'\
Commentary (19

The $150,000 threshold in paragraph (c) of the definition of NE@w?y applies
when determining who is an NEO in a company’s most recently eted financial
year. If an individual is an NEO in the most recently completed fina&ear, disclosure
of compensation in prior years must be provided if otherwise re by this form even
if total compensation in a prior year is less than $150,000 in t ar.

(7) Compensation to associates OC)

Disclose any awards, earnings, payments@ayables to an associate of an
NEO, or of a director, as a result of compensation™warded to, earned by, paid to, or
payable to the NEO or the director, in any capq& with respect to the company.

(8) New reporting issuers (1/
4
@) Disclose information 'n(tbe summary compensation table for the 3 most
recently completed financial year e the company became a reporting issuer.

(b) Despite paragr (a), do not provide information for a completed financial
year if the company was Rot € reporting issuer for any part of that financial year, unless
the company became &Srting issuer as a result of a restructuring transaction.

(c) If tt% pany was not a reporting issuer at any time during the most
recently comp financial year and the company is completing the form because it is
preparing a étpectus, discuss all significant elements of the compensation to be
awarded @rned by, paid to, or payable to NEOs of the company once it becomes a
reportir@%ﬁer, to the extent this compensation has been determined.

{@n&ntary

Unless otherwise specified, information required to be disclosed under this form
may be prepared in accordance with the accounting principles the company uses to
prepare its financial statements, as permitted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (c. V-1.1, r. 25).
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2. The definition of "director” under securities legislation includes an individual who
acts in a capacity similar to that of a director.

ITEM 2 COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
2.1 Compensation discussion and analysis
(1) Describe and explain all significant elements of compensation award dNo,
earned by, paid to, or payable to NEOs for the most recently completed financé"}ear
Include the following: q/
)
(@) the objectives of any compensation program or strategy; (bQ

(b)  what the compensation program is designed to rewar%

(c) each element of compensation; &O

(d)  why the company chooses to pay each elec§e

(e) how the company determines the @nt (and, where applicable, the
formula) for each element; and N

() how each element of compe @n and the company’s decisions about
that element fit into the company’s overall pensation objectives and affect decisions
about other elements. Q N

(2) If applicable, describe a w actions, decisions or policies that were made
after the end of the most tly completed financial year that could affect a
reasonable person’s under ing of an NEO’s compensation for the most recently
completed financial year.

3) If applicable, @Iy state the benchmark and explain its components, including
the companies in@eﬁ in the benchmark group and the selection criteria.

4) If ap e, disclose performance goals or similar conditions that are based on
objective ifiable measures, such as the company’s share price or earnings per
share rformance goals or similar conditions are subjective, the company may

e performance goal or similar condition without providing specific measures.

\é The company is not required to disclose performance goals or similar conditions
in respect of specific quantitative or qualitative performance-related factors if a
reasonable person would consider that disclosing them would seriously prejudice the
company’s interests. Companies do not qualify for this exemption if they have publicly
disclosed the performance goals or similar conditions.
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If the company does not disclose specific performance goals or similar
conditions, state what percentage of the NEO’s total compensation relates to this
undisclosed information and how difficult it could be for the NEO, or how likely it will be
for the company, to achieve the undisclosed performance goal or similar condition.

If the company discloses performance goals or similar conditions that are non-
GAAP financial measures, explain how the company calculates these performance
goals or similar conditions from its financial statements. N

Commentary (19

1. The information disclosed under section 2.1 will depend on the gs? Provide
enough analysis to allow a reasonable person, applying rea ble effort, to
understand the disclosure elsewhere in this form. Describe the @fiﬂcant principles
underlying policies and explain the decisions relating to comp tfon provided to an
NEO. Disclosure that merely describes the process for de& Ing compensation or
compensation already awarded, earned, paid, or payg®les is not adequate. The
information contained in this section should give reader nse of how compensation
is tied to the NEO’s performance. Avoid boilerplate la l@e.

2. If the company’s process for determining efébutive compensation is very simple,
for example, the company relies solely o ﬁsard discussion without any formal
objectives, criteria and analysis, then maked;@ lear in the discussion.

3. The following are examples of @’%s that will usually be significant elements of
disclosure concerning compensation:

- contractual or n ntractual arrangements, plans, process changes or
any other matters that mi ause the amounts disclosed for the most recently
completed financial yeag t®? be misleading if used as an indicator of expected
compensation levels i@e periods;

- the &ss for determining perquisites and personal benefits;

- %ﬁies and decisions about the adjustment or recovery of awards,
earnings, ents, or payables if the performance goal or similar condition on which
they ar, sed are restated or adjusted to reduce the award, earning, payment, or

payal@,

\s - the basis for selecting events that trigger payment for any arrangement
that provides for payment at, following or in connection with any termination or change
of control;

- whether the company used any benchmarking in determining
compensation or any element of compensation;
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- any waiver or change to any specified performance goal or similar
condition to payout for any amount, including whether the waiver or change applied to
one or more specified NEOs or to all compensation subject to the performance goal or
similar condition;

- the role of executive officers in determining executive compensation; and

- performance goals or similar conditions in respect of specific quant'b[{fﬁve
or qualitative performancerelated factors for NEOs. (19

03"
(&)  This section does not apply to Qg_

0] venture issuers,
X

(i) companies that have distributed ogz ebt securities or non-

2.2 Performance graph

convertible, non-participating preferred securities to the w2, and

(i)  companies that were not re @g issuers in any jurisdiction in
Canada for at least 12 calendar months before the eéwd of their most recently completed
financial year, other than companies that beca&e ew reporting issuers as a result of a
restructuring transaction. Q

(b) Provide a line graph sho@WNa the company’s cumulative total shareholder
return over the 5 most recently ofb eted financial years. Assume that $100 was
invested on the first day of the %ar period. If the company has been a reporting
issuer for less than 5 years@t e period that the company has been a reporting

issuer. 5

Compar&icﬁto the cumulative total return of at least one broad equity
market index that, t asonable person, would be an appropriate reference point for
the company’s r@ﬁ? If the company is included in the S&P/TSX Composite Total
Return Index,@ at index. In all cases, assume that dividends are reinvested.

Cdscuss how the trend shown by this graph compares to the trend in the
compa ompensation to executive officers reported under this form over the same

peri
Oqﬁmentary

For section 2.2, companies may also include other relevant performance goals or
similar conditions.
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2.3 Option-based awards

Describe the process the company uses to grant option-based awards to
executive officers. Include the role of the compensation committee and executive
officers in setting or amending any equity incentive plan under which an option-based
award is granted. State whether previous grants of option-based awards are taken into
account when considering new grants.

ITEM 3 SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE
3.1 Summary compensation table Q-

financial year, complete this table for each of the company’s 3 mo ently completed

Despite paragraph 1.3(8)(a), for each NEO in the mostsgnf:’?y completed
financial years that end on or after December 31, 2008. O
£

Name and | Year Salary Share- Option- Non-equity incentive eNon All other Total
principal (b) %) based based plan compensation ($) lue compensation | compensation
position ©) awards awards (f f') %) (%) ($)
(a) ($) ($) Annual Long- NV (9) (h) 0}
(d) (e) incentive t@
plans & e
(f1) ns
N (@)
CEO r\ ~
— A

CFO 4

)

%

— &
R

|

— S
RN

&

n @%section (1), a company is not required to disclose comparative period
disclosxg'raccordance with the requirements of either Form 51-102F6, which came
into f, on March 30, 2004, as amended, or this form, in respect of a financial year
end{nO®before December 31, 2008.

(} In column (c), include the dollar value of cash and non-cash base salary an NEO
earned during a financial year covered in the table (a covered financial year). If the
company cannot calculate the amount of salary earned in a financial year, disclose this
in a footnote, along with the reason why it cannot be determined. Restate the salary
figure the next time the company prepares this form, and explain what portion of the
restated figure represents an amount that the company could not previously calculate.

Commentary
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3) In column (d), disclose the dollar amount based on the fair value of the award on
the grant date for a covered financial year.

(4) In column (e), disclose the dollar amount based on the fair value of the award on
the grant date for a covered financial year. Include option-based awards both with or
without tandem share appreciation rights.

(5) For an award disclosed in column (d) or (e), in a footnote to the table o;\fr\a
narrative after the table,

€) if the fair value of the award on the grant date is different ¢« the fair
value determined in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment ( unting fair
value), state the amount of the difference and explain the dlfference

(b)  describe the methodology used to calculate the f %{a of the award on
the grant date, disclose the key assumptions and estlmate k&) for each calculation,
and explain why the company chose that methodology.

Commentary O

O

1. This commentary applies to subsections (3), (%) and (5).

2. The value disclosed in columns (d) '}‘e) of the summary compensation table
should reflect what the board of directors nded to pay, make payable, award, grant,
give or otherwise provide as compens on the grant date (fair value of the award) as
set out in comment 3, below. Thi te might differ from the value reported in the
issuer's financial statements. é/

3. While compensatior:&)ctices vary, there are generally 2 approaches that
boards of directors use w etting compensation. A board of directors may decide the
value in securities o&‘company it intends to award or pay as compensation.
Alternatively, a boa directors may decide the portion of the potential ownership of
the company it irﬁ@g to transfer as compensation. A fair value ascribed to the award
will normally r@ these approaches.

any may calculate this value either in accordance with a valuation
metho y identified in IFRS 2 Share-based Payment or in accordance with another
met gy set out in comment 5 below.

4\ In some cases, the fair value of the award disclosed in columns (d) and (e) might
differ from the accounting fair value. For financial statement purposes, the accounting
fair value amount is amortized over the service period to obtain an accounting cost
(accounting compensation expense), adjusted at year end as required.

5. While the most commonly used methodologies for calculating the value of most
types of awards are the Black-Scholes-Merton model and the binomial lattice model,
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companies may choose to use another valuation methodology if it produces a more
meaningful and reasonable estimate of fair value.

6. The summary compensation table requires disclosure of an amount even if the
accounting compensation expense is zero. The amount disclosed in the table should
reflect the fair value of the award following the principles described under comments 2
and 3, above. N

7. Column (d) includes common shares, restricted shares, restricted shar 'mﬂits,
deferred share units, phantom shares, phantom share units, common share éqskalent
units, stock, and similar instruments that do not have option-like features. Q-

(6) In column (e), include the incremental fair value if, at any time ¢Qking the covered
financial year, the company has adjusted, amended, cancelled, re or significantly
modified the exercise price of options previously awarded to ed by, paid to, or
payable to, an NEO. The repricing or modification date t be determined in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment. The methgelodgy used to calculate the
incremental fair value must be the same methodology u calculate the initial grant.

This requirement does not apply to any repri&a@hat equally affects all holders of
the class of securities underlying the options and“hat occurs through a pre-existing
formula or mechanism in the plan or award thq& ults in the periodic adjustment of the
option exercise or base price, an antidi l@n provision in a plan or award, or a
recapitalization or similar transaction.

4
(7) Include a footnote to the alﬁbgquantifying the incremental fair value of any
adjusted, amended, cancelled, ced or significantly modified options that are
included in the table. 0

performed during the d financial year that are related to awards under non-equity

(8) In column (f), in;&d the dollar value of all amounts earned for services
incentive plans andé rnings on any such outstanding awards.

grelevant performance goal or similar condition was satisfied during a

(a)
covered fin year (including for a single year in a plan with a multi-year
performa al or similar condition), report the amounts earned for that financial year,

even if
amo
e
(b) Include a footnote describing and quantifying all amounts earned on non-
equity incentive plan compensation, whether they were paid during the financial year,

were payable but deferred at the election of an NEO, or are payable by their terms at a
later date.

are payable at a later date. The company is not required to report these
gain in the summary compensation table when they are actually paid to an
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(c) Include any discretionary cash awards, earnings, payments, or payables
that were not based on predetermined performance goals or similar conditions that were
communicated to an NEO. Report any performance-based plan awards that include pre-
determined performance goals or similar conditions in column (f).

(d) In column (f1), include annual non-equity incentive plan compensation,
such as bonuses and discretionary amounts. For column (f1), annual non-equity
incentive plan compensation relates only to a single financial year. In colum )
include all non-equity incentive plan compensation related to a period longer tI@ ne
year. (1/

(9) In column (g), include all compensation relating to defined berf@o\r defined
contribution plans. These include service costs and other compensa items such as
plan changes and earnings that are different from the estimated %%:gs for defined
benefit plans and abovemarket earnings for defined contribution g

This disclosure relates to all plans that provide for 'épayment of pension plan
benefits. Use the same amounts included in column (e) defined benefit plan table
required by Item 5 for the covered financial year a% ounts included in column (c)

of the defined contribution plan table as required em 5 for the covered financial

year.
N

(20) In column (h), include all other comp '&ion not reported in any other column of
this table. Column (h) must include, but is r‘ﬁmited to:
4
@) perquisites, including pfb))erty or other personal benefits provided to an
NEO that are not generally avall to all employees, and that in aggregate are worth
$50,000 or more, or are wort o or more of an NEO's total salary for the financial
year. Value these items on @asis of the aggregate incremental cost to the company
and its subsidiaries. Desgib€ in a footnote the methodology used for computing the
aggregate incrementab o the company.

Sta%l e type and amount of each perquisite the value of which exceeds
25% of the to lue of perquisites reported for an NEO in a footnote to the table.
Provide the te information for the most recently completed financial year only;

2 other post-retirement benefits such as health insurance or life insurance

after@@ment;

\s (c) all "gross-ups" or other amounts reimbursed during the covered financial
year for the payment of taxes;

(d) the incremental payments, payables, and benefits to an NEO that are

triggered by, or result from, a scenario listed in section 6.1 that occurred before the end
of the covered financial year;
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(e) the dollar value of any insurance premiums paid or payable by, or on
behalf of, the company during the covered financial year for personal insurance for an
NEO if the estate of the NEO is the beneficiary;

) the dollar value of any dividends or other earnings paid or payable on
share-based or option-based awards that were not factored into the fair value of the
award on the grant date required to be reported in columns (d) and (e); N

(@) any compensation cost for any security that the NEO bought f '\the

company or its subsidiaries at a discount from the market price of the securit ough
deferral of salary, bonus or otherwise). Calculate this cost at the date of pu@qse and in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment; and (b

(h)  above-market or preferential earnings on compensati@ is deferred on
a basis that is not tax exempt other than for defined contributig€pi¥ns covered in the
defined contribution plan table in Iltem 5. Above-market or @ ential applies to non-
registered plans and means a rate greater than the rate orgknaxily paid by the company
or its subsidiary on securities or other obligations havir&é same or similar features
issued to third parties.

<O
N
1. Generally, there will be no incremen ayments, payables, and benefits that are
triggered by, or result from, a scenario descpbed in section 6.1 that occurred before the
end of a covered financial year for@mpensation that has been reported in the
summary compensation table for hgbwst recently completed financial year or for a
financial year before the most r(@y completed financial year.

Commentary

If the vesting or payoipr the previously reported compensation is accelerated,
or a performance goal @ <4imilar condition in respect of the previously reported
compensation is wai s a result of a scenario described in section 6.1, the
incremental paym payables, and benefits should include the value of the
accelerated bene'Q f the waiver of the performance goal or similar condition.

2. Gene an item is not a perquisite if it is integrally and directly related to the
performa an executive officer’s duties. If something is necessary for a person to
do his &job, it is integrally and directly related to the job and is not a perquisite,
even@ Iso provides some amount of personal benefit.

\é If the company concludes that an item is not integrally and directly related to
performing the job, it may still be a perquisite if the item provides an NEO with any
direct or indirect personal benefit. If it does provide a personal benefit, the item is a
perquisite, whether or not it is provided for a business reason or for the company’s
convenience, unless it is generally available on a non-discriminatory basis to all
employees.
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Companies must conduct their own analysis of whether a particular item is a
perquisite. The following are examples of things that are often considered perquisites or
personal benefits. This list is not exhaustive:

- Cars, car lease and car allowance;

- Corporate aircraft or personal travel financed by the company;

,\'\

(19

- Clothing; Q-

Q.
&
- Club membership; C)&O

- Jewellery;

- Artwork;

- Housekeeping services;

- Theatre tickets; O

O

- Financial assistance to provide edL}\atl n to children of executive officers;

- Parking; Q'\

- Personal financial or tax @Ice
- Security at person eé dence or during personal travel; and
t

- Reimburseme
personal benefit.

axes owed with respect to perquisites or other

(11) In column (i @Iude the dollar value of total compensation for the covered
financial year. F NEO, this is the sum of the amounts reported in columns (c)

through (h).
04

12) A erred amounts must be included in the appropriate column for the
covere%aal year in which they are earned.

(]% f an NEO elected to exchange any compensation awarded to, earned by, paid
tO\®r payable to the NEO in a covered financial year under a program that allows the
NEO to receive awards, earnings, payments, or payables in another form, the
compensation the NEO elected to exchange must be reported as compensation in the
column appropriate for the form of compensation exchanged: Do not report it in the form
in which it was or will be received by the NEO. State in a footnote the form of awards,
earnings, payments, or payables substituted for the compensation the NEO elected to
exchange.
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3.2 Narrative discussion

Describe and explain any significant factors necessary to understand the
information disclosed in the summary compensation table required by section 3.1.

Commentary

The significant factors described in section 3.2 will vary dependin the
circumstances of each award but may include: ?'[,

- the significant terms of each NEO’s employment @ement or

arrangement; Q_

- any repricing or other significant changes to the te I any share-based
or option-based award program during the most recently compl financial year; and

- the significant terms of any award reporte@e summary compensation
table, including a general description of the for @ criterion to be applied in
determining the amounts payable and the vestlng,gd dule. For example, if dividends
will be paid on shares, state this, the appllcabl end rate and whether that rate is
preferential.

3.3 Currencies (19

4
Report amounts in this form u@jg the same currency that the company uses in
its financial statements. If comp ion awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to
an NEO was in a currency ot an the presentation currency, state in a footnote the
currency in which compensadQ} was awarded, earned, paid, or payable, disclose the
translation rate and desci éhe methodology used to translate the compensation into
the presentation curre§

3.4  Officers w@&so act as directors

If an&@ is also a director who receives compensation for services as a
director e that compensation in the summary compensation table and include a
footnot&aining which amounts relate to the director role. Do not provide disclosure
for thQ O under Item 7.

I®4 INCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS
4.1 Outstanding share-based awards and option-based awards

(1) Complete this table for each NEO for all awards outstanding at the end of the
most recently completed financial year. This includes awards granted before the most
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recently completed financial year. For all awards in this table, disclose the awards that
have been transferred at other than fair market value.

Option-based Awards Share-based Awards
Name Number of Option Option Value of Number of Market or
(@) securities exercice expiration unexercised | shares or | payout value of
underlying price date in-the- units of share-based
unexercised (%) (c) (d) money shares awards that
options options that have | have not \,Rt
# (%) not vested (
(b) () (#) a&
(U] ~
CEO A"
CFO o)
A L~
B A(é,‘
C

V_ N
v

(2) In column (b), for each award, disclose the nun@\of securities underlying
unexercised options. O

3) In column (c), disclose the exercise or ba&@ce for each option under each
award reported in column (b). N

(4) In column (d), disclose the expirati te for each option under each award
reported in column (b).

4
(5) In column (e), disclose the &bgate dollar amount of in-the-money unexercised
options held at the end of the . Calculate this amount based on the difference

between the market value of t curities underlying the instruments at the end of the
year, and the exercise or ba ice of the option.
(6) In column (f), d@& the total number of shares or units that have not vested.

(7) In column@isclose the aggregate market value or payout value of share-
based awards @ ave not vested.

If are-based award provides only for a single payout on vesting, calculate
this val sed on that payout.

f the share-based award provides for different payouts depending on the
asvevement of different performance goals or similar conditions, calculate this value
based on the minimum payout. However, if the NEO achieved a performance goal or
similar condition in a financial year covered by the share-based award that on vesting
could provide for a payout greater than the minimum payout, calculate this value based
on the payout expected as a result of the NEO achieving this performance goal or
similar condition.
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4.2 Incentive plan awards — value vested or earned during the year

(1) Complete this table for each NEO for the most recently completed financial year.

Name Option-based awards- Share-based awards - Value Non-equity incentive plan
(a) Value vested during the vested during the year compensation - Value
year €)) earned during the year
%) (c) %)
(b) (d) r\'\
CEO N
CFO (9 )
A | 4
N\
B o)
o

- Q=

(2) In column (b), disclose the aggregate dollar value that wo ,u been realized
if the options under the option-based award had been exercin the vesting date.
Compute the dollar value that would have been realized b Ermining the difference
between the market price of the underlying securities rcise and the exercise or
base price of the options under the option-based awa%on the vesting date. Do not
include the value of any related payment or oth r@nsideration provided (or to be
provided) by the company to or on behalf of an NE&
(3) In column (c), disclose the aggregate '}value realized upon vesting of share-
based awards. Compute the dollar value r d by multiplying the number of shares or
units by the market value of the underla ares on the vesting date. For any amount
realized upon vesting for which receipﬁgs been deferred, include a footnote that states
the amount and the terms of the d@

4.3 NarrativediscussiorsoE

Describe and ex%ﬂ the significant terms of all plan-based awards, including
non-equity incentive f{a) awards, issued or vested, or under which options have been
exercised, during fMRé=year, or outstanding at the year end, to the extent not already
discussed under 3ctions 2.1, 2.3 and 3.2. The company may aggregate information for
different awﬁ/f separate disclosure of each award is not necessary to communicate

their signif'? terms.
Com @ary

} The items included in the narrative required by section 4.3 will vary depending on
the terms of each plan, but may include:

- the number of securities underlying each award or received on vesting or
exercise;

- general descriptions of formula or criteria that are used to determine
amounts payable; -exercise prices and expiry dates;
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- dividend rates on share-based awards;
- whether awards are vested or unvested;
- performance goals or similar conditions, or other significant conditions;

- information on estimated future payouts for non-equity incentive\ n
awards (performance goals or similar conditions and maximum amounts); and Q

- the closing market price on the grant date, if the exercise or ¢aQsge price is
less than the closing market price of the underlying security on the grant g

ITEM 5 PENSION PLAN BENEFITS @E

X

5.1 Defined benefit plans table &

Q) Complete this table for all pension plans that pro@r payments or benefits at,
following, or in connection with retirement, excluding deM#ed contribution plans. For all
disclosure in this table, use the same assumpti nd methods used for financial
statement reporting purposes under the accoyarftﬁg principles used to prepare the
company's financial statements, as permi@s{ by Regulation 52-107 respecting

Acceptable Accounting Principles and Audi @ andards.
Number Annual OpeninQ) Lompensatory Non- Closing present
of years benefits pres% change compensatory | value of defined
credited | payable ($) v%o (%) change benefit
Name | service (c) é ed (e) (%) obligation
(@) #) At At )benefit () %)
(b) year age) ligation @)
end 5 (%)
(c1) ﬁ(&) (d)
CEO N
CFO O=T
A <&
B A
C CY
A4
(2) I gmmns (b) and (c), the disclosure must be as of the end of the company's
most&ecently completed financial year. In columns (d) through (g), the disclosure must
b of the reporting date used in the company's audited annual financial statements

fONMe most recently completed financial year.

3) In column (b), disclose the number of years of service credited to an NEO under
the plan. If the number of years of credited service in any plan is different from the
NEO's number of actual years of service with the company, include a footnote that
states the amount of the difference and any resulting benefit augmentation, such as the
number of additional years the NEO received.
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(4) In column (c), disclose

(@) the annual lifetime benefit payable at the end of the most recently
completed financial year in column (cl) based on years of credited service reported in
column (b) and actual pensionable earnings as at the end of the most recently
completed financial year, and N

(b)  the annual lifetime benefit payable at age 65 in column (c2) b on
years of credited service as of age 65 and actual pensionable earnings throu end
of the most recently completed financial year, as per column (cl).

(5) In column (d), disclose the present value of the defined benefg (Pgatlon at the
start of the most recently completed financial year.

(6) In column (e), disclose the compensatory change |g§;@ present value of the
defined benefit obligation for the most recently completedAnancial year. This includes
service cost net of employee contributions plus plan ch& and differences between
actual and estimated earnings, and any additional ch that have retroactive impact,
including, for greater certainty, a change in valuati @umptions as a consequence of
an amendment to benefit terms. '\

Disclose the valuation method an 'I\significant assumptions the company
applied in quantifying the closing present‘cﬁa ue of the defined benefit obligation. The
company may satisfy all or part of tN «disclosure by referring to the disclosure of
assumptions in its financial stat rﬂéys, footnotes to the financial statements or
discussion in its management's @sion and analysis.

(7) In column (f), disclos non-compensatory changes in the present value of the
defined benefit obligatio %the company's most recently completed financial year.
Include all items that compensatory, such as changes in assumptions other than
those already inclu column (e) because they were made as a consequence of an
amendment to b erms, employee contributions and interest on the present value
of the defined fit obligation at the start of the most recently completed financial

e
year. C)

(8) I glumn (9), disclose the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the
end (Q most recently completed financial year.

5@ Defined contribution plans table

(1) Complete this table for all pension plans that provide for payments or benefits at,
following or in connection with retirement, excluding defined benefit plans. For all
disclosure in this table, use the same assumptions and methods used for financial
statement reporting purposes under the accounting principles used to prepare the
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company’s financial statements, as permitted by Regulation 52-107

Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards.

respecting

Name Accumulated value at | Compensatory Non- Accumulated value
(@) start of year €)) compensatory at year end
(%) (c) (%) (%)
(b) (d) (e)
|
CEO Y
CFO s
A 0>
B ~ 7
C A\’
J

(2) In column (c), disclose the employer contribution an Qﬁ)ve-market or
preferential earnings credited on employer and employee contri s. Above-market
or preferential earnings applies to non-registered plans and a rate greater than
the rate ordinarily paid by the company or its subsidi n securities or other
obligations having the same or similar features issued to& d)parties.

3) In column (d), disclose the non-compe amount, including employee
contributions and regular investment earnings on #\Rployer and employee contributions.
Regular investment earnings means all invedwpent earnings in registered defined
contribution plans and earnings that are @&above market or preferential in other
defined contribution plans. ('1/

(4) In column (e), disclose the a@alated value at the end of the most recently

completed financial year. Q/
5\5%

For pension plan t provide the maximum of: (i) the value of a defined benefit
pension; and (ii) the @ mulated value of a defined contribution pension, companies
should disclose t al value of the pension plan in the defined benefit plans table
under section 5,1

Commentary

lon plans that provide the sum of a defined benefit component and a
ibution component, companies should disclose the respective components
ion plan. The defined benefit component should be disclosed in the defined
be plans table under section 5.1 and the defined contribution component should be
désed in the defined contribution plans table under section 5.2.

5.3 Narrative discussion
Describe and explain for each retirement plan in which an NEO participates, any

significant factors necessary to understand the information disclosed in the defined
benefit plan table in section 5.1 and the defined contribution plan table in section 5.2.
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Commentary

Significant factors described in the narrative required by section 5.3 will vary, but
may include:

- the significant terms and conditions of payments and benefits available
under the plan, including the plan’s normal and early retirement payment, benefit
formula, contribution formula, calculation of interest credited under the deffdhed
contribution plan and eligibility standards; Q

- provisions for early retirement, if applicable, including the %me of the
NEO and the plan, the early retirement payment and benefit formul eligibility

standards. Early retirement means retirement before the normal ltement age as
defined in the plan or otherwise available under the plan;

- the specific elements of compensation (e.g., , bonus) included in
applying the payment and benefit formula. If a compa ovides this information,
identify each element separately; and O

- company policies on topics such @anting extra years of credited
service, including an explanation of who these a;@n ements relate to and why they are
considered appropriate. N

5.4 Deferred compensation plans (1/

4
Describe the significant terms Q)any deferred compensation plan relating to each
NEO, including:

(@) the types of co@nsaﬁon that can be deferred and any limitations on the
extent to which deferral is&pe itted (by percentage of compensation or otherwise);

(b)  signifi @erms of payouts, withdrawals and other distributions; and

(c) agjres for calculating interest or other earnings, how and when these
measures e changed, and whether an NEO or the company chose these
measure ntify these measures wherever possible.

ITEMQO TERMINATION AND CHANGE OF CONTROL BENEFITS
@ Termination and change of control benefits

(2) For each contract, agreement, plan or arrangement that provides for payments to
an NEO at, following or in connection with any termination (whether voluntary,
involuntary or constructive), resignation, retirement, a change in control of the company
or a change in an NEQO'’s responsibilities, describe, explain, and where appropriate,
guantify the following items:
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(@) the circumstances that trigger payments or the provision of other benefits,
including perquisites and pension plan benefits;

(b) the estimated incremental payments, payables, and benefits that are
triggered by, or result from, each circumstance, including timing, duration and who
provides the payments and benefits;

(c) how the payment and benefit levels are determined under the @bus
circumstances that trigger payments or provision of benefits;

(d) any significant conditions or obligations that apply to rece@ E)ayments
or benefits. This includes but is not limited to, non-compete, noer,llcitation, non-
disparagement or confidentiality agreements. Include the term of t greements and
provisions for waiver or breach; and

(e) any other significant factors for each written é&raot agreement, plan or
arrangement. O

(2) Disclose the estimated incremental paymen @yables and benefits even if it is
uncertain what amounts might be paid in given CI c¥mstances under the various plans
and arrangements, assuming that the triggerlrp{\vent took place on the last business
day of the company’s most recently compl ancial year. For valuing share-based
awards or option-based awards, use thqyclosing market price of the company’s
securities on that date. Q‘)Q )

If the company is unsure @t the provision or amount of payments or benefits,
make a reasonable estimate reasonable estimate of the range of amounts) and
disclose the significant assu ns underlying these estimates.

3) Despite subsec@), the company is not required to disclose the following:

€) Per% s and other personal benefits if the aggregate of this
compensation ss than $50,000. State the individual perquisites and personal
benefits as r&d by paragraph 3.1(10)(a).

Information about possible termination scenarios for an NEO whose
empl nt terminated in the past year. The company must only disclose the
uences of the actual termination.

(c) Information in respect of a scenario described in subsection (1) if there will

be no incremental payments, payables, and benefits that are triggered by, or result
from, that scenario.
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Commentary

1. Subsection (1) does not require the company to disclose notice of termination
without cause, or compensation in lieu thereof, which are implied as a term of an
employment contract under common law or civil law.

2. Item 6 applies to changes of control regardless of whether the change of control
results in termination of employment. N

3. Generally, there will be no incremental payments, payables, and benefi t are
triggered by, or result from, a scenario described in subsection (1) for pensation
that has been reported in the summary compensation table for the"ﬁ? t recently
completed financial year or for a financial year before the most r completed
financial year.

If the vesting or payout of the previously reported co satlon is accelerated,
or a performance goal or similar condition in respect he previously reported
compensation is waived, as a result of a scenario dﬁed in subsection (1), the
incremental payments, payables, and benefits include the value of the
accelerated benefit or of the waiver of the performg&éoal or similar condition.

ITEM 7 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION y\'\

7.1  Director compensation table q/

the company’s most recently co d financial year.

)

4
Q) Complete this table for all aE&bQS of compensation provided to the directors for

Name J Option- Non-equity Pension All other Total
€) based incentive plan value compensation €))
awards compensation (%) €)) (h)
(%) (%) () (@)
(d) (e)
A
B
C
D 2 \J
ELX

(?} All forms of compensation must be included in this table.
3) Complete each column in the manner required for the corresponding column in

the summary compensation table in section 3.1, in accordance with the requirements of
Item 3, as supplemented by the commentary to Item 3, except as follows:
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€) In column (a), do not include a director who is also an NEO if his or her
compensation for service as a director is fully reflected in the summary compensation
table and elsewhere in this form. If an NEO is also a director who receives
compensation for his or her services as a director, reflect the director compensation in
the summary compensation table required by section 3.1 and provide a footnote to this
table indicating that the relevant disclosure has been provided under section 3.4.

(b) In column (b), include all fees awarded, earned, paid, or payable in eh
for services as a director, including annual retainer fees, committee, chair, and QS ing
fees.

(c) In column (g), include all compensation paid, payable, aw&&i? granted,
given, or otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the company subsidiary of
the company, to a director in any capacity, under any other arran t. This includes,
for greater certainty, all plan and non-plan compensation, & and indirect pay,
remuneration, economic or financial award, reward, benefj, or perquisite paid,
payable awarded, granted, given, or otherwise provided he director for services
provided, directly or indirectly, to the company or a sﬁsary of the company. In a
footnote to the table, disclose these amounts and d e the nature of the services
provided by the director that are associated with th& mounts.

(d) In column (g), include program 'Where the company agrees to make
donations to one or more charitable institu in a director's name, payable currently
or upon a designated event such as the @fement or death of the director. Include a
footnote to the table disclosing the tota@ﬂar amount payable under the program.

7.2 Narrative discussion Q/

Describe and explai)nny factors necessary to understand the director
compensation disclosed@ tion 7.1.

Commentary Q‘O

Significgnt Mctors described in the narrative required by section 7.2 will vary, but
may include'c)

QS disclosure for each director who served in that capacity for any part of the
mostQ tly completed financial year;

\s - standard compensation arrangements, such as fees for retainer,
committee service, service as chair of the board or a committee, and meeting
attendance;

- any compensation arrangements for a director that are different from the

standard arrangements, including the name of the director and a description of the
terms of the arrangement; and
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- any matters discussed in the compensation discussion and analysis that
do not apply to directors in the same way that they apply to NEOs such as practices for
granting option-based awards.

7.3  Share-based awards, option-based awards and non-equity incentive plan
compensation N

Provide the same disclosure for directors that is required under Item 4 for@@s.

ITEM 8 COMPANIES REPORTING IN THE UNITED STATES

o

8.1 Companies reporting in the United States

(1) SEC issuers may satisfy the requirements of this -‘? providing the
information required by Item 402 "Executive compensation™ o uIation S-K under the
1934 Act. C)

(2)  Subsection (1) does not apply to a companyth® as a foreign private issuer,
satisfies Item 402 of Regulation S-K by providing ormation required by Items 6.B
"Compensation" and 6.E.2 "Share Ownership" o;\o 20-F under the 1934 Act.

ITEM 9 EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRA}@'}ION

9.1 Effective date Q«

(1)  This form comes into forcg@)ecember 31, 2008.

(2)  This form applies to asanpany in respect of a financial year ending on or after

December 31, 2008. ;
9.2 Transition QO

(2) Form 5 F6, which came into force on March 30, 2004, as amended,

(a)%gl)es not apply to a company in respect of a financial year ending on or
after D@ ber 31, 2008, and

b) for greater certainty, applies to a company that is required to prepare and
fiexecutive compensation disclosure because

0] the company is sending an information circular to a securityholder
under paragraph 9.1(2)(a) of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations (c. V-1.1, r. 24), the information circular includes the disclosure required by
Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, and the information circular is in respect of a financial year
ending before December 31, 2008, or
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(i) the company is filing an AlF that includes the disclosure required by
Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, in accordance with Item 18 of Form 51-102F2, and the AIF is
in respect of a financial year ending before December 31, 2008.

(2) A company that is required to prepare and file executive compensation
disclosure for a reason set out in paragraph (1)(b) may satisfy that requirement by
preparing and filing the disclosure required by this form. N

M.O. 2008-18, s. 12; Erratum, 2009, G.O. 2, 55; M.O. 2010-17, s. 32. (19

)

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS 23
M.O. 2010-17, 2010 G.O. 2, 3918 Q)Q/E

35. This Regulation only applies to documents requi@ be prepared, filed,

delivered or sent under Regulation 51-102 respects Continuous Disclosure
Obligations for periods relating to financial years beginni® or after January 1, 2011.

However, an issuer may apply the amendr&@ set out in this Regulation to all
documents required to be prepared, filed, delivere® or sent under Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations K eriods relating to a financial year that
begins before January 1, 2011 if the im jately preceding financial year ends no
earlier than December 21, 2010 and if issuer is relying on the exemption in
section 5.3 of Regulation 52-107 re@oting Acceptable Accounting Principles and

Auditing Standards. (b
&
»

Decision 2005-PD(@, 2005-05-09
Bulletin de I'Autori#gX2005-06-03, Vol. 2 n° 22
M.O. 2005-03,2006 G.O. 2, 1507

Erratum: 20 0. 2, 3727

Amendqg?s

Dg&sion 2005-PDG-0360, 2005-11-15
tin de I'Autorité: 2005-12-16, Vol. 2 n° 50
M.O. 2005-25, 2005 G.0O. 2, 5221

Decision 2006-PDG-0218, 2006-12-12

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2007-01-05, Vol. 4 n° 1
M.O. 2006-04, 2006 G.O. 2, 4125
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Decision 2007-PDG-0208, 2007-11-30
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008-01-11, Vol. 5 n°1
M.O. 2007-08, 2007 G.O. 2, 4091

Decision 2008-PDG-0058, 2008-02-22
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008-03-14, Vol. 5 n°® 10
M.O. 2008-06, 2008 G.O. 2, 726

Decision 2008-PDG-0158, 2008-06-10
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008-07-04, Vol. 5 n°® 26
M.O. 2008-10, 2008 G.O. 2, 2569

Decision 2008-PDG-0260, 2008-11-17
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008-12-12 Vol. 5 n ° 49
M.O. 2008-17, 2008 G.O. 2, 5482

Decision 2008-PDG-0255, 2008-11-20

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008-12-19, Vol. 5n ° 50
M.O. 2008-18, 2008 G.O. 2, 5493 Erratum: 2009 G.O

Decision 2009-PDG-0118, 2009-09-04

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2009-09-25, Vol. 6 n ° 38
M.O. 2009-05, 2009 G.O. 2, 3362A Q

Decision 2010-PDG-0216, 2010-11-22 Q N
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2010-12-17, VoIQDn° 50
M.O. 2010-17, 2010 G.O. 2, 391 Q,

Decision 2011-PDG-070, 2059 -30

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 20110~ 01, Vol. 8 n° 26
A.M. 2011-02, 2011 G 1418

\\

P
i2e)
&
e

@O

203



